

# The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society

Volume 30 Number 1

January 2015

**ISSN 1998-6602** 

# The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society (JBOS)

Published by



### **BANGLADESH ORTHOPAEDIC SOCIETY**

# The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society (JBOS)

### JOURNAL COMMITTEE 2012 - 2014

Chairman		Dr. Ramdew Ram Kairy
Editor	:	Dr. Md. Golam Sarwar
Associate Editor	:	Dr. Mohammad Mahfuzur Rahman
Assistant Editor	:	Dr. Md. Wahidur Rahman Dr. Md. Jahangir Alam
Members	:	Dr. Nakul Kumar Datta Dr. Sajedur Reza Faruquee Dr. ABM Golam Faruque Dr. Kazi Shamim Uzzaman Dr. Mohammad Khurshed Alam

## **BANGLADESH ORTHOPAEDIC SOCIETY (BOS)**



# Executive Committee (2014 - 2016)

President	: Dr. M. Amjad Hossain
Vice President (Dhaka City)	: Dr. Md. Iqbal Qavi Dr. Nakul Kumar Datta
Vice President (Outside Dhaka City)	: Dr. Syed Anwaruzzaman Dr. A.S.M. Jahangir Chowdhury Titu
Secretary General	: Dr. Monaim Hossen
Treasurer	: Dr. Syed Shahidul Islam (Shahid)
Joint Secretary	: Dr. Md. Wahidur Rahman
Publication Secretary	: Dr. Md. Golam Sarwar
Organizing Secretary (Chittagong)	<ul> <li>Dr. Md. Jahangir Alam (Dhaka)</li> <li>Dr. Md. Mizanur Rahman Chowdhury</li> <li>Dr. Samil Uddin Ahmed Shimul (Rajshahi)</li> <li>Dr. Md. Mehedi Newaz (Khulna)</li> <li>Dr. Md. Moniruzzaman Shahin (Barisal)</li> <li>Dr. Ishtiaqe ul Fattah (Sylhet)</li> <li>Dr. Md. Zahidul Islam (Rangpur)</li> </ul>
Office Secretary	: Dr. Mohammad Mahfuzur Rahman
Secretary International Affairs	: Dr. Md. Abdus Sabur
Scientific Secretary	: Dr. Kazi Shamim Uzzaman
Social Welfare Secretary	: Dr. A.K.M. Zahiruddin
Members	<ul> <li>Dr. Ramdew Ram Kairy</li> <li>Dr. S.M. Amir Hossain</li> <li>Dr. Md. Mofakhkharul Bari</li> <li>Dr. Hamidul Haque Khandker</li> <li>Dr. Md. Anisur Rahman Labu</li> <li>Dr. Mohammad Khurshed Alam</li> <li>Dr. Md. Shahiduzzaman</li> <li>Dr. ABM Golam Faruque</li> <li>Dr. Md. Fazlul Haque Qasem</li> <li>Dr. Md. Shahidullah Kaiser</li> <li>Dr. Md. Anowar Hossain</li> </ul>
Immediate Past President	: Dr. Kh. Abdul Awal Rizvi

### **INFORMATION TO CONTRIBUTORS**

The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society is published twice in a year in the month of January and July. Articles are received throughout the year in the office of BOS, NITOR, Dhaka. Acknowledgement receipt may be taken from the office. Letter of acceptance will be given on demand after initial scrutiny of the paper by the Journal committee. If any paper is found to be copied, pirated or not a genuine works as claimed by the author, will be discarded automatically without information. Authors are requested to follow the instructions outlined below:-

### Preparation of manuscript:

Manuscript should be typed on white A4 size paper with liberal margins and double spacing and on one side of the paper only. Pages are to be numbered consecutively beginning with the title page & not exceeding six (6) pages.

### Title page:

The title page should contain the title of the study of investigation and abstract, mentioning basic procedures, main findings, principal conclusions and keywords.

### Text:

The text of the article should be divided into introduction, materials & methods, results, discussion and conclusion.

### **Tables & Illustrations:**

Each table or illustration is to be typed on a separate sheet & numbered in roman numbers & attached at the end of the text.

Photographs should be clear, glossy and in black & white preferably. Top of the picture should be indicated by arrow sign (T). Diagrams & graphs are to be drawn by jet black ink or printed by laser printer in white sheet.

### **References:**

References are to be numbered consecutively in the order in which they appear in the text. The form of references should be as per examples below:-

 References for journal:- References should be written according to the following sequence-authors name, topic, name of the journal with year of publication, volume number, page numbers e.g. Ratliff ABC. Truamatic Separation of the upper femoral epiphysis in Children. J.B.J.S. (Br.) 1968. 5013:57507-70.

When there are seven authors or more the first three names will be listed & then the word 'et. al' to be added.

b) References for Complete books:

Sequence for references are - authors name, name of book, number of edition, Publishers name, Year of Publication, Page e.g: Adams J.C. Outline of Orthopaedic. 9th edition Churchill Livingstone 1981.347.

c) Reference of articles of Magazines

Sequence of reference are - authors name, name of subject, name of magazine, year & date, Pages e.g: Zachary R.B. Result of nerve suture M. Seddon H.S. Ed. Perpheral Nerve injuries. MRC Special Report Series No. 282. London. 1954 3 5c4-88.

Authors may submit the article composed in Microsoft Word as in the journal format in two columns with pictures and diagrams. 3 copies of printed article to be submitted at Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society office along with soft copy composed in Microsoft Word in a CD or data can be transferred by pendrive or by e-mail. Original copies & digital photos in JPEG format to be attached in a separate folder.

Articles are accepted for Publication on the condition that they are contributed solely to this journal.

### Address of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society Office:

National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR) Sher-e-Bangla Nagar, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh. Tele-Fax: +88 - 02 - 9135734 PABX: +88 - 02 - 9144190-4, Ext-280 Mobile: +88 - 01917-665140 web: www.bosbd.org e-mail: bos\_bdortho@yahoo.com,



### FORWARDING LETTER FOR SUBMISSION TO JBOS

Date.....

Te		
10		
The Editor		
Dr		

The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society (JBOS)

### Sub: Submission of manuscript

Dear Sir,

article has not been published or submitted for publication elsewhere.

We therefore, hope that you would be kind enough to consider our manuscript for publication in your journal **as** original / Review article / Case Report.

Thanks and best regards

(1)	(2)
Professor,	Associate Professor,
Department of BSMMU/NITOR/ Medical College	Department ofBSMMU/NITOR/ Medical College.
(3)	(4)
Assistant Professor	Consultant //
Department ofBSMMU/NITOR/ Medical College.	



То		

### Subject : Acceptance of the Article for publication

### **Dear Author**

Your article Titled "	?"
has been accepted for publication by the Editorial Board of the The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopa	edic
Society (JBOS)	

Your article will be published in any of the coming issues.

Thanking you.

.....

Editor The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society (JBOS)

### THE JOURNAL OF BANGLADESH ORTHOPAEDIC SOCIETY

VOLUME 30

NUMBER 1

JANUARY 2015

### **CONTENTS**

EI	DITORIAL	
•	Bone Deformities and Limb Lengthening - Treatment Methods Md. Golam Sarwar	1
OF	RIGINALARTICLES	
•	Evaluation of the results of Femoral Shaft Fractures in Children Treated by Early Hip Spica Cast Bijoy Sankar Parial, Muhammad Shahiduzzaman, Mohammad Khurshed Alam, Rasel Al Zilane, Indrani Adhikary, Mohammad Mahbubur Rahman Khan	5
•	Ilizarov Method - A Limb Salvage Device in A Child ABMG Faruque, Shah Jawaher Jahan Kabir, MMU Mollah, AHMTH Siddiquee, S Bari, MA Sabur	11
•	Socio Demographic Characteristic of Spinal Tuberculosis Patient - A Study In National Tuberculsis Control Hospital, Dhaka, Bangladesh Jagodish Chandra Ghosh, Md. Abul Kashem, Barua S, Dulal Chandra Datta, Mollah Ershadul Haq, Indrani Adhikary, Noor Mohammad	15
•	Treatment of Idiopathic club foot using the Ponseti Method – One Year Experience in PTC, DMCH Sibasis Basak, Mohammad Khorshed Alam, Md. Golam Sarwar, Md. Golam Mostafa	18
•	Comminuted Fractures of the Proximal Ulna—Preliminary Results with an Anatomically Preshaped Locking Compression Plate (LCP) System Md. Golam Mostafa, Md. Golam Sarwar, Mohammad Khorshed Alam, Sibasis Basak	21
•	Evaluation of The Result of Surgical Treatment of Prolapsed Lumbar Intervertebral Disc by Fenestration And Discectomy Apel Chandra Saha, Muhammad Awlad Hossain, Md. Hasan Masud, Md. Monjurul Hoque Akanda Chowdhury, Md. Mokhlesur Rahman	24
•	Clinical, MRI And Arthroscopic Correlation in Meniscal And Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries Akshad Al Masur, K M Rafiqul Islam, Syed Shamsul Arefin, Ahsan Majid, Md. Alinoor, Md. Reazul Haque, Md. Iqbal Qavi	29
•	Clinical Outcome of Lumbar Disc Prolapse by Surgical Management (Fenestration & Discectomy) in Pabna Akshad Al Masur, Haque MR, Rahman KS, Rumi SH, Rahman MM, Taleb MA, MF Khatun	32
•	Surgical Outcome of Brachial Plexus Surgery: Our Experience Asif Ahmed Kabir, Md. Awlad Hussain, Md. Subir Hossain, Purnendu Biswas	36

•	Degenerative Lumbar Canal Stenosis: Results of Operative Treatment	38
	Md. Kamrul Ahsan, Sohelur Rahman, A.B.M.Morshed Goni, Md. Badshah Mia, Naznin Zaman,	
	Zabed Zahangiri	
•	Microenvironment That Underlies Healing of Bone Wounds: Why Do Bone Wounds Heal:	46
	A Short Review	
	Sultana Gulshana Banu, G. M. Jahangir Hossain	
•	Open Reduction and Internal Fixation by Locking Compression Plate – An Excellent Option	49
	for the Treatment of Fracture of the Distal Femur	
	Mohammad Mahfuzur Rahman, Kamruzzaman, Md. Jahangir Alam,	
	A.F.M. Ruhal Haque, Asit Baran Dam	
•	The Role of Early Movement in Restoring Functional Status of Dislocated Elbow Joint Treated by	53
	Closed Reduction	
	ME Haque, Maksuda Begum, Md. Nazmul Huda, Md. Golam Sarwar, Md. Siraj-Ul-Islam	
•	Evaluation of the Results of Arthroscopic Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction	61
	by Semitendinosus And Gracilis Autograft And Partial Menisectomy	
	Muhammad Ariful Islam, Monaim Hossen, A.M.Farid Uddin Ahmad, Monirul Haque,	
	A.M. Fasiul Alam, Faisal Amin Ahmed	
•	Outcome of Operative Treatment of Neglected Dislocation of the Elbow	68
-	Md Anisur Rahman, Farzana Khondoker, Md Shariful Haaye, Md Zahidul Islam Bhuivan	00
	CASE REPORT	
•	Treatment of GCT Distal Radius with en Block Excision with Reconstruction by Autogenous Non Vascularized Fibular Graft- 2 Case Report	72
	Matin MO Hossain M Mahmood ASS Biswas AK Das CK Chowdhury MR	
	Choudhuri NI, Sheuly SB	

### Editorial



# Bone Deformities and Limb Lengthening - Treatment Methods

Md. Golam Sarwar

# BONE DEFORMITIES CAN BE CAUSED BY SEVERAL FACTORS, INCLUDING:

- congenital defect (from birth)
- abnormal growth during childhood
- bone trauma or fracture due to an accident or other incident
- disease (such as bone tumors)
- metabolic disorders of bone and soft tissue

These injuries can also lead to an associated loss of the soft tissues such as skin and/or muscle.

Bone deformities can consist of a bend or twist in the bone, shift in bone position, or a difference in bone length. In many cases, an osteotomy (a cut made in the bone) is used to correct the deformity. Read below to learn more about treatment options for bone deformities, but keep in mind that our NITOR specialists cater treatment to patients specific needs. A comprehensive, individualized treatment plan is ideal when treating any musculoskeletal disorder.



Fig.-1

Assistant Professor of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhaka

Working in collaboration with local, national, and international facilities, and surgery specialists at NITOR have spearheaded numerous scientific investigations that have led to practical treatment solutions bringing immediate benefits to patients and families throughout the nation.

Bone deformities can have a serious functional effect on the patient and should be treated based on the individual's needs and goals.

Limb lengthening is a gradual process commonly used to treat differences in bone length through new bone and soft tissue growth. Regeneration of bone and soft tissue occur as they are gently pulled apart at an approximate rate of one millimetre per day. The total amount of time required for the limb lengthening process is dependent on the length of growth needed in each individual case.

### LIMB LENGTHENING CONSISTS OF TWO PHASES:

- The distraction phase: during which the limb is lengthened to its desired measurement
- The consolidation phase: as the newly formed bone hardens and calcifies to its full strength

To protect the bone during these phases, the process of lengthening is performed using either internal or external fixation devices attached to the bony fragments. The treatment options depend on the individual deformity. To learn more about these treatment methods, read on further, below. Patients can determine their own progress on lengthening lower extremities by observing the cartoon that follows.

### **MEASURING LENGTHS**

Tibial lengthens: when your feet are flat on the floor and together while seated and someone observes your knees

Editorial



from the front, discrepancies in tibial length are easily measured by marking the lower-most point of each knee cap, holding a straight-edge(level to the ground) against the two points and measuring the difference in heights (inches or millimeters). Just be sure the thighs, knees, legs and feet are together and parallel. To measure for femoral length: sit in a chair with your back and buttocks flush up against the back of the chair. Then, with your knees bent at 90 degrees and your legs and feet together and pointed straight out from your body, measure the difference in how far out your knee caps project from your body.

# FIXATION STRATEGIES AND THE METHODS OF ILIZAROV

Although the orthopaedic surgeons at NITOR have experience using many different methods for limb lengthening and the repair of significant bone deformities, the external fixator designed by the Russian surgeon, Professor Gavri illizarov, is the one most commonly used at our national practice.

The Ilizarov Method of External Fixation is gentle to the surrounding tissues and therefore, is associated with a low risk for infection. Stability is provided by a frame (seen



AN ILIZAROV, CIRCULAR FIXATOR USED SMALL WIRES AND PINS FIX THE BONE TO STABILIZE AND LENGTHEN THE TIBIA TO THE FRAME UNTIL HEALING OCCURS

above), situated outside the body. It is attached by pins to bone above and below the injury. The pins transfer mechanical stresses to the frame, allowing the site to heal and the patient to function during treatment. To avoid infection, the reconstruction takes place between the sets of pins and avoids the use of internal hardware.

Like any other treatment modality, the methods of Ilizarov have a near perfect success record if performed in conjunction with balanced institutional resources, a favorable clinical environment, and on a patient with an injury that lends well to this kind of treatment. Md. Golam Sarwar

### THE TREATMENT METHODS EXPLAINED

Below, Dr.MM Bari and Dr. MAG Molla explains fixation strategies and the Ilizarov method.

The instrument most commonly used to repair significant bone deformities is an external fixator designed by the Russian surgeon, Gavri illizarov. To stabilize the extremity during repair, the device attaches to the normal skeleton, on either side of the injury, with sets of small, criss crossed wires. To repair segmental bone defects, various methods are utilized:

- shortening the frame and limb to allow end-to-end healing.
- bone transport: an internal, segmental lengthening (figure one).
- compression/distraction: a combination of methods wherein the bone is simultaneously shortened and the limb lengthened, with or without an interval of bone transport.



### THE PROTOCOL

The wound is debrided (cleaned), and the limb stabilized with a transport frame. A length of bone, above or below the defect, is then prepared and fixed to the frame with wires; an osteotomy (cut through the bone) is gently performed to separate the chosen piece from the remaining bone - this piece will be the transport segment. Injury from the osteotomy will also initiate a local, reparative process in the remaining bone (the regenerate). When the frame slowly moves the transport segment toward the defect, the regenerate is placed under tension (distraction) and elongates to completely fill the distraction gap. When distraction stops at the end of transport or lengthening, the regenerate will consolidate into bone. The new, generated segment is exactly the length and size of the original, bony defect. Traversing the defect, the transport segment must correctly interface with and heal to the docking site (other side) with a solid, bony union.

Defects in bone can be due to trauma (i.e., motor vehicle accident), a birth deformity (congenital defect), a surgical excision for disease (i.e., infection) or a disease process, itself (i.e., tumors). These injuries can also lead to an associated loss of the soft tissues such as skin and/or muscle. If such a composite loss exposes the transport segment or docking site, wires can be inserted in such a way as to capture soft tissue for transport with the bone segment. An "open" transport uses distraction methods to simultaneously close a hard and soft tissue defect. Conversely, if the overlying tissues are intact, the bone and wires will simply pass through them.

Figure two, below, posts results of the first study to compare Ilizarov with conventional methods when managing infected non-unions of the tibia with significant bony defects. In the first treatment, the tissues were aligned, restored and allowed to heal; in the second treatment, a definitive reconstruction was performed and followed by two or more years (final outcome).



Clemy, G., Zom, KE ; CORR: 391: pp118-123, 1994

The transport segment and its wires exert a slow, constant pressure on anything in their path. Soft tissues respond to this pressure in a natural way, dieing back just enough to allow the objects to pass on through. The process is gentle and constant, very similar to the way our gums will melt away to allow an adult tooth to push up into place. The bone simply pushes through and the wires and pins leave thin, linear scars to mark their passage. Ortho-Make (January 2015 Vol 30 No. 1)  $\boldsymbol{13}$ 

### **Original** Article



# Evaluation of the results of Femoral Shaft Fractures in Children Treated by Early Hip Spica Cast

Bijoy Sankar Parial<sup>1</sup>, Muhammad Shahiduzzaman<sup>2</sup>, Mohammad Khurshed Alam<sup>3</sup>, Rasel Al Zilane<sup>4</sup>, Indrani Adhikary<sup>5</sup>, Mohammad Mahbubur Rahman Khan<sup>6</sup>

### Abstract

Femoral shaft fractures in children are usually treated by initial traction for 3 to 4 weeks followed by an additional period of immobilization in hip spica cast till union occurs. Such treatment however would involve prolonged hospital stay thereby increasing cost and occupancy of hospital beds. Early hip spica cast application of femoral shaft fractures in children is a useful alternative to the traditional method of treatment. It allows for a short hospital stay thereby avoiding all the problems associated with prolonged hospitalization.

This prospective observational study was conducted on 20 patients with femur shaft fractures over a period of two years. All the children of both sexes from 2 to 12 years of age with fractures shaft of femur presented within seven days of injury. Spica cast was applied after preliminary skin traction. Follow up was done in OPD up to 6 months. The functional result was assessed according to Flynn's scoring criteria.

The mean age of patient was 5.65 years; range 2 to 12 years. Male-female ratio was 3:1. Mean duration of hospital stay was 4.1 days. Radiological union in all cases were achieved in a mean time of 7.65 weeks. Full weight bearing was possible in a mean time of 10.07 weeks. The result was excellent in sixteen patients (80%), successful in two (10%) and poor in two patients (10%).

Early spica cast is simple, effective and definite method of treatment with minimal complications and acceptable results in pediatric age group.

### INTRODUCTION

Injury has drawn attention of policy-makers and development activists of Bangladesh since the Bangladesh Health and Injury Survey which revealed an annual estimate of 70,000 injury-related deaths in Bangladesh, the children being the worst victims (43% of the total injury related deaths).<sup>1</sup> The socioeconomic impact of injury-related disability is magnified in low-income countries, where there are often poorly developed trauma care and rehabilitation systems and little or no social welfare infrastructure. Cost effective treatment providing this population is a big challenge.<sup>2</sup>

In pediatric fracture, femoral fractures have negative impact not only on the patient but also their family network.<sup>3</sup> They accounts for 1.6% of all fractures in pediatric population.<sup>4</sup> Seventy percent of femoral fractures involve the shaft.

Femur fractures are the most common orthopedic injuries that require hospitalization of children. Fractures of the femoral shaft in children are usually treated by initial traction for 3 to 4 weeks followed by an additional period of immobilization in hip spica cast till union occurs. Such treatment however would involve prolonged hospital stay thereby increasing cost and occupancy of hospital beds.

Correspondence: Dr. Bijoy Sankar Parial, Medical officer, NITOR, Dhaka.

<sup>1.</sup> Medical officer, NITOR, Dhaka.

<sup>2.</sup> Ex. Professor and Head, Department of Orthopaedics & Traumatology, DMCH, Dhaka.

<sup>3.</sup> Assistant professor, Department of Orthopaedics & Traumatology, DMCH, Dhaka.

<sup>4.</sup> Register, Department of Orthopaedics & Traumatology, SSNIMC, Kishoregonj.

<sup>5.</sup> Medical Officer, Mugda MCH, Dhaka.

<sup>6.</sup> Assistant Register, NITOR, Dhaka.

Bijoy Sankar Parial, Muhammad Shahiduzzaman, Mohammad Khurshed Alam, Rasel Al Zilane, Indrani Adhikary et al

Because of the characteristics of fracture in children, the use of early hip spica immobilization for the treatment of femoral shaft fracture is an alternative to the conventional method of treatment. It has the advantages of avoiding prolonged hospital stay, reducing costs and prevention of separation anxiety in children.

### MATERIALS & METHODS

This observational study was carried out at the Dhaka medical college hospital, Dhaka over a period of two years between January 2013 to December 2014. Children of 2-12 years with closed or Gustilo type 1 open diaphyseal femur fractures were subject of this study. Hip spica was applied on day 1 to day 7 depending on shortening of affected limb, swelling of the thigh, stability of fracture and availability of patient. The cast placed with the child's hips flexed approximately 45 degrees and 20 degrees of abduction; the knees should be flexed to 45 degrees. Some external rotation needed to correct the rotational deformity of the distal fragment. The patients were allowed to go home after cast application. The parent/guardian was given written and verbal instructions about proper cast care. Patients were followed in outdoor department weekly for first 3 weeks. Fourth, fifth and sixth visits were arranged after 6 weeks, 3 months and 6 months respectively. The

functional result was assessed according to Flynn's scoring criteria (Table I). The excellent and successful results were considered as satisfactory. The poor results were considered as unsatisfactory.<sup>5</sup>

### RESULTS

Out of total 20 cases, 15 (75%) were male and 5 (25%) were female. The age of the patients ranged from 2 to 12 years with mean age 5.65 years (Table II). Right side involvement was 65% and left side involvement was 35%. There was no case with bilateral femur involvement. Majority 18 (90 %) of the injuries was closed type and the rest 2 (10 %) was open type. In terms of type of fracture, 12 (60%) was transverse fracture, 6 (30%) Oblique fracture and 2 (10%) minimally comminuted. Mechanism of injury was motor vehicle accident 10 (50%), pedestrian-motor vehicle collision 7 (35%) and fall from a height 3 (15%). Interval between injury and casting of 16 (80%) patients within 3 days, 2 (10%) between 4-5 days and 2 (10%) between 6-7 days. Mean interval between injury and casting was 2.85 days (Table III). 16 (80%) of the patients stayed in the hospital for 0-5 days and the rest 4 (20%) patients 6-10 days. The mean duration of hospital stay was 4.1 days (Table IV).

Flynn's scoring criteria					
	Excellent	Successful	Poor		
Limb length discrepancy	<1.0 cm	<2.0 cm	Poor>2.0 cm		
Malalignment	5°	10°	>10°		
Pain	Absent	Absent	Present		
Complication	Absent	Mild	Major complication and/or extended period for resolvable morbidity		

Table IFlynn's scoring

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software. Statistical significance was defined as p-value <0.05 with 95% confidence interval

Table II           Age of Patients				Table III           Time interval between injury and casting			
Age in	Frequency	Percentage	Mean (years)	Time	Frequency	Percentage	Mean (Days)
years			$\pm$ SD	interval			$\pm$ SD
2 - 5	11	55		1.2 dours	16	20	
6-10	7	35	$5.65 \pm 2.889$	1-5 days	10	80	
11-12	2	10		4-5 days	2	10	$2.85 \pm 1.69$
Total	20	100.0		6-7 days	2	10	

Evaluation of the results of Femoral Shaft Fractures in Children Treated by Early Hip Spica Cast

Duration of hospital stay				
Duration	Frequency	Percentage	Mean (Days)	
			$\pm$ SD	
1-5 days	16	80	4.1±2.269	
6-10 days	4	20		

All (100%) of fractures were united. Radiological evaluation of fracture site union showed that 15 (75%) cases united within 6-9 weeks and 5 (25%) cases united within 10-12 weeks. The mean union time was 7.65 weeks (Table V). Average union time of fracture was 7.45 weeks for 1-5 years age group children, 8.14 weeks for 6-10 years age group children and 12.00 weeks for 11-12 years age group children. Fracture of younger children femur united early (Table VI). After assessing the radiological status of union, full weight bearing was possible in 15 (75%) of cases within 8-12 weeks and rest 5 (25%) of cases within 13- 16weeks. The mean duration of full weight bearing was 10.07 weeks (Table VI).

Tabl	еV
Union	time

Union	Frequency	Percentage	Mean (Weeks)
time (weeks)			$\pm$ SD
6-9	15	75	$7.65 \pm 1.663$
10-12	5	25	

Table VI		
Relation between Age and Union		

Age (years)	No. of	Percentage	Average union
	children		time (weeks)± SD
1-5	11	55	$7.45 \pm 11.036$
6-10	7	35	$8.14 \pm 1.773$
11-12	2	10	$12.00 \pm 0.000$
Total	20	100	$7.65 \pm 1.663$

### Table VIIFull weight bearing

Weight bearing	Frequency	Percentage	Mean (Weeks)
time (wks)			$\pm$ SD
8-12 weeks	15	75	$10.07 \pm 2.47$
13-16 weeks	5	25	

In terms of minor/major complications like skin irritation due to cast was 3 (15%) of the patients and at end of followed up period 16 (80%) of the patients had leg length inequality by <1 cm, 3 (15%) by <2 cm, 1(5%) by >2 cm

(Table VIII). Deformity in Sagital plane like antero-posterior angulation and in the coronal plane like varus / valgus deformity occurred  $< 5^{\circ}$  in 15 (75%) patients, 5°-10° in 03 (15%) patients > 10° in 02 (10%) patients respectively.

 Table VIII

 Incidence of limb length discrepancy

Limb length inequality	Frequency	Percentage
<1cm	16	80
<2cm	3	15
>2cm	1	5

12 (60%) of the patients exhibited wide range of knee motion (130-140°), 6 (30%) patients slightly restricted knee motion (110 - 129°), and 2 (10%) moderately restricted knee motion (90 - 109°) (Table IX). 16 (80%) of the patients returned to routine preinjury activities, 3 (15%) patients to preinjury activities with mild limitations and 1 (5%) to routine activities with moderate limitations.

## Table IXRange of knee motion

Range of knee motion (degree)	Frequency	Percentage
130-140	12	60
110-129	6	30
90-109	2	10

16 (80) % of the patients had excellent outcome, 2(10%) patients had successful outcome and 2 (10%) poor outcome according to Flynn's scoring criteria. Final assessment revealed that 90% of children had satisfactory result and 10% had unsatisfactory.



Fig.-1: Patient after application of hip-spica.





Fig.-2: X-ray after 2 weeks.



Fig.-3: X-ray after 6 months of injury



Fig.-4: After 6 months- Patient in standing.



Fig.-5: After 6 months- Patient in sitting.

Evaluation of the results of Femoral Shaft Fractures in Children Treated by Early Hip Spica Cast

### DISCUSSION

The goal of treatment in fracture of femoral shaft in children is to achieve union without discrepancy in limb length and deformity. To achieve this many treatment options are available. Determining the ideal treatment for each child depends on the age of the child, the location and type of fracture, the family environment, the knowledge and ability of the surgeon and to a lesser degree, financial considerations.<sup>6</sup>

Conservative treatment of femur shaft fractures in children is skin traction followed by a hip spica and also early reduction and hip spica cast gaining popularity as a successful treatment modality.<sup>7</sup>

Regarding demographic data, in present study mean age of the children was 5.65 years with a male to female ratio of 3:1. Similar findings have been reported in International literature.<sup>8-9</sup>

Right side involvement was 65% and left side involvement was 35%. There was no case with bilateral femur involvement in this study. Shah et al, <sup>9</sup> reported right femur fractured in 17 (68%) and the left one in the remaining 8 (32%).

Femoral shaft fractures in children often result from automobile accidents, falls from high places, and other high-energy trauma. In this study, mechanism of injury was found 10 (50%) of the patients sustained injury from motor vehicle accident, 7 (35%) from pedestrian- motor vehicle collision and 3 (15%) due to fall from a height. Shah et al,<sup>9</sup> reported in their study motor vehicle vs. pedestrian 35%, motor vehicle accident 35% and 30% fall.

Regarding configuration of fracture in this study, 12 (60%) were transverse fracture, 6 (30%) were short oblique and 2(10%) were minimally comminuted fracture. In the study of Muzzafar and colleagues,<sup>8</sup> transverse fracture 62.50%, short oblique 12.50%, minimally comminuted 20%.

In this study, interval between injury and casting of 16 (80%) patients within 3 days, 2 (10%) between 4-5 days and 2 (10%) between 6-7 days. Mean interval between injury and casting was 2.85 days. Shivana and Swami,<sup>10</sup> reported average interval between injury and casting was 3.3 days.

In the study of Alzubady<sup>11</sup> reported spica cast is simple, safe, effective and definitive method of treatment. It is cheap and associated with short hospital stay. In this study hospital stay of 16 (80%) patients was 1-5 days and 4 (20%) patients stayed 6-10 days. The mean duration of hospital stay was 4.1 days. In the series of Shah et al.<sup>9</sup> the

hospital stay ranged from 3-15 days and in the series of Muzzafar and colleagues<sup>8</sup> the median hospital stay was 5 (ranged 2-9) days. Early spica application had the advantage of shorter hospital stay and overall lower cost of treatment.

Union has really never been a problem in pediatric femoral fractures. The main challenge is malunion, especially angular deformity, rotational malunion and leg length discrepancy.<sup>12</sup> In this study all fractures were united and there was no delayed or non-union. The mean union time was 7.65 weeks. Near about similar to the study of Tripathi, Ali and Bachhar,<sup>13</sup> where the mean duration of healing of fracture was 8.55 weeks. Esenyel et al.<sup>14</sup> treated 207 patients with hip spica casting and there was no nonunion or delayed union.

In this study there was full range of knee and hip movement of 12 (60%) patients and 6 (30%) with mild restriction, 2(10%) with moderate restriction, similar to the study of Bashir and Nand<sup>15</sup>.

The primary problems with early femoral casting were shortening and angulations of the fracture.<sup>14</sup> In this series, we had malalignment like angulations less than 5 degree towards varus/valgus or antero/posterior angulations of 15 (75%) of cases and 3 (15%) cases exist between 5 to 10 degree and only 2 (10%) cases more than 10 degree which was similar to the study of Bashir and Nand<sup>15</sup>.

Full weight bearing was possible in 15 (75%) of cases within 8- 12 weeks and rest 5 (25%) of cases within 13-16weeks. The mean duration of full weight bearing was 10.07 weeks. Ruhullah and colleagues,<sup>16</sup> reported mean duration of weight bearing 10 weeks.

Lee et al.<sup>17</sup> treated 63 children by early spica method. Shortening of >2 cm was the commonest complication of early (within 7 days of injury) spica casting in 43% (22/51) of the patients. 17 Patients with unacceptable shortening after spica casting required cast removal and traction for 2 weeks before recasting. In this series 16 (80%) of the patients had leg length inequality by <1 cm and 3 (15%) of the patients had leg length inequality by <2 cm and 1(5%) of the patients had leg length inequality by >2 cm. In the study of Alzubady and Almuhana<sup>11</sup> 30% of patients had leg length inequality, Muzzafar and colleagues<sup>8</sup> reported 20% of patients developed leg length inequality.

In the final outcome of the study according Flynn's scoring criteria, demonstrated that (80%) of the patients had excellent outcome, 2 (10%) patients had successful outcome and 2(10%) had poor outcome. Similar findings reported in Dulgeroglu et al.<sup>18</sup> where excellent in 35 cases (72%), good in 9 cases (19%), moderate in 4 cases (9%).

Bijoy Sankar Parial, Muhammad Shahiduzzaman, Mohammad Khurshed Alam, Rasel Al Zilane, Indrani Adhikary et al

Sidiqui et al.<sup>19</sup> compared the results of femur shaft fractures in children with skin traction followed by spica cast versus early spica cast. The results of their treatment were satisfactory in 81% and unsatisfactory in 19% cases. Three (14.3%) patients developed more than 2 cm shortening and two (9.5%) patients unacceptable angulation, the latter was corrected by wedging the cast. All the patients had a shortening between 8-18 mm (average 10.5 mm). Although they found satisfactory results treated with early spica cast and good results in children treated with skin traction followed by spica cast and there were fewer complications in this group, but the hospital stay was prolonged making the treatment costly.

Singh and Associates<sup>20</sup> suggested that early closed reduction and placement of hip spica cast is a safe and reliable treatment option.

As per review literature many authors did not find much difference in the outcome between early spica cast and skin traction followed by spica cast in conservative treatment of femur shaft fracture in children.<sup>21</sup>

Al-Mohrij and colleagues<sup>22</sup> in their study conducted at Saudi Arabia concluded that hip spica casting without traction for femoral fracture in children aged 0-4 year's produces excellent results and continues to be the treatment of choice.

The major advantage of early spica is a short hospital stay allowing cost containment and rapid return to the child's everyday environment. However, frequent follow-up with repeated radiographs is required in the first 3 weeks to detect shortening and displacement of the fracture in the spica cast.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Early hip spica cast may be the preferred method for the treatment femoral shaft fractures in children aged 2 to 12 years.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Azad AK, 2014. Health bulletin (Bangladesh), p 123.
- Gosselin RA, Spiegel DA, Coughlin R and Zirkle LG, 2009. Injuries: the neglected burden in developing countries. *Bulletin* of the World Health Organization, 87, pp. 246-246.
- Cusick L, Thompson NW, Taylor, TC and Cowie GH, 2005. Pediatric Femoral Fractures – The Royal Belfast Hospital for Sick Children Experience. *Ulster Med J*, pp. 105-107.
- Filho GC, Chueire AG, Ignacio H, Amaral ARD, Catelan GM and Junior MATC, 2005. External Fixation in Femur Fracture in Children. ACTA ORTOP BRAS, 13(1), pp. 456-460.
- Flynn, J.M. et al., 2004. Comparison of titanium elastic nails with traction and a spica cast to treat femoral fractures in children. J Bone Joint Surg Am, 86, pp. 770-7.

- Macnicol, MF, 1997. Fracture of the femur in children. British Editorial Society of Bone and Joint Surgery, 79 (B), pp. 891-2.
- Putt, AMRCP, Sen R and Kataria S, 2006. Deformities in conservatively treated closed fracture of the shaft of the femur in children. *Acta orthopedic belgica*, vol 72, pp. 147 – 153.
- Muzzafar K, Bhat T, Sharma, S and Bhat A, 2012. Paediatric Shaft Femur Fractures Treated By Early Spica Cast. The Internet Journal of Orthopedic Surgery, 19 (2), pp. 123-125.
- Shah FA, Durrani ZA, Khan Z, Ismatullah, Kifayatullah, Khan H and Ali W, 2013. Outcome of femoral shaft fractures in children treated with immediate hip spica cast in emergency. *Pak J Surg*, 29(1), pp. 52-56.
- Shivanna and Swami S, 2014. Flexible nail fixation versus casting method in treating shaft of femur and tibia fracures in children of 6- 14 years age. International journal of medical and applied sciences, 3(3), pp. 296-302
- Alzubady IAA and Almuhana HH, 2010. Femoral Shaft Fracture in Children Traction and Spica Casting Versus Immediate Spica Casting. *Medical Journal of Babylon*, 7(1), pp. 12-17.
- Akinyoola AL, Orekha OO, Taiwo FO and Odunsi AO, 2011. Outcome of non-operative management of femoral shaft fractures in children. *J Pediatr Orthop*, 8(1), pp. 34-9.
- 13. Tripathi RB, Ali R and Bachhar B, 2009. Functional outcome of treatment of pediatric femoral shaft fractures by primary hip spica cast at Narayani sub-regional hospital, Birgunj. *Journal of Gandaki Medical College-Nepal*, 2 (4), pp. 13-17.
- Esenyel CZ, Ozturk K, Adanir O, Aksoy B, Esenyel M and Kara AN, 2007. Skin traction in hip spica casting for femoral fractures in children, Journal of Orthopaedic Science, 12(4), pp. 327-33.
- Bashir AH and Nand LK, 2008. Femoral shaft fracture in children treated by early spica cast. *Jo. Of Surg. Pakistan*, 13 (3), pp. 680-685.
- 16. Ruhullah M, Singh HR, Shah S and Shrestha D, 2014. Hip spica versus Rush pins for management of femoral diaphyseal fractures in children, *Indian Journal of Orthopaedics*, 48 (5), pp. 488-494.17. Lee YHD, Lim KBL, Gao GX, Mahadev A, Lam KS, Tan SB and Lee EH, 2007. Traction and spica casting for closed femoral shaft fractures in children. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery*, 15(1), pp. 37-40.18. Dulgeroglu A, Olcer O, Ustaoglu RG, Oztekin HH and Sertoz z, 2006. Immediate incorporated hip spica cast application for paediatric femoral fractures. *Orthopaedic Proceedings*, *12*, *pp13-16*.
- Siddiqui MA, Pirwani MA, Naz N, Rehman AU and Soomro YH, 2008. Skin traction followed by spica cast versus early spica cast in femoral shaft fractures of children. *Pakistan Journal of Surgery*, 24(1), pp. 38-41.
- Singh RP, Shah RK, Dhakal A, 2002. Treatment of femoral shaft fractures in children by primary hip spica cast. J Nep Paed Soc; 20:17-23.
- Infante AFJ, Albert MC, Jennings WB, Lehner JT, 2000. Immediate hip spica casting for femur fractures in pediatric patients. A review of 175 patients. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*; 376, pp. 106–12.
- 22. AI-Mohrij S, Ahamed I, Abdut-Samad A, 2001. Management of pediatric femoral fractures using k-wires. *Ann Saudi Med*; 21, pp. 344-6.

### **Original** Article



## Ilizarov Method - A Limb Salvage Device in A Child

ABMG Faruque<sup>1</sup>, Shah Jawaher Jahan Kabir<sup>2</sup>, MMU Mollah<sup>3</sup>, AHMTH Siddiquee<sup>4</sup>, SBari<sup>5</sup>, MA Sabur<sup>6</sup>

#### Abstract :

Ilizarov method is the best weapon for the treatment of the limb length discrepancy, especially in traumatic or congenital shortening of long bones. Post burn bony defect can be corrected by osteosynthesis. We treated a 7 years old boy, suffering from 33% electric burn affecting face, trunk, left upper limb & both lower limbs with loss of soft tissue of medial side of right leg along with dead and exposed of some segment (about 14cm) of Left tibia . Initially the patient was managed by plastic surgeons in the form of surgical toileting, wound debridement and wound coverage by split thickness skin graft. After about 6 weeks, we applied Ilizarov fixator on the affected limb and maintained it for 7 days to increase vascularity. As there was minimum bone in the proximal part, we did corticotomy at the distal end. After 7 days further, we started distal to proximal bone transport at a rate of 1mm per day. Staged excision of about 2.5 to 3cm dead bone was done, after transporting the same length of bone each time. In 5 such sittings, a total of 14 cm bone was excised. Thus the burned portion was replaced by new bone, bony union was achieved after applying compression. Now the patient able to walk individually, without any difficulty.

So, we found that, Ilizarov method is a good option for the management of post burn bone loss. To our knowledge, such an application of the Ilizarov external fixation device in post burn bone loss has yet to be reported.

Key-words : Ilizarov method, limb salvage, electric burn.

### INTRODUCTION

Limb lengthening has always been a challenging problem for the orthopaedic surgeon. Codivilla reported the first lengthening procedure in 1905.<sup>1</sup> In the early 1950s, Gavriil Ilizarov revolutionized the field of limb lengthening.<sup>2</sup> He developed the *law of tension-stress*, which describes the process of new bone and soft tissue regeneration under the effect of slow and gradual distraction.<sup>3,4</sup> His biological principles can be summarized as :

- 1. Minimal disturbance of bone by corticotomy.
- 2. Delay before distraction of about 5 to 10 days.<sup>5,6,7</sup>
- 3. Rate of distraction of about 1 mm per day.
- 4. Rhythm of distraction of about 0.25mm every 6 hours.
- 5. Site of the osteotomy; metaphyseal lengthening leads to better osteogenesis.

6. Number of lengthening sites (unifocal or bifocal).<sup>2</sup>

In children, the common indications of Ilizarov method are : limb lengthening,<sup>8,9</sup> angular & multiplanar deformities,<sup>10</sup> foot deformities,<sup>11</sup> congenital anomalies of the lower limbs,<sup>12</sup> joint contractures,<sup>13</sup> congenital pseudoarthrosis of the tibia,<sup>14</sup> non-union and infected non-union of fractures,<sup>15</sup> some acute fractures,<sup>16</sup> arthrodesis,<sup>17</sup> etc.

The Ilizarov method can cause a variety of problems and complications.<sup>18,19</sup> like, pin tract infection, pain, swelling of the limb, neurovascular complications, contractures of the soft tissues, subluxation and dislocation of the adjacent joints, bony problems at the lengthened site, osteoporosis of the lengthened bone, angular deformity or pathological fracture, psychological problems, etc.

- 1. Associate Professor, National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka
- 2. Assistant Professor, National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka

Correspondence: Dr. ABMG Faruque, Associate Professor, National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka

<sup>3.</sup> Registrar, National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka

<sup>4.</sup> Junior Consultant (Orthopaedics), Sarkari Karmachary Hospital, Dhaka

<sup>5.</sup> Professor of Plastic Surgery, Shaheed Suhrawardi Medical College Hospital, Dhaka

<sup>5.</sup> Associate Professor of Orthopaedic Surgery, Shaheed Suhrawardi Medical College Hospital, Dhaka

#### ABMG Faruque, Shah Jawaher Jahan Kabir, M MU Mollah, AHMTH Siddiquee, S Bari, MA Sabur

### THE CASE REPORT

Our patient, a 7 years old boy, suffering from 33% electric burn affecting face, trunk, left upper limb & both lower limbs, was being treated at the City Hospital, Lalmatia, Dhaka. The burn was associated with loss of muscle and soft tissue of medial medial side of right leg and dead and exposed of some segment of left tibia. Treatment was aimed through a multi-disciplinary approach, as we planned to salvage the limb, rather than amputation. At first emphasis was given on wound coverage and soft tissue care. Initially the patient was managed by the plastic surgeon in the form of surgical toileting, wound dedridement and wound coverage by split thickness skin graft. About 14 cm of the total 25 cm length of the tibia was destroyed due to burn. After about 6 weeks, we applied Ilizarov fixator on the affected limb, and maintained it for about 7 days to increase local vascularity. As there was minimum bone in the proximal part, corticotomy was done at the distal end of the left tibia. After waiting for 7 days more, bone transport was started from distal to proximal by gradual distraction, at a rate of 1mm per day, dividing it 12 hourly. After 3 weeks, formation of new bone was

noticed radiologically at the corticotomy site. Staged excision of about 2.5cm to 3cm of exposed dead bone from the proximal part of the distal segment was then done at 3 to 4 weeks interval, after transporting the same length of bone each time. In 5 such sittings, a total of 14 cm bone was excised and after transporting 14 cm of bone, we planned to excise 2cm of tibia from proximal part. Then we applied compression; due to compression the dead bone became vascularised and bony union was achieved. Finally, the length of left tibia was 26 cm.

Physiotherapy (range of motion and strengthening exercises) was started immediately after application of Ilizarov fixator, and walking was encouraged with the fixator. After clinical and radiological evaluation of bony union (complete bridging of the lengthened site and the appearance of new cortex at the lengthened site), the fixator was removed 18 months after it's application. A brace was then applied for about 6 weeks. Thereafter, the patient was followed at every month, both clinically and radiologically. Now, after about 2 years of application of Ilizarov ring fixator, the patient was found to walk individually without any difficulty.



Fig-.1 : Initial condition before soft tissue management



Fig-.2: After wound coverage, showing necrosed part of the upper shaft of tibia

Ilizarov Method - A Limb Salvage Device in A Child





Fig-.3 : After application of Ilizarov fixator



Fig-.4: a) Initial x-ray, b) After application & c) After removal of Ilizarov fixator



Fig-.5 : Final appearance during the last follow up

### DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, application of the Ilizarov external fixation device in post burn bone loss has yet to be reported. We treated the case through a multi-disciplinary approach. After initial soft tissue treatment by the plastic surgeon, we started our treatment, by applying Ilizarov fixator.

Ilizarov described the concept of corticotomy, where only the cortex of the bone is cut, preserving the periosteum ABMG Faruque, Shah Jawaher Jahan Kabir, M MU Mollah, AHMTH Siddiquee, S Bari, MA Sabur

and medullary cavity, the aim was minimal disturbance of the existing viable bone. In this case, as there was minimum bone in the proximal part, corticotomy was done at the distal end of the left tibia. After corticotomy, a delay before distraction allows *osteogenesis* to begin.<sup>4</sup> Duration of delay varies from 5 days in a child to about 10 days in a skeletally-mature patient.<sup>5,6,7</sup> Metaphyseal lengthening leads to better osteogenesis. In the 1980s, DeBastiani developed the *callotasis* method of limb lengthening.<sup>20</sup> He recommended a longer delay about 2 weeks before distraction to allow for callus formation. In this case, bone transport was started from distal to proximal by gradual distraction after a delay of 7 days. For proper lengthening, the rate of distraction should be 1mm/day, with an optimum rhythm of distraction of 0.25mm every 6 hours.<sup>4</sup> In this case, we applied distal to proximal gradual distraction at a rate of 1mm per day, with a rhythm of .5mm every 12 hours.

Lengthening before the age of 5 years is seldom recommended, unless there is a specific indication.<sup>4</sup> Increasing the length of the bone by up to 20% to 25% of the original length usually gives good results.<sup>21,22</sup> But in this case, as about 14 cm of the total 25 cm length of the tibia was destroyed due to burn, more than 50% of original bone needed to be lengthened.

The duration of the consolidation depends on the amount of lengthening; approximately 1 month for every 1cm of lengthening. In this case, we kept the fixator for about 18 months for a total of 14cm lengthening.

#### CONCLUSION

Ilizarov method is a good option for the management of post burn bone loss.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Codivilla A: On the means of lengthening in the lower limbs, the muscles and tissues which are shortened through deformity. *Am J Orthop Surg*, 1905, 2:353-63.
- 2. Green SA: Ilizarov method. Clin Orthop, 1992, 280:2-6.
- Ilizarov GA: The tension-stress effect on the genesis and growth of tissues: Part I. The influence of stability of fixation and soft tissues preservation. *Clin Orthop*, 1989, 238:249-81.
- Ilizarov GA: The tension-stress effect on the genesis and growth of tissues: Part II. The influence of the rate of frequency of distraction. *Clin Orthop*, 1989, 239:263-83.
- Gil-Albarova J, de Pablos J, Franzeb M, et al: Delayed distraction in bone lengthening. Improved healing in lambs. *Acta Orthop Scandinavica*, 1992, 63:604-6.

- White SH, Kenwright J: The timing of distraction of an osteotomy. J Bone Joint Surg, 1990, 72-B(3):356-61.
- White SH, Kenwright J: The importance of delay in distraction of osteotomies. *Orthop Clin North America*, 1991, 22:569-79.
- Aronson J: Limb-lengthening, skeletal reconstruction and bone transport with the Ilizarov method. *J Bone Joint Surg*, 1997, 79A(8):1243-58.
- Bonnard C, Favard L, Sollogoub I, et al: Limb lengthening in children using the Ilizarov method. *Clin Orthop*, 1993, 293: 83-8.
- Herzenberg JE, Smith JD, Paley D: Correction torsional deformities with Ilizarov's apparatus. *Clin. Orthop*, 1994, 302:36-41.
- Paley D: The correction of complex foot deformities using Ilizarov's distraction osteotomies. *Clin Orthop*, 1993, 293:97-111.
- 12. Renzi-Brivio L, Lavini F, De Bastiani G.: Lengthening in the congenital short femur. *Clin Orthop*, 1990, 250:112-6.
- 13. Calhoun JH, Evans EB, Herndon DN: Techniques for the management of burn contractures with the Ilizarov fixator. *Clin Orthop*, 1992, 280:117-24.
- Paley D, Catagni M, Argani F, et al: Treatment of congenital pseudoarthrosis of the tibia using the Ilizarov technique. *Clin Orthop*, 1992, 280:81-93.
- Marsh DR, Shah S, Elliott J, et al: The Ilizarov method in nonunion, malunion and infection of fractures. *J Bone Joint Surg*, 1997, 79(B):273-9.
- Tucker HL, Kendra JC, Kinnebrew TE: Management of unstable open and closed tibial fractures using the Ilizarov method. *Clin Orthop*, 1992, 280:125-35.
- 17. Johnson EE, Weltmer J, Lian GJ, et al: Ilizarov ankle arthrodesis. *Clin Orthop*, 1992, 280:160-169.
- Dahl MT, Gulli B, Berg T: Complications of limb lengthening. A learning curve. *Clin Orthop*, 1994, 301:10-18.
- Paley D: Problems, obstacles, and complications of limb lengthening by the Ilizarov technique. *Clin Orthop*, 1990, 250:81-104.
- 20. De Bastiani G, Aldegheri R, Renzi-Brivio L, et al: Limb lengthening by callus distraction (callotasis). *J Paed Orthop*, 1987, 7:129-34.
- Aronson J, Harp JH Jr: Factors influencing the choice of external fixation for distraction osteogenesis, in Instructional Course Lectures, *The American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*, 1990, 39:175-83.
- 22. Podolsky A, Chao EYS: Mechanical performance of Ilizarov circular external fixators in comparison with other external fixators. *Clin Orthop*, 1993, 293:61-70

### **Original** Article



# Socio Demographic Characteristic of Spinal Tuberculosis Patient - A Study In National Tuberculsis Control Hospital, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Jagodish Chandra Ghosh<sup>1</sup>, Md. Abul Kashem<sup>2</sup>, Barua S<sup>3</sup>, Dulal Chandra Datta<sup>4</sup>, Mollah Ershadul Haq<sup>5</sup>, Indrani Adhikary<sup>6</sup>, Noor Mohammad<sup>7</sup>

### Abstract

Spinal tuberculosis accounts for 50% of skeletal tuberculosis,15% of extrapulmonary tuberculosis and 1-3% of all cases of tuberculosis but the scientific study regarding spinal tuberculosis comparatively less specially in context to Bangladesh. The purpose of the study was to find out the socio demographic characteristic of patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis. This cross sectional study was done in National tuberculosis control hospital Dhaka, Bangladesh. Data were collected from patient with a structured questionnaire. Eighty one patient were included in this study. The study reveals that 73% of the patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis were in the age group between 11-40 years. It was found that 39% of patient were illiterate and 36% have educational level below SSC. This study also reveals that 46% of patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis were house wife and next frequent occupational groups suffering from spinal tuberculosis were service holder and student respectively which combindly constitute 26% of sample. About 74% of patient were of lower income group having a monthly family income below taka 10001. Spinal tuberculosis is prevalent among adolescent and adult with higher frequency in illiterate and lower education level people. This study also reveal that spinal tuberculosis is more frequent among the low income family members and people who are suffering from malnutrition.

Key word: Sociodemographic, spinal, Tuberculosis, characteristics

### **INTRODUCTION**

Spinal Tuberculosis is a destructive form of skeletal tuberculosis which accounts for 50% of skeletal Tuberculosis, 15% cases of extra pulmonary Tuberculosis and 1-3% of all cases of TB.1,2,4 Spinal Tuberculosis is one of the oldest diseases known to mankind and has been found in Egyptian mummies dating back to 3400BC <sup>2,3</sup>. Tuberculosis was a leading cause of mortality in the beginning of twentieth century<sup>4</sup>.Improvement in the socioeconomic status led to a major decline in its prevalence. Malnutrition, poor sanitation and exanthematous fever are the factors contributing to the spread of the disease<sup>5</sup> Spinal tuberculosis is a dangerous form of skeletal tuberculosis as it can be associated with neurological deficit due to compression of adjacent neural structures and significant spinal deformity, so early diagnosis and management of spinal tuberculosis has

special importance in preventing these serious complications.<sup>6</sup> The incidence of spinal tuberculosis is increasing in developed countries also. Genetic susceptibility has recently been demonstrated..

The exact incidence and prevalence of spinal tuberculosis is not known and study regarding spinal tuberculosis is few in Bangladesh. The aim of this study is to find out the socio demographic characteristic of patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis in context of Bangladesh.

### **METHODS**

Type of study: A cross sectional study.

Period of study: From January 2011 to December 2014. Place of study: National tuberculosis control hospital, Dhaka, Bangladesh.

Research instrument: Data with pre structured data sheet were collected from hospital record.

<sup>1.</sup> Associate Professor (Ortho-surgery), Shekh Sahera Khatun Medical College Gopalgonj.

<sup>2.</sup> Senior Consultant and Chief 250 Beded National Tuberculosis Control Hospital, Shymoli, Dhaka

<sup>3.</sup> Associate Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Kumudini Women's Medical College & Hospital, Mirzapur, Tangail.

<sup>4.</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>5.</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Shaheed Suhrawardy Medical College Hospital, Dhaka

<sup>6.</sup> Medical Officer, Mugda Medical College Hospital, Dhaka

<sup>7.</sup> Professor & Head, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, International Medical College, Ghushlia-27, Tongi, Gazipur

Correspondence: Dr. Jagodish Chandra Ghosh, Associate Professor (Ortho-surgery), Shekh Sahera Khatun Medical College Gopalgonj. Cell No. - 01720947187, E-mail: drghoshjc@gmail.com

Jagodish Chandra Ghosh, Md. Abul Kashem, Barua S, Dulal Chandra Datta, Mollah Ershadul Haq, Indrani Adhikary et al

Sample size: A total of 81 patient were taken purposively as a sample size.

Data collection : Data were collected by searching the hospital records of patient.

Data analysis The collected data were checked, edited and processed with computer keeping in view the objectives of the study..

### RESULTS

16

 Table-I

 Distribution of the patient of spinal tuberculosis by their age(n-81)

0-10         02         2.           11-20         18         22           21-30         24         29           31-40         17         20           41-50         10         12           51-60         08         9.	ntage
11-20182221-30242931-40172041-50101251-600892	6
21-30     24     29       31-40     17     20       41-50     10     12       51-60     08     9.	22
31-40     17     20       41-50     10     12       51-60     08     92	62
41-50     10     12       51-60     08     92	98
51-60 08 9.	34
	7
>60 02 2.4	6
Total 81 100	.00

The age range of total patient was 1-75 years. Among them highest majority (29.62%) was in the age group 21-30 years. Only (2.46%) was below the age 10 years.

 Table-II

 Distribution of spinal tuberculosis patient by sex

Sex	No of patient	Percentage
Male	36	44.44
Female	45	55.66
Total	81	100.00

Regarding sex distribution 55.66% of the study population was female and 44.44% was male.

 Table-III

 Distribution of patient by their occupation

Occupation	Total No	Percentage
Businessman	01	1.23
Service holder	11	13.58
Day laborer	03	3.70
Driver	02	2.46
Student	10	12.34
House wife	37	45.67
Worker	04	4.93
Child	07	8.64
Others(U/P)	06	7.40
Total	81	100.00

According to occupation, large majority(45.67%) were house wife. Service holder(13.58%) and student (12.34%) were the next respective major groups.

#### Table-IV

Distribution of patient of spinal tuberculosis by their educational level (n=81)

Education	No	Percentage
Illiterate	32	39.50
Class 1-V	15	18.51
Class V1-X	14	17.28
SSC&HSC	12	14.81
Graduate & above	07	8.64
Total	81	100.00

Regarding the educational level of the study population 39.50% was illiterate and another 35.79% had a education level between class I-X.

 Table-V

 Distribution of patient by income group(n=81)

Monthly family income	No	Percentage
Up to 5000	35	43.20
5001-10000	25	30.86
10001-20000	14	17.28
20001-30000	02	2.46
>30000	05	6.17
Total	81	100.00

In consideration of income group this study reveals that the highest majority of the patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis belongs to the lowest income group (up to taka 5000 BDT per month) and only 6.17% of patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis comes from family those had monthly income above 30000 BDT.

### DISCUSSION

Predisposing factor for tuberculosis include poverty, overcrowding, illiteracy, malnutrition, alcoholism, drug abuse, diabetes mellitus, immunosuppressive treatment and HIV infection. These are also predisposing factors for spinal tuberculosis<sup>7</sup>.

The majority of the patient in this study were within the age group 21-30 years which is about 29.62% of total patient. The next frequent age groups were between 11-20 years and 31-40 years which were respectively 22.22%

and 20.98% of total patient included in this study. So the majority of the patient suffering from spinal tuberculosis were between the ages 11-40 years were 73% of total patient. Only 2% 0f patient of this series are below the age of 10 years. Spinal TB usually affect infant and young children. In this study,age group of the patient who are more frequently involved are higher than some other studies<sup>8,9</sup>. This finding might be due to higher status of immunization against tuberculosis in Bangladesh.

In this study about 56% of suffer were female and 44% male reflecting a slight female predominance but some of the other studies have reported a male predominance <sup>10</sup>. This finding in the study might be explained by the fact that female specially those who were the guardian or mother takes food after completion of eating of other family members ,as a consequences they have to take residual food which contain least nutritional items and even lesser amount, these happening are more commonly adopted by the family of lower and least income group. This culture and heritage is prevalent among the middle class and poor families of Bangladesh.

By occupation the large majority, about 46% are house wife and the next frequent occupational groups are service holder and student which are respectively 14% and 12% of the patient. So by occupation house wife, service holder and student are the most frequently involved patients. This finding that house wife in Bangladesh specially those of low income group are traditionally suffer from malnutrition due to their culture of taking least residual family food, similarly student coming from low income group and residing in mess and service holder of low pay scale group are suffering from malnutrition due to poor quality and quantity of food.and living in poor sanitation area which are compatible with the socioeconomic condition favorable for predisposition of the disease.

In consideration of educational level majority of the patient belongs to lower level of education, 39.50% of patient were illiterate and about 35.79% patient have educational level between class 1-X.. Only 9% of patient are graduate and above. Reflecting that spinal tuberculosis are more common among illiterate and lower education level people. In context of income group majority 43.20% had a monthly a monthly family income up to 5000 BDT and another 30.86% of patient has monthly family income between 5001-10000 BDT and only 6.17% had monthly family income above 30000 BDT. reflecting

that spinal tuberculosis is more common among the lowest income group.

#### CONCLUSION

This study reveals that the incidence of spinal tuberculosis is comparatively less below the age of 10 years in Bangladesh which is due to a higher status of immunization against tuberculosis among the children of Bangladesh. This study also reflect that female specially house wives of lower income group are more commonly suffer from spinal tuberculosis in our country.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Dass B,Puet TA,Watanakunakorn C. Tuberculosis of spine (Pott's disease) presenting as compression fracture.Spinal Cord 2002;40:604-608
- Fancourt GJ, Ebden P,Garner P. Bone tuberculosis: results and experiences in Leicestershire.Br J Dis Chest 2006;80:265-272
- Taylor GM, Murphy E, Hopkins R, Rutland P, Chistov Y. First report of Mycobaterium bovis DNA in human remains from the Iron Age. Microbiology 2007; 153(4):1243-9
- Davies PD, Humphries MJ, Byfied SP. Bone and joint tuberculosis: A survey of notifications in England and Wales. J Bone Joint Surg(Br) 2004,66:326-330.
- Hayes AJ, Choksey M,Bames N, Sparrow OCE. Spinal tuberculosis in developed countries: difficulties in diagnosis. J R Coll Surg Edinb 2006;41:192-196.
- Mohammad R Rasouli,<sup>1,2</sup>Maryam Mirkoohi<sup>1</sup>, Alexander R Vaccaro<sup>2</sup>, Kourosh Karimi Yarandi<sup>1</sup>, Vafa Rahimi Movaghar<sup>1,.3</sup>. Spinal Tuberculosis: Diagnosis and management. Asian spine J.2012 Dec;6(4):294-308. Published online 2012 Dec 14. doi 10,4184/asj 20126.4.294
- Mc Lain RF, Isada C. Spinal tuberculosis deserve a place on the radar screen. Cleve Clin J Med 2004;71(7):543-9
- van Well GT,van der Mark LB, Vermeulen RJ, van Royen BJ, Wuisman PI, van Furth AM. Spinal Tuberculosis in a 14-year-old immigrant in the Netherlands. Eur J Pediatr.2007;166:1071-1073
- Watts HG,Lifeso RM. Tuberculosis of bones and joints. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1996;78:288-298
- Mulleman D, Mammous S, Griffoul I, Avimadje A, Goupille P, Valat JP. Characteristics of patients with spinal Tuberculosis in a French teaching hospital. Joint Bone Spine. 2006; 73: 424-427

### **Original** Article



# Treatment of idiopathic club foot using the Ponseti method – One Year Experience in PTC, DMCH

Sibasis Basak<sup>1</sup>, Mohammad Khorshed Alam<sup>2</sup>, Md. Golam Sarwar<sup>3</sup>, Md. Golam Mostafa<sup>4</sup>

### Abstract

PTC (Ponseti Training Centre) in Dhaka Medical College starts its journey on 27<sup>th</sup> April 2015.On 26<sup>th</sup> April it completes one year. We report our one year experience of using the Ponseti method for the treatment of congenital idiopathic club foot in PTC, DMCH .Between April 2015 and April 2016 we treated 58 feet in 35 children by this method and another 17 feet 10 patients are on treatment. The standard protocol described by Ponseti was used. The Pirani score was used for assessment. The results were assessed in terms of the number of casts applied and the need for tenotomy of tendo Achillis and the mean follow-up time was 9.5 months (2 to 12 month). Tenotomy was required in 42 of the 58 feet. 4 patients are lost from the follow up.

### INTRODUCTION

Congenital idiopathic club foot is a complex foot deformity in an otherwise normal child consisting of four components: equinus, heel varus, forefoot adduction and cavus. <sup>1</sup>The aim of treatment is to achieve a painless, plantigrade foot with good mobility, with no need for special or modified shoes. Most orthopaedic surgeons agree that the initial treatment should be non-surgical and should start as soon as possible after birth.<sup>2</sup> Many methods have been described, most of which involve serial manipulation and casting.<sup>3</sup> Complications may follow surgical treatment and many club feet treated surgically are painful, stiff and weak.<sup>4</sup> In 1950, Ponseti<sup>3, 6</sup> developed a method of treating club foot using manipulation and casting. The clinical correction achieved by this method has been reported to produce a functional, plantigrade foot without the need for posteromedial release in 85% to 90% of cases.<sup>5,7</sup> The correction achieved has been reported as being long lasting with some patients followed up to their fourth or fifth decade. <sup>6</sup> Our aim of this study is to review our one year experience of treating club foot by the Ponseti method.

### **PATIENTSAND METHODS**

Between April 2015 and April 2016, 45 consecutive children with 75 club feet were treated at our institution by the Ponseti

method. There were 29 (64.4%) boys and 16 (35.5) girls. Of these 30 (66.6%) had bilateral and 15 (33.4%) unilateral club feet. They had been referred from local maternity units, general practitioners, and sasthosebica of BRAC. Children with other congenital deformities, syndromes or neurological causes of club feet were excluded. Assessment of the deformity was by the Pirani club foot score,<sup>13</sup> at a mean period of follow-up of 9.5 months (2 to 12 month). The results were evaluated for correction of deformity, the number of casts required, the need for a tenotomy of tendo Achillis, and relapse of the deformity.

Compliance with the foot abduction orthosis (Denis Browne splint) is thought to be essential for the prevention of relapse after the initial correction.<sup>14</sup> The information given by parents at follow-up visits was used to judge compliance with the use of the splint. Poor compliance was defined as failure to use the splint continuously for at least 23 hours a day for the first 3 month. We used the protocol described by Ponseti <sup>3</sup>, <sup>15</sup> which was started as soon as possible after birth. Simultaneous correction of cavus, forefoot adduction and heel varus (except equinus) followed Ponseti's technique with initial manipulation and immobilisation in an above- knee plaster cast at weekly

Correspondence: Dr. Sibasis Basak, Registrar, Dept. Of Orthopaedics, DMCH, E-mail: sibasisbasak@gmail.com

<sup>1.</sup> Registrar, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

<sup>2.</sup> Assistant Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

<sup>3.</sup> Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

<sup>4.</sup> Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

intervals. Tenotomy of tendo Achillis was performed, if necessary, under local anaesthesia as an out- patient procedure. This was followed by the use of a footabduction orthosis (Denis Browne splint) with  $70\acute{U}$  of external rotation on the affected side and  $40\acute{U}$  of external rotation on the normal side. The brace was used on a fulltime basis for three months followed by night- and naptime use for up to four years.

### RESULTS

The mean age at presentation was 12 weeks (1 to 36week). Of the 45 patients, 30 (66.6%) presented within 12 weeks of birth, 10 (22%) between 12 and 24 weeks and 5 (11%) at 24 to 36 weeks. Initial treatment in 5 feet had been started elsewhere before presentation to our department. This was mainly by manipulation, stretching and application of a plaster cast. Minimum cast required is 5 and maximum cast required is 15. The mean Pirani score at presentation was: hind-foot contracture score 2.5 (2 to 3), mid-foot contracture scores 2.5 (2 to 3), and a total score of 5.0 (4 to 6). The mean Pirani score after treatment for the feet was: hind-foot score 0.5 (0 to 1), mid-foot score 0 and a total of 0.5 (0 to 1). The mean number of casts required was eight (4 to 17). Tenotomy was required in 42 (72.4%) of feet. Of the 58 feet, 58 (100%) responded to initial casting. Other problems encountered during treatment were slipping of the plaster in five children and bruising of the legs and swelling of the toes in seven.

### DISCUSSION

The method of serial manipulation and casting developed by Ponseti for congenital club foot was instituted in an effort to achieve a plantigrade, functional foot without the need of a major surgical intervention. Open surgery was avoided in 89% of cases by this technique of manipulation, casting and limited surgery.<sup>6</sup> At our institution, the treatment commonly used before the Ponseti method was introduced was stretching and strapping for between three and five months which often resulted in partial correction. The partially corrected feet were then treated by posteromedial soft-tissue release. Various techniques of posteromedial soft-tissue release for resistant club foot have been described<sup>16</sup> and excellent or good results after open release have been achieved in 52% to 91% of cases.8 However, most of these cases had a relatively short followup, ranging between two and eight years. The long-term results have been disappointing with increasing pain in the foot, and disability.<sup>17, 18</sup> The short- and medium term complications of posteromedial soft tissue release range from simple wound infection to disruption of wound.

Overcorrection, loss of correction and relapse has also been reported.<sup>11, 19</sup> Long-term complications include stiffness and weakness leading to premature arthritis.8 In most feet the standard accepted practice of serial manipulations and posteromedial soft tissue release produced excellent short term but disappointing long term results; this encouraged us to change to the Ponseti method. This series represents our early experience with this method. In 100% of feet, the deformity was corrected avoiding the need for posteromedial soft-tissue release. Few casting techniques have been described in detail in the literature. Kite illustrated his method in 1964. He recommended abduction of the forefoot against pressure at the calcaneocuboid joint. Ponseti described this manoeuvre as Kite's error because it blocked the correction of hind-foot varus and internal rotation. Posteromedial soft-tissue release was avoided in 100% of our cases, but percutaneous tenotomy was required in 72%. Many parents reported difficulty in keeping the foot/feet in this splint. Some found it difûcult to apply the splint singlehanded and others reported that their child was unable to kick the legs freely and was unable to roll over in bed with the feet in the splint. These problems caused frustration in the family and often sleepless nights leading to poor compliance. We have introduced some methods to improve the compliance. We have found that parents need to be better informed, especially about the importance of continued splintage and the potential for relapse with poor compliance. This can be done by careful explanation at the start of treatment and by providing information leaûets explaining the deformity and treatment. Our study is limited by the number of children and the relatively short followup. Our initial experience with the use of the Ponseti method suggests that it is a simple and effective method of treating congenital idiopathic club foot.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Irani RN, Sherman MS. The pathological anatomy of clubfoot. J Bone Joint Surg [Am] 1963; 45-A: 45-52.
- McKay DW. New concept of and approach to clubfoot treatment: section I: principles and morbid anatomy. J Paediatr Orthop 1982; 2:347-56.
- Ponseti IV. Congenital clubfoot: fundamentals of treatment. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996.
- 4. Ikeda K. Conservative treatment of idiopathic clubfoot. J Paediatr Orthop 1992; 12: 217-23.
- Herzenberg JE, Radler C, Bor N. Ponseti versus traditional methods of casting for idiopathic clubfoot. J Paediatr Orthop 2002 ;22:517-21.

Sibasis Basak, Mohammad Khorshed Alam, Md. Golam Sarwar, Md. Golam Mostafa

- Ponseti IV, Smoley EN. Congenital club foot: the results of treatment. J Bone Joint Surg [Am] 1963; 45-A: 261-75.
- Bensahel H, Guillaume A, Czukonyi Z, Desgrippes Y. Results of physical therapy for idiopathic clubfoot: a longterm follow-up study. J Paediatr Orthop 1990;10: 189-92.
- 8. Aronson J, Puskarich CL. Deformity and disability from treated clubfoot. J Paediatr Orthop 1990; 10:109-19.
- 9. Wesley MS, Barenfeld PA, Barrett N. Complications of the treatment of clubfoot. Clin Orthop 1972; 84:93-6.
- Aplington JP, Riddle CD Jr. Avascular necrosis of the body of the talus after com- bined medial and lateral release of congenital clubfoot. South Med J 1976;69:1037-8.
- Morcuende JA, Dolan LA, Dietz FR, Ponseti IV. Radical reduction in the rate of exten- sive corrective surgery for clubfoot using the Ponseti method. Pediatrics 2004;113:376-80.
- 12. Lehman WB, Mohaideen A, Madan S, et al. A method for the early evaluation of the Ponseti (Iowa) technique for

the treatment of idiopathic clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop B 2003;12:133-40.

- Pirani S, Outerbridge H, Moran M, Suwatsky B. A method of assessing the virgin clubfoot. POSNA 1995.
- Thacker MM, Scher DM, Sala DA, et al. Use of the foot abduction orthosis fol- lowing Ponseti casts: is it essential? J Pediatr Orthop 2005; 25:225-8.
- Ponseti IV, Campos J. Observations on pathogenesis and treatment of congenital clubfoot. Clin Orthop 1972;84: 50-60.
- McKay DW. New concept and approach to clubfoot treatment; section II – correction of clubfoot. J Pediatr Orthop 1983;3:10-21.
- Green AD, Lloyd-Roberts GC. The results of early posterior release in resistant clubfeet: a long-term review. J Bone Joint Surg [Br] 1985; 67-B: 588-93.
- Hutchins PM, Foster BK, Paterson DC, Cole EA. Longterm results of early surgi- cal release in clubfeet. J Bone Joint Surg [Br] 1985; 67-B: 791-9.

20

### **Original** Article



# Comminuted Fractures of the Proximal Ulna - Preliminary Results with an Anatomically Preshaped Locking Compression Plate (LCP) System

Md. Golam Mostafa<sup>1</sup>, Md. Golam Sarwar<sup>2</sup>, Mohammad Khorshed Alam<sup>3</sup>, Sibasis Basak<sup>4</sup>

#### Abstract:

Comminuted olecrenon fracture has become more frequent in the recent years due to the increase in the incidence of RTA. Many treatment options are available for these fractures with variable results. Between March 2014 and July 2015, 10 patients with comminuted fractures of the olecrenon were managed with the anatomically preshaped LCP .Out of the 10 patients, 7 were male and 3 were female. The patients were followed up as outpatient basis with a mean duration of 12 months. Postoperative range of motion, objective muscle-strengths testing and patient's satisfaction were evaluated. All patients had follow-up radiographs. Out of 10, 1 patient is lost from the follow up. The mean arc of elbow motion was 10-130 degree. There were satisfactory result in seven cases and unsatisfactory in two cases. There were one patient with symptomatic hardware and one patient complained about deficit of motion. Nine fractures healed with ulnohumeral congruity after a mean time to union of 16 weeks. No loss of reduction is noted in any of the patient.

### **INTRODUCTION**

Regarding forearm injuries in adults, complex fractures of the olecrenon with severe comminution have become more frequent in the recent years. However, these fractures still remain a treatment challenge for trauma surgeons. To allow early functional mobilisation and to prevent stiffness of the elbow joint, the fracture fixation has to provide secure stability.<sup>1</sup> Especially for severely comminuted olecranon fractures, plate fixation has evolved as gold standard treatment.<sup>2,3</sup> In more recent times, the use of locked plating is being advocated more and more frequently.<sup>4,5</sup>

Following the AO principles of fracture management and internal fixation, a contoured 3.5-mm locking compression plate (LCP) with bicortical screw fixation is advised for multifragmentary articular fractures of the olecranon.<sup>6</sup> The application of a contoured LCP has shown both biomechanically and clinically good results for comminuted olecranon fractures.<sup>7, 8</sup>

The purpose of the present investigation is to report our experiences with the anatomically preshaped 3.5-mm LCP

olecranon plate in 10 patients with different types of comminuted proximal ulnar fractures.

### **PATIENTSAND METHODS**

Between March 2014 to July 2015, 10 patients with comminuted olecrenon fracture were choosen for this study. There were seven men and three women with an average age of 45 years (range, 28–65 years) at the time of surgery. The right elbow was involved in four patients, and the left elbow in six patients. The fracture types were classified based on the radiographs taken immediately after injury and intra-operative findings. There were no open fracture and not associated with peripheral nerve injuries or forearm compartment syndromes.

According to the AO classification there was four extraarticular, multifragmentary metaphyseal ulnar fracture (type 21-A1.3); five unifocal multifragmentary olecranon fractures (type 21-B1.1); one bifocal multifragmentary fracture of the olecranon and the coronoid (type 21-B1.3).

The mean interval between injury and operation was 11 days. Mean hospital stay is 16 days. The mechanism of

Correspondence: Dr. Golam Mostafa, Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH, Dhaka

<sup>1.</sup> Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

<sup>2.</sup> Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

<sup>3.</sup> Assistant Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

<sup>4.</sup> Registrar, Dept. of Orthopaedics, DMCH

injury was a fall from height for two patients, a bicycle accident for one patient, and in seven cases, and the injury was the result of a high-energy trauma from a traffic accident-associated polytrauma.

### RESULTS

All the patients are followed up as outpatient basis after 2 week. At the first follow up visit, stitch and long arm back slab is removed and gentle passive elbow movement within the pain limit is advised.

At a minimum follow-up time of 6 months, patients were invited to return for clinical evaluation. The range of motion of the elbow, the forearm rotation and the stability of the elbow were assessed. Patient's satisfaction for elbow use was inquired on an ordinary scale between 1 and 5 (indicating 1, highly satisfied; 2, satisfied; 3, moderate; 4, unsatisfied; 5 highly unsatisfied).

The measurements included maximum extension and flexion, as well as maximum supination and pronation .Preoperative, postoperative and follow-up radiographs were obtained. Antero-posterior and lateral radiographs were evaluated for fracture healing, failure of the implant and loss of reduction.

A total of 10 patients are followed up with a follow-up period of 16 months (4–16 months). One patient was lost from our follow up. The postoperative arc of fiexion at the time of the latest follow-up was from a mean extension deficit of 13 degree (0 - 50 degree) to a mean fiexion of 136 degree (120- 150 degree) in six patients. Three patient complains of elbow stiffness with an average elbow movement is 25-110 degree. The arc of rotation of the forearm was from a mean supination of 71 degree (10 - 80 degree) to a mean pronation of 74 degree (10 - 80 degree). None of the patients had elbow instability. Forearm strength was rated as normal in seven patients, two patients complain of mild weakness in their elbow movement. None of the patients had any varus–valgus or posterolateral rotatory instability.

Patient's satisfaction for elbow use was rated as highly satisfied in six cases and as moderately satisfied in two cases. Only one patient was unsatisfied.

### DISCUSSION

The aim of the present study is to illustrate our clinical results for patients with comminuted fractures of the olecrenon treated by the anatomically preshaped 3.5-mm LCP olecranon plate. Anatomically preformed implants have already shown promising results in distal femoral and distal tibial fracture management. <sup>9, 10</sup> The LCP

olecranon plate combines the principle of angular stable fixation with a preformed design.Like regular LCP systems, the implant provides the possibility of interfragmentary compression using combi-holes.<sup>11</sup> In the present group of patients, we found the LCP olecranon fixation is

a reliable and effective fixation device for complex fractures of the olecrenon. After a mean follow-up of 16 months, 7 of 10 evaluated patients rated good or excellent elbow outcomes .The average arc of elbow motion was 10-135 degree. Only two patients has extension deficit of 25 degree. Only in two patients, hardware was the cause of clinical restrictions. One patient complained of pain at the hardware site. There was no mechanical failure of the implant itself or any secondary loss of reduction. Our findings are comparable with those reported in the current literature for contoured olecranon plating. Recently, Buijze and Kloen reported on 16 patients with comminuted olecranon fractures including four Monteggia fractures, which were managed with contoured LCP fixation combined with an intramedullary screw. After a mean follow-up of 22 months, very good results were retrospectively shown with respect to validated subjective elbow scores. These functional results are comparable with our findings. In their case series, all fractures went on to union. This is similar to our series. The 3.5-mm LCP olecranon plate matches the anatomy of the olecranon.

The present study has some weaknesses, including a small number of patients and the short duration of follow-up. Further studies with increased sample size and longer follow-up are needed to validate significant advantages compared with other available plating systems. Nevertheless, the preliminary good or excellent functional results, the high union rate and the low incidence of hardware-related complications have encouraged us to continue using the implant.

#### REFERENCES

- Anderson ML, Larson AN, Merten SM, Steinmann SP. Congruent elbow plate fixation of olecranon fractures. J Orthop Trauma 2007;21:386–93.
- Athwal GS, Hoxie SC, Rispoli DM, Steinmann SP. Precontoured parallel plate fixation of AO/OTA type C distal humerus fractures. J Orthop Trauma 2009;23(8):575–80.
- 3. Bado JL. The Monteggia lesion. Clin Orthop 1967; 50:71–6.
- Bailey CS, MacDermid J, Patterson SD, King GJ. Outcome of plate fixation of olecranon fractures. J Orthop Trauma 2001;15:542–8.

Comminuted Fractures of the Proximal Ulna-Preliminary Results with an Anatomically Preshaped LCP System

- Boyd HB. Surgical exposure of the ulna and proximal third of the radius through one incision. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1940;71:87–8.
- Buijze GA, Blankevoort L, Tuijthof GJ, et al. Biomechanical evaluation of fixation of comminuted olecranon fractures: one-third tubular versus locking compression plating. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2010; 130(4):459–64.
- Buijze G, Kloen P. Clinical evaluation of locking compression plate fixation for comminuted fractures. J Bone Joint Surg 2009; 91:2416–20.
- 8. Cabanela ME, Morrey BF. Fractures of the proximal ulna and olecranon. In: Morrey BF, editor. The elbow

and its disorders. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1993. p. 407-8.

- Egol KA, Kubiak EN, Fulkerson E, et al. Biomechanics of locked plates and screws. J Orthop Trauma 2004;18:488– 93.
- Fyfe IS, Mossad MM, Holdsworth BJ. Methods of fixation of olecranon fractures. An experimental mechanical study. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1985;67:367–72.
- Germann G, Harth A, Wind G, Demir E. Standardisation and validation of the German version 2.0 of the Disability of Arm, Shoulder, Hand (DASH) questionnaire. Unfallchirurg 2003;106(1):13–9.

### **Original** Article



# Evaluation of the Result of Surgical Treatment of Prolapsed Lumbar Intervertebral Disc by Fenestration and Discectomy

Apel Chandra Saha<sup>1</sup>, Muhammad Awlad Hossain<sup>2</sup>, Md. Hasan Masud<sup>3</sup>, Md. Monjurul Hoque Akanda Chowdhury<sup>4</sup>, Md. Mokhlesur Rahman<sup>5</sup>

### Abstract

Low back pain is a common problem both in adult an old age. Prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc is a primary cause of low back pain. About 10% of cases of lumbago sciatica need surgical treatment. Treatment for lumbar disc prolapse is a common practice in surgery. Modern method is removal of disc with minimally invasive technique (Fenestration). The purpose of this study is to assess the outcome, complication and return to normal activity by fenestration & discectomy. This is a prospective interventional study of 32 patients who underwent fenestration & discectomy carried out at NITOR & different private hospitals between October 2011 to December 2014. Total follow up time was 6 months to 1 year. Out of 32 patients 23 were male & 9 were female, age ranged from 20 years to 60 years. More common site of disc prolapse was at the level of  $L_4$ - $L_5$  (56.3%) &  $L_5$ - $S_1$  (31.3%), more involvement at left side 20 (55.6%). We assay physical examination, patient's ability to return to work or to normal activity by Modified Macnab Criteria and out of 32 patients 23 patients (71.9%) had excellent functional outcome, followed by 6 (18.7%) good functional outcome & 2 (6.2%) Fair and 1 (3.1%) had poor functional outcome. 3 patients developed complications e.g. discitis in 2 patients (90.6%). So this procedure is a satisfactory safe, effective & acceptable to our patients. It reduces the morbidity & increases the chance of successful outcome.

### INTRODUCTION

Low back pain is a common problem both in adult and old age. Hult 1954 estimates that upto 80% of the population is affected by this symptom at sometime in life<sup>1</sup>. Its causes are legion and an exact diagnosis is often difficult. The disability with which it is usually associated is often severe and prolonged. Low back pain due tolumbar disc prolapse is a leading cause of morbidity throughoutthe world affecting mainly the young adult<sup>2</sup>. The intervertebraldisc is a fibrocartilageneousstructure which is composed of inner semiliquid nucleus pulposusand outer collagenous and cartilageneous annulusfibrosus<sup>3</sup>.

In the commonestpatten of intervertebral disc prolapse, a tear in the annulus allows protrusion of semiliquid

nucleuspulposus. This may be limited by intact fibresat the periphery of the annulus (Contained disc prolapse)<sup>4</sup>. In other cases extrusion of nucleus is usually more extensive and the prolapsed materials may be cut off from its source (Sequestrated disc prolapse)<sup>4</sup>. Disc acts as a cushion & shock absorber & allows some movement and flexibility of spine<sup>4</sup>. More than 90% of prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc patients can be managed satisfactorily with conservative treatment even in the presence of some neurological deficit<sup>2</sup>. About 10% of patients of lumbar disc prolapserequire surgery<sup>2</sup>. Diagnosis of PLID is usually made on the basis of history, clinical and radiological findings. Confirmation is obtainedby means of MRI finding of evidence of disc prolapse compressing nerve root. Open discectomy is the most common surgical

<sup>1.</sup> Jr. Consultant, Upazilla Health Complex, Debidwar, Comilla

<sup>2.</sup> Jr. Consultant, OSD DG attached to Kurmitola General Hospital, Dhaka

<sup>3.</sup> Associate Professor, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>4.</sup> Professor of Orthopaedic Surgery, Ex-Professor, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>5.</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Neuro Surgery, NINS, Dhaka

Correspondence to: Dr. Apel Chandra Saha, Junior Consultant, Upazilla Health Complex, Debidwar, Comilla

Evaluation of The Result of Surgical Treatment of Prolapsed Lumbar Intervertebral Disc by Fenestration and Discectomy

treatment for PILD patients. There are several techniques like laminectomy and discectomy, fenestration & discectomy, percutaneous lumbar discectomy, microdiscectomy & endoscopic microdiscectomy<sup>2</sup>.

In Fenestration & discectomy as it is a minimally invasive procedure a small incisionis used. So, there is less tissue trauma, less postoperative pain, less hospital stay & early return to work.

### MATERIALS& METHODS

This is a prospective interventional study carried out atNitor&different private hospitals inDhaka from October 2012 to December 2014. Total Number of patientswas32 who underwent fenestration & discectomy. Among them 23 were males & 9 were females, age ranged from 20 years to 60 years with a follow up period of 6 months to 1 year. Patients were selected on the basis of history, physical examination, radiological& MRI findings. It is also selected on basis of inclusion and exclusion criteria. Inclusion criteria were 1. Dominant leg pain than back pain, 2.Restricted SLR, 3.Signs of root compression-motor, sensory, reflex, 4. Positive root compression on MRI, 5. PLID at one level, Unilateral or bilateral. Exclusion criteriaswere 1. PLID due to direct trauma, 2. PLID associated with other spinal pathology, Spinal tumour, infection, 4. Recurrentnumber disc surgery, 5. Caudaequina syndrome.

### RESULT

This prospective study of treatment of lumbar disc prolapse by fenestration & discectomy was carried out in 32 patients to find out the common cause of lumbar disc prolapse, age and sex incidence and to propose a protocol for treating such cases. The result of fenestration of discectomy of lumbar disc prolapse wasevaluated by using Modified Macnab<sup>13</sup> Criteria

Modified Macnab	Criteria for characterising outcome after surgery (Macnab 1971)
Result	Criteria
Excellent	No Pain; no restriction of mobility; return to work and level of activity
Good	Occasional nonradicularpain; relief of presenting symptoms; able to return to modified work
Fair	Some improved functional capacity; still handicapped and unemployed
Poor	Continued objective symptoms of root involvement: additional operative intervention needed at the index level irrespective of length of postoperatively follow-up

Among 32 patients 23 were males & 9 were females, age ranged from 20 years to 60 years. More common sites of disc prolapse were L4-L5(18), L5-S<sub>1</sub> (10), and more involvement at left side (20).

Table-IAge distribution of the patients (n=32)

Age in years	Number	Percentage (%)
<20	0	0
21-30	8	25
31-40	13	40.62
41-50	6	18.8
51-60	5	15.6

Table-IISex distribution of the patients (n=32)

Sex	Number of cases	Percentage (%)
Male	23	71.88
Female	9	28.8

#### Table-III

*Occupational distribution of the patients* (n=32)

Occupation	Number	Percentage (%)
Serviceman	9	28.1
Businessman	6	18.8
Farmer	6	18.8
Shopkeeper	5	15.6
Housewife	6	18.8

Table-IV	
Distribution of motor weakness of the patients	(n=32)

Motor weakness	Number	Percentage (%)
EHL(L5)	19	59.4
FHL	5	15.6
None (Intact)	8	25

### Table-V

Distribution of sensory impairment of the patients (n=32)

Sensory weakness	Number	Percentage (%)
EHL(L5)	17	53.1
FHL	8	25
None (Intact)	7	21.9

Apel Chandra Saha, Muhammad Awlad Hossain, Md. Hasan Masud, Md. Monjurul Hoque Akanda Chowdhury

Table-VI
Distribution of the patients according to X-ray
findings(n=32)

X-ray findings (Plain X-ray	Number	Percentage
lumbosacral Spines)	(32)	(%)
Transitional vertebrae	8	25
(Lumbarization/sacralization)		
Lossof lumbarlordosis	22	68.8
Diminished disc space	7	21.9

Table-XDistribution of disc prolapse by operative findings(n=32)

(11 52)	/	
Disc prolapse	Number	Percentage
		(%)
Posterolateral	25	69.5
Central	11	30.5

### Table-XI

Post operative hospital stay (n=32)

Hospital stay (days)	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
Range (3-6)	3	6	4.81.22

# Table-XII Distribution of patients by post operative complications (n=32)

Post Operative Complications	Number	Percentage
		(%)
Discitis	2	6.2
Dural tear	1	3.1

### Table-XIII

Duration of post operative follow-up (n=32)

Follow up in months	Number	Percentage
		(%)
Up to 6 months	19	59.3
7-9 months	5	15.6
10-12 months	8	25

### Table-XIV

55.6

13.9

30.6

*Percentage distribution of pain in different visit* (n=32)

Pain score	Preoperative	1st	Visit	2nc	l Visit	3rd	Visit
		No	%	No	%	No	%
Absent (0)	0	3	9.3%	9	28.1	26	81.2
Occasional (1)	0	3	9.3	5	15.6	2	3.1
Mild(2)	0	5	15.6	11	34.3	2	6.2
Moderate (3)	100	21	65.6	7	21.9	3	9.3

## Table-XVPercentage distribution of muscle spasm(n=32)

Muscle spasm	Preoperative	1st visit	2nd visit	3rd visit
Absent	11.7	75	91.3	100
Present	88.3	25	8.7	00

The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society

26

Left

Right

Central

Table-VIIDistribution of the patients according to MRI findings(n=32)

(n  52)		
MRI findings	Number	Percentage
		(%)
Posterolateral disc prolapse	23	71.9
Posterior (central ) disc prolapse	9	28.1

### Table-VIII

Distribution of level of disc prolpase $(n=3)$
--

Level	Number	Percentage
		(%)
L4-L5	18	56.3
L5-S1	10	31.3
both level	4	12.5

Table-IX			
	Distribution of disc prolpase by side	e (n=32)	
Side	Number	Percentage	
		(%)	

20

5

11

th level	4	12.5
Ta	ble-IX	
Distribution of disa	nucleage by side	(n-22)

15.6

Percentage distribution of mobility of Spine $(n=32)$			
Visit	Restricted mobility	Percentage	
Preoperative	28	87.5	
1st Visit	19	59.38	
2nd Visit	11	34.38	

Table VVI

 Table-XVII

 Functional outcome of the study (n=32)

5

Result	Number of patients	Percentage (%)
Excellent	23	71.9
Good	6	18.7
Fair	2	6.2
Poor	1	3.1

#### Table-XVIII

Final outcome of the study (n=32)

Result	Number of patients	Percentage (%)
Satisfactory	29	87.88
Unsatisfactory	3	9.38

Among 32 patients 23 (71.9%) cases were excellent, 6 (18.7%) cases were good, 2 (6.2%) cases were fair & 1 (3.1%) case was poor. The overall result was analyzed by categorizing satisfactory (excellent and good) 29 (87.88%) cases and unsatisfactory (fair & poor) 3 (9.38%) cases.

### DISCUSSION

3rd Visit

Disc prolapse may occur at any age, but is uncommon in the very young and very old. The patient is usually a fit adult of 20-45 years though sometimes there is a history of mild, recurrent backache in the past. Typically while lifting or stooping him or she has severe back pain and is unable to straighten up. Either then or a day or two later pain is felt in the buttock and lower limb (sciatica)<sup>3</sup>.

Diagnosis delayis a common problem in PLID. It is necessary to obtain a detailed patient's history & clinical and radiological investigations for proper diagnosis. MRI findings have led us to detect the lession localization, involvement of the disc and its compressive effect on spinal cord.

The satisfactory result of the surgery of PLID patients largely depends on appropriate patient's selection. In this series 21.7% of patients were in 21-30 years, 40.6% of

patients were in 31-40 years, 30.4% of patients were above 40 years. The lowest incidence in the series is 21 years and highest was 60 years.

Brown and pont<sup>5</sup> (1963) in their series found that 72% of patients were males and 28% females. There was 20% female and 80% male in the Raff<sup>6</sup> et al (1959) series. Shanon&paul's<sup>7</sup>(1979) works included 25% female and 75% male patients. All patients of Nabi<sup>8</sup> et al (1982) series were male. There were 84.5% male & 15.49% female patients in the khan<sup>9</sup> et al (1991) series.

In this study there were 71.9% male & 28.1% female. The low incidence of female patients is probably due to conservative life style of the female population.

Brown and pont's<sup>5</sup>(1962) studies showed subjective motor weakness in 8.3% cases bladder and boweldysfunction in 3% cases. In our series 75% of the patients had motor weakness out of which 59.4% had EHLweakness &15.6%FHL weakness. Remaining 25% have no motor weakness. Sensory deficit was 78.1% of which 53.1% was in L5& 25% was inS<sub>1</sub>distribution level. Remaining 21.9% had no sensory deficit. No patient had bowel and bladder involvement.

Brown and pont<sup>5</sup> (1963) reported in their series that 65.2% patients had prolapse at L4-L5 level, 22.4% at L5-S<sub>1</sub> level and 12.4% at L3-L4 level. In our series 56.3% in L4-L5 level, 31.3% at L5-S<sub>1</sub> level and 12.5% at both level.

Brown& pont<sup>5</sup>(1963) reported that 36.49% of caseshad right sided prolapse, 40.17% had left sided prolapse and 25.4% had central prolapse. In our series 55.6% patients had left sided prolapse and 13.9% had right sided prolapse and 30.6% had central prolapse. 32 patients had 36 disc prolapsebecause 4 patients had disc prolapse at two level.

Postoperative hospital stay is one of the important parts of this study. In this series postoperative hospital stay wasminimum 3 days and maximum 6 days with a mean 4.8  $\pm$  1.22 days.

O'connel<sup>10</sup> et al (1961) reported that 3% patients developed wound infection, haematoma formation in 2%, Pulmonary embolism 1% and postoperative pain in the back &groin in 1.6%. In our study postoperative discitis was developed in 2 patients (6.2%). They were managed conservatively by absolute bed rest, antibiotics andanalgesics. One patient developed per operative duraltear (3.1%) that was repaired with4-0 vicry and there was no post operative CSF leakage.

The detailed follow up evaluations were scheduled to be conducted on each patient at 1 month, 3 months, 6 months
and12 months after surgery. The evaluations included clinically and radiologically. Minimum duration of follow up was 6 months & maximum was 12 months and 59.3% patients had followed up 6 months, 15.6% had 7-9 months &25% had 10-12 months.

During follow uppain score, muscle spasms, mobility of the spine, SLR were assessed. In the final visit absence of pain was in 81.2%,occasional pain in 3.1%, mild pain was 6.2% and moderate pain was in 9.3%. Muscle spasm was absent in all patients after operation. 15.6% of the patients had restriction of mobility of the spine at 3rd visit. Preoperatively SLR was 41.326.2 degree. Following operations SLR significantly improved from baseline to 88.329.2 at 3rd visit.

Regarding the subjective assessment of this series, it was observed most 71.9% of the patients had excellent functional outcome, 18.7% good, 6.2% fair and 3.1% had poor functional outcome. In this study over all a satisfactory result of found in 29 (87.88%) cases and non-satisfactory in 3 (9.38%) cases.

#### CONCLUSION

Fenestration is open lumbar discectomy but minimally invasive. This technique avoids muscle related trauma, the risk of paravertebral muscle denervation caused by extensive exposure and potential spinal destabilization due to excessive bone-resection.Based on the results shown above it is concluded that surgical treatment of prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc by fenestration an discectomy is an effective, safe and acceptable method. It reduces the complications and increases the chance of successful outcome.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Hult, 1954, 'The munkfors investigation', Actaorthopscand (Suppl) 16:1
- Md. Kamrul Ahsan & Shahid. Clinical outcome of Surgical Management of Lumbar Disc Prolapse by Minimally Invasive Open Lumbar Discectomy (Fenestration). The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society. Volume 22 Number 2, July 2007.
- Solomon Louis, Warwick David, Selvadurai Nayagam. Apley's system of Orthopaedics and fractures, Eight edition, Page 390-393.
- Ali, MI. 1995, 'Evaluation of the results of operative treatment of Prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc', MS (Ortho) thesis, university of Dhaka.
- Brown HA & Pont, ME 1963, 'Disease of lumbar discs', *J Neuroserg*, vol. 20, pp, 410-17.
- Raff, J, Portland & Oregon, 1959, 'Some observation regarding 905 patients operated upon for protruded lumbar intervertebral disc', Amer J surg, vol. 97, pp. 388-99.
- Shanon, N, and Paul E.A. 1979 'L4/L5 and L5 and S1 disc Protrusion analysis of 323 cases operated on over 12 years', J Neuro surgery, vol. 42, pp. 804-11.
- Nabi, N. Iskander & Chowdhury A.B. 1982, ' Laminectomy in prolapsed intervertebral disc (Lumbar)', J BanglaedeshOrthop. Society, vol. 2, no. 1, p6
- Khan, AA., Rahman, M.L. & Ali, M.I. 1991, 'Prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc: surgical management of 142 cases in Bangladesh', J Neuroscience, vol. 7, no. 2, p. 53.
- O' Connell, JEA. 1951, 'Protrusions of the lumbar intervertebral discs', J Bone Joint Surg, vol. 33-B, pp. 8-14.



# Clinical, MRI and Arthroscopic Correlation in Meniscal And Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries

Akshad Al Masur<sup>1</sup>, K M Rafiqul Islam<sup>2</sup>, Syed Shamsul Arefin<sup>3</sup>, Ahsan Majid<sup>4</sup>, Md. Alinoor<sup>4</sup>, Md. Reazul Haque<sup>5</sup>, Md. Iqbal Qavi<sup>6</sup>

#### Abstract

The present prospective study aimed to compare the relation between clinical and arthroscopic findings of knee injuries with the relation of MRI findings and arthroscopic findings. The study was conducted at National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation, Dhaka over a period of 2 years. Patients of knee injury were the study population. Patients with cruciate ligaments and/or menisci injury leading to persistent instability of knee for at least 1.5 months and non-responsive to conservative treatment and without osteoarthritis and associated intra-articular fracture about knee were included in the study. Patients with cruciate ligaments and/or menisci injury with previously operated for knee injuries, osteoarthritis of knee and cruciate ligaments and menisci injury associated with intraarticular fracture about knee were excluded from the study. A total of 30 cases fulfilling the criteria were consecutively included in the study.

#### INTRODUCTION

The knee is the largest joint of the body. It is a mechanically complex joint. The knee is one of the most frequently injured joint because of its anatomical structure, its exposure to external forces and the functional demands placed on it. Structurally, this is an unstable joint, because the articular surfaces are not congruent.

Meniscal function is essential to the normal function of the knee joint. The menisci act as a joint filter, compensating for gross incongruity between femoral and tibial articulating surfaces. It prevents capsular and synovial impingement during flexion, extension movements, have joint lubricating function, distribute synovial fluid throughout the joint and aiding the nutrition of the articular cartilage (Robert et al, 2008).

The cruciate ligaments provide both antero-posterior and rotatory stability. They also help to resist excessive valgus and varus angulation. Both cruciate ligaments have a layered structure and some fibres of each ligament are taut is all positions of the knee. Anterior displacement of tibia (the anterior drawer sign) is resisted by posteromedial part of the anterior cruciate ligament and medial capsule. Posterior displacement is prevented by the posterior cruciate ligament (Solomon et al, 2001).

Traumatic lessions of the menisci are produced most commonly by rotation as the flexed knee moves toward an extended position. The medial meniscus, being for less mobile on the tibia, can become implated between the condyles and injury can result. The most common location for injury is the posterior horn of the meniscus and longitudinal tears are the most common type of injury. The other types are transverse and obligue tears, a combination of longitudinal and transverse tears, tears associated with cystic menisci, tears associated with discoid menisci. In knee injuries diagnostic arthroscopy is a useful tool among all the joints and is most accessible. However, a direct look inside is not a substitute for clinical examination. A detailed history and meticulous assessment of the physical signs are indispensable preliminaries and remains the sheet anchor of diagnosis. It is not that arthroscopy fails to disclose what is there; the problem is

Correspondence to: Dr. Akshad Al Masur, MBBS, MRCS, MS (Ortho), RS, 250 Bedded General Hospital, Pabna. Cell: 01712218118

<sup>1.</sup> RS, 250 Baded General Hospital, Pabna.

<sup>2.</sup> Research Assistant, Dept. of Orthopaedics, BSMMU.

<sup>3.</sup> Junior Consultant, Dept. of Orthopaedics, SZMC.

<sup>4.</sup> Medical Officer, Dept. of Orthopaedics, BSMMU.

<sup>5.</sup> Associate Professor of Orthopaedics, Pabna Medical College Hospital.

<sup>6.</sup> Professor, NITOR, Dhaka

that it shows too much and the clinician will still have to decide which of the abnormalities detected are the causes of the patient's complaints (Solomon et al, 2001). Arthroscopy should be considered as a diagnostic aid used in conjunction with a good history, complete physical examination and appropriate radiographs. In our country, most patients are from poor socio-economic condition.

MRI bears an extra financial burden to them (Phillips, 2008). MRI scanning of the knee joint has often been regarded as the noninvasive alternative to diagnostic arthroscopy. In day to day clinical practice, MRI scan is routinely used to support the diagnosis for meniscal or ACL injuries prior to recommending arthroscopic examination and surgery (F. Rayan, D. Shukla 2008). Review of the available literature suggests that there are a number of studies looking at two out of the three diagnostic tools(clinical examination, MRI and arthroscopy), so my study is designed to identify correlation of all three methods for all cases in this study.

#### **MATERIALSAND METHODS**

#### 3.1 Study design:

30

Cross sectional, analytical study.

#### 3.2 Duration of Study:

July 2009 to June 2011

#### 3.2 Place of study:

National Institute of Traumatology & Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka

#### 3.3 Study population and sampling:

Convenience sampling method was used to select 30 (thirty) patients.

#### 3.3.1 Inclusion criteria:

- Anterior cruciate ligament and meniscal injury leading to persistent instability of knee for at least 1 month after injuries that were non responsive to conservative treatment.
- ACL and meniscal injuries without osteoarthritis and associated intra-articular fracture about knee

#### 3.3.2 Exclusion criteria:

- Previous operation of knee injuries
- Osteoarthritis of knee

Associated intra-articular fracture of knee

#### **RESULTS & DISCUSSION**

The result from the study demonstrate that mean age of the subjects was 29.3 years and the minimum and maximum ages were 16 and 50 years respectively and all of the subjects were male. Over 26% of the subjects were serviceholders followed by 40% students, 13.3% businessmen, 10% farmers, 3.3% day labourers and 6.7% people were on uniformed service. Madhusudhan (2008) reported a higher mean age (52 years) in his series with a age range from 18–70 years which is not consistent with the findings of our study.

The median duration of suffering was 10.5 months and the lowest and highest durations were 1.5 and 60 months respectively. About 46.7% of the subjects had right knee affected and the rest (53.3%) left knees affected. Over 56% of the subjects received injuries during sports activities and 43.3% received them while they were working. Jah (2005) reported about 43% of injuries with right knee and 57% with left knee affected. The mechanism of trauma was a non-professional sports injury in more than three-quarter (78.6%) of the patients, a motor car accident in 10 patients and a fall in 5 patients which are not consistent with findings of the present study

Pain and giving way were predominant complaints (80% and 60% respectively). On examination, quadriceps wasting, positive Lachman Test, positive Anterior Drawer Test were frequently observed (73.3%, 70% and 73.8% respectively). Positive McMurray Test was found in 46.7% Clinical diagnosis demonstrates that about three-quarters (73.3%) of the subjects had anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury and 43.3% medial meniscus injury. Very few were diagnosed as having lateral meniscus injury. Isolated injuries were found 73.3% and combined injuries were 26.7%. MRI diagnosis demonstrates that more than threequarters (80%) of the subjects had anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury and 60% medial meniscus injury. Isolated injuries were found 50% and combined injuries were 50%. Arthroscopically 73.3% subjects were diagnosed as having ACL injury and 20% with medial meniscus injury. Only 13.3% had lateral meniscus injury. Isolated injuries were found 73.3% and combined injuries were 16.7%.

The diagnostic accuracy of clinical examination was 93.3% for ACL, 86.7% for medial meniscus injury and 90% for lateral meniscus injury. The sensitivity of clinical diagnosis was 95.2% for ACL injury, 90.9% for medial meniscus injury and 50% lateral meniscus injury. The specificity was 88.9% for ACL injury, 84.2% for medial meniscus injury and 96.2% for lateral meniscus injury.

The sensitivities of the clinical diagnosis for the corresponding injuries were 85.7%, 100%, 100% 84.6% respectively and the specificities for the corresponding injuries were 95.9%, 100%, 95.6% and 91.2% respectively.

The diagnostic accuracy of MRI study was 76.7% for ACL, 53.3% for medial meniscus injury and 90% for lateral

Clinical, MRI And Arthroscopic Correlation in Meniscal And Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries

meniscus injury. The sensitivity of clinical diagnosis was 86.4% for ACL injury, 60% for medial meniscus injury and 50% lateral meniscus injury. The specificity was 50% for ACL injury, 50% for medial meniscus injury and 92.9% for lateral meniscus injury.

#### CONCLUSION

We examined the correlation between clinical examination, MRI scan and arthroscopy for meniscal and ACL injuries. By analyzing the data we came into the conclusion that carefully performed clinically examination can give better or equal diagnosis of meniscal or ACL injuries than MRI scan. MRI scan can be used to rule out the above mentioned injuries other than to diagnose them. When clinical signs and symptoms are inconclusive a MRI scan may be beneficial in avoiding unnecessary arthroscopic surgery. But when clinical examination is in favor of meniscal and/or ACL injuries, a MRI scan prior to arthroscopic examination is of little importance. So it can be said that MRI scan should not be used as a primary diagnostic tool for diagnosing meniscal and ACL injuries.

#### REFERENCES

- Allen CR, Kaplan LD, Fluhme DJ & Harner CD 2002, *'Posterior cruciate ligament injuries'*, Curr Opin Rheumatol,vol.14, pp.142–9.
- Bryan S, Bungay HP, Weatherburn G, Field S 2004, *'Magnetic resonance imaging for investigation of the knee joint : a clinical and economic evaluation'.*, Int J Technol Assess Health Care vol. 20, pp. 222-9.
- Crawford R, Walley, Bridgman S & Maffulli N 2007, *Magnetic resonance imaging versus arthroscopy in the diagnosis of knee pathology, concentrating on meniscal*

*lesions and ACL tears: a systematic review'*, British Medical Bulletein, vol.84, pp.5-23.

- 4. Eren OT 2003, '*The accuracy of joint line tenderness by physical examination in the diagnosis of meniscal tears*', Arthroscopy, vol.19,no.8, pp.850-4.
- 5. Fisher S P, Fox J & Del Pizzo 1991, 'Accuracy of diagnosis from Magnetic resonance Imaging

*of the knee: A multi-centre analysis of 1014 patients*', J. Bone Joint Surg, vol.73-A, pp.2-10.

6. Gilles H & Seligson D 1979, 'Precision in the diagnosis of meniscal lesion: A comparison of

*clinical evaluation arthrography, and arthroscopy'*, J Bone Joint Surg, vol.61-A, pp.343-6.

- Imhoff A, Buess E & Holder J 1997, 'Comparison between magnetic resonance imaging and arthroscopy for the diagnosis of knee meniscal lesions', Rev Chir Orthop reparatrice Appar Mot, vol.83,no.3, pp.229-36.
- Jackson JL. O'Malley PG & Kroenke K 2003, 'Evaluation of acute knee pain in primary care', Ann Intern Med, vol.139, pp.575-88.
- Jah AAE, Keyhani S, Zarei R & Moghaddam AK 2005, 'Accuracy of MRI in comparison with clinical and arthroscopic findings in ligamentous and meniscal injuries of the knee', ActaOrthop Belg., vol.71, pp.189-96
- Kocher MS, DiCanzio J, Zurakowski D, Micheli LJ 2001, *Diagnostic performance of clinical examination and selective magnetic imaging in the evaluation of intraarticular knee disorders in children and adolescents.* Am J Sports Med vol.29 pp. 292-6.
- 11. McAllister DR & Petrigliano FA 2007, 'Diagnosis and Treatment of Posterior CruciateLigament Injuries', Current Sports Medicine Reports, vol.6,pp.293–299



# Clinical Outcome of Lumbar Disc Prolapse by Surgical Management (Fenestration & Discectomy) in Pabna

Akshad Al Masur<sup>1</sup>, Haque MR<sup>2</sup>, Rahman KS<sup>3</sup>, Rumi SH<sup>3</sup>, Rahman MM<sup>3</sup>, Taleb MA<sup>4</sup>, MF Khatun<sup>5</sup>

#### Summary

Surgical treatment for lumbar disc prolapse is a common practice in spine surgery. The purpose of this study is to assess the treatment outcome of lumbar disc prolapse by fenestration & discectomy. This is a prospective study of 30 patients who underwent lumbar discectomy, carried out at PMCH & Private clinic between January 2014 to December 2015. Total follow up time was six months to two years with 80% of patients having at least one year follow-up. 14 were male & 16 were female; age ranged from 21 to 45 years with mean age 33 years. More common sites of disc prolapse were at the level of L4/5(25), L5/S1, more involvement at the left side(20). On the findings of physical examination & the patients ability to return to work or to normal activity, 24 patients (80%) were considered to have satisfactory outcome at the end of minimum one year follow-up. 3 patients (10%) developed complications viz. wound infection in 2 patients, discitis in 1 patient. All these complications were managed conservatively. We found that the procedure is very safe, cost effective & quite acceptable to our patients. The morbidity was minimum & mean hospital stay was 5 days & overall results were satisfactory.

Key words: Lumbar disc, fenestration, discectomy.

#### INTRODUCTION

Low Back Pain (LBP) which is second only to common cold with a lifetime prevalence of 60-90% & an annual incidence of 5% with sciatica ranges from 11 to 40%. No population appears immune. Up to 35% of sedentary workers & 47% of physical labourers relate a history of LBP<sup>1</sup>. Low back pain due to lumbar disc prolapse is a major cause of morbidity throughout world affecting mainly the young adults. Disc is fibrocartilagenous structure, cushioned between the vertebrae, acts as a shock absorber, allows movement & flexibility.

Large majority of the patients of PLID (>90%) can be managed satisfactorily with conservative treatment even in the presence of neurological deficit. Several studies have shown that most herniations reabsorb over time. If left untreated they decrease in size by a process of dehydration & phagocytosis<sup>2</sup>. About 50% of patients recover within one month, & 96% function normally by 6 months. About 10% of patients with lumbar disc herniation require surgery<sup>3</sup>.

To achieve the best result of surgery it must have radiographic evidence of a herniated lumbar disc compressing the nerve root to a degree significant enough to cause clinical radiculopathy at the correseponding level<sup>4</sup>. The present trend is removal of the disc with minimally invasive technique. Disc surgery has evolved over a period of time beginning with laminectomy to modern day minimally invasive technique like percutaneous procedure, micro discectomy & recently introduced endoscopic micro discectomy. However open discectomy is still considered the "gold standard" by the spine community for the surgical treatment of herniated discs that are causing severe weakness or pain. Open discectomy allows the surgeon the greatest ability to see & explore the surgical site<sup>5</sup>.

2. Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopedic Surgery, PMCH

<sup>1.</sup> Resident Surgeon, 250 Bedded General Hospital, Pabna.

<sup>3.</sup> Junior Consultant, Dept. of Orthopedic Surgery 250 Bedded General Hospital, Pabna.

<sup>4.</sup> Asst. Registar, Dept. Of Orthopedic Surgery,250 Bedded General Hospital, Pabna.

<sup>5.</sup> Medical Officer, Dept. of Gynae & Obs., 250 Bedded General Hospital, Pabna.

Correspondence to: Dr. Mohammad Akshad Al Masur, MBBS, MRCS, MS (Ortho), RS, 250 Bedded General Hospital, Pabna. Cell: 01712218118, E-mail: dranonortho@ gmail.com

Clinical, MRI And Arthroscopic Correlation in Meniscal and Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries

#### **MATERIALSAND METHODS**

This is a prospective study, carried out at PMCH & Private clinic, Pabna from January 2014 to August 2016. Total number of patients 30 who underwent lumber discectomy (fenestration technique). The patients were selected on the basis of inclusion & exclusion criteria. Inclusion criteria were 1.Dominant leg pain than back pain. 2. Restricted SLRT. 3. Signs of root compression-Motor, Sensory, Reflex. 4. Positive radiology – MRI. 5. PLID at one or two level, unilateral or bilateral. 6. Patients of both sexes - male & female. Exclusion criteria were 1. PLID due to direct trauma with fracture-dislocation of vertebrae. 2. PLID associated with other spinal pathology. 3. Recurrent lumbar disc prolapse. 4. Cauda equina syndrome. We obtained preoperative maker film in all cases to identify the proper level. We did a standard interlaminar fenestration through midline incision & cutting the ligamentum flava & removed the herniated disc by retracting the dura.

Follow up of the patients were done on OPD basis with history taking & assessment of the back pain on functional scale, clinical examination & radiological investigation in certain patients.

#### RESULTS

The results of discectomy of 30 cases were evaluated by using Modified Macnab criteria<sup>6</sup>.

**Excellent:** No pain; no restriction of mobility; return to work & level of activity.

**Good:** Occasional nonradicular pain, relief of presenting symptoms; able to return to modified work.

**Fair:** Some improved functional capacity; still handicapped & unemployed.

**Poor:** Continued objective symptoms of root involvement, additional operative interventional needed at index level irrespective of length of post operative follow up.

Among 30 patients, 14 were male & 16 were female, age ranged from 21 to 45 years with mean age 33 years. More common sites of disc prolapse were at the level of L4/5 (25) and L5/S1 (5), more involvement at the Lt side (20). On the findings of physical examination & the patients ability to return to work or to normal activity, 24 (80%) patients were considered to have satisfactory outcome at the end of minimum one year follow-up. 3 (10%) patients developed complications viz. wound infection in 2 patients, discitis in 1 patients. All these complications were managed conservatively.

Table-ISex distribution of patients

Sex	No of cases	Percentage
Male	14	46.67%
Female	16	53.33%

Table-I shows distribution of sex. There were 14 (46.67%) male & 16 (53.33%) female.

Table-IIAge distribution of patients

Range of age	Number	Percentage
21-30	12	40%
31-40	10	33.33%
41-45	08	26.67%

Table-II shows distribution of age. The highest number of cases 12 (40%) were in the  $2^{nd}$  decade.

# Table-IIIOccupation of patients

Occupation	Number	Percentage
Manual worker	22	73.33%
Sedentary	08	26.67%

Table-III shows distribution of occupation. By occupation 22 (73.33%) were manual workers, 08 (26.67%) were sedentary workers.

Table-IVLevel of disc herniation

Level	Number	Percentage
L4/5	25	83.33%
L5/S1	05	16.67%

Table-IV shows level of disc herniation. Most common site of disc prolapse was at the level of L4/5 25 (83.33%).

Table-V				
Side of disc	herniation			

Number	Percentage
06	20%
20	66.67%
04	13.33%
	Number 06 20 04

Table-V shows side of disc herniation. More involvement was at the left side 20 (66.67%).

Table- VI				
Complication (10%)				
Complication	Number	Percentage		
Wound infection	2	6.67%		
Discitis	1	3.33%		

Table VI

Table VI showing complications. 3 (10%) patients developed complications.

Table VIIFunctional outcome study

Result	Number of patients	Percentage
Excellent	14	46.67%
Good	10	33.33%
Fair	3	10%
Poor	3	10%

Table VII shows functional outcome. Here excellent in 14 (46.67%), good in 10 (33.33%), fair in 3(10%) cases & poor in 3 (10%).

Table-VIII		
Final outcome of the study		

Result	No. of patients	Percentage
Satisfactory	24	80%
Unsatisfactory	06	20%

Table VIII shows final outcome. Satisfactory outcome in 24 (80%) & Unsatisfactory outcome in 06 (20%) cases.

### DISCUSSION

In developing countries like Bangladesh, the underlying cause of back pain is usualy undiagnosed & untreated. This is primarily due to our ignorance, poverty, fatilistic attitude & most importantly due to lack of proper facilities for their diagnosis & management. The key to good results in disc surgery is appropriate patient selection. In this series of 30 cases, those patients were selected who fulfilled the criteria for surgical treatment as in other national & international series. Prolapsed disc usually occurs in the adult population, both among the young & the old. But the highest incidence of prolapsed disc in most of the reported series has been 30-50 years of age. In series of, Raff<sup>10</sup> in 1959, most of the patients were between the ages of 30-50 years, the youngest being 11 years old & the oldest 84 years old; Khan<sup>11</sup> in 1991, 91.21% of patients were aged between 21-50 years. In this series of 40% of the patients were in the age group of 21-30 years.

The lowest age incidence in the present series was 21 years and highest was 45 years. Most of the reported series found 72-75% were male & 20-25% female10,11. In this series 46.67% were male and 53.33% were female patients, 73.33% cases were manual worker & 26.66% were sedentary population.

#### **EVALUATION OF THE RESULTS**

By using Modified Macnab<sup>8</sup> criteria we grade the patient's outcome in 4 categories- Excellent, Good, Fare & Poor. The outcome based on- pain, restriction of mobility, return to work & level of activity. We reported subjective outcome (e.g. patient report of symptoms & satisfaction), objective outcomes (e.g. findings of clinical examination) & functional outcomes (e.g. ability to work). Williams<sup>12</sup> in 1978 defined surgical 'Cure as those patients being economically productive & comfortable without the need for analgesic medication. He reported 91% cure rate in 530 patients followed upto 5.5 years after micro discectomy. Ramani<sup>13</sup> in 1996 reported 98% of patient's relieved radicular pain in his 250 patients of micro discectomy. Khan et al<sup>11</sup> in 1991, showed in their series 88.43% cases were either cured or benefited after disc surgery. There was recurrence of symptoms in 5.43% cases & symptoms became worse in 5.43% cases. In the Ali<sup>14</sup> in 1995, series there was complete relief of symptoms after operation in 66.66% cases & partial relief of symptoms in 28.88% cases; i.e-95.55% cases were either cured or benefited from surgery. In our series out of total 30 patients- Excellent in 46.67%, good in 33.33%, fair in 10% & poor in 10% cases. Satisfactory outcome in 80% cases & unsatisfactory in 20% cases. Average length of hospital stays was 5 days. 10% patients developed complications.

#### CONCLUSION

Prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc is the primary cause of low back pain & sciatica. About 10% cases of lumbago & sciatica need surgical treatment. Fenestration & Discectomy is a rapidly changing field & undoubtly there will be important advances during the upcoming years.

#### REFERENCES

- Cole AJ, Herring SA, editors. Preface. The Low Back Pain Handbook. 1<sup>st</sup> ed. New Delhi, India: Jaypee Brothers, 1997.
- Morgan-Hough, C.V.J., Jones, P.W. & Eisenstein, S.M. Primary revision lumbar discectomy. Bone Joint Surgery [Br] 203; 85(B):871-74.
- Hu SS, Carison GD, Tribus CB. Disorders, Diseases & Injuries of the spine. In: Skinner HB.editor. Current

Clinical, MRI And Arthroscopic Correlation in Meniscal and Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injuries

Diagnosis & treatment in Orthopedics. 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed. New York: Lange Medical Books/ McGraw-Hill 2000; 197-98.

- Young, Shaffrey JN, Laws CI, Lovell ER. Lumbar Disc surgery in a fixed Compensation population: A model for influence of secondary gain on surgical outcome, Surg Neural 1997; 48:552-59.
- York JE, Thomson MK, Perez-Cruet MJ. History & Overview. In: Perez-Cruet MJ & Fessler RG editors. Outpatient spinal surgery. !st ed. Quality Medical Publishing, Inc. ST. Louis, Missouri 2002; 4-9.
- Macnab I. Negative disc exploration. J Bone Joint Surg 1971; 5-A (5): 891-01
- Hilseberger W & Witter R. Abnormal Myelogram in asymptomatic Patient. J. Neurosurgery 196;; 28: 2204-10.
- Hakelius A. Prognosis of sciatica: A clinical follow up of surgical & non surgical treatment. Actaorthop scand suppl) 1970; 129:1.

- Weber H. Lumbar Disc herniation: a controlled, prospective study with ten years of observation. Spine 1983; 8(2): 131-39.
- Raff J, Portland & Oregon. Some observation regarding 05 patients operated upon for protruded lumbar intervertebral discs. Amer J Surg 1959; 97:388-99.
- 11. Khan AA, Rahman ML& Ali MI. Prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc: surgical management of 142 cases in Bangladesh. J Neuroscience 1991; 7(2):53.
- Williams RW. Microlumbar duscectomy. A conservative surgical approach to the virgin herniated lumbar disc. Spine 1978; 4:137-140.
- Ramani PS, Chhagla A. Microlumbar Discectomy. In: Ramani PS. Editor. Text Book of Spinal Surgery. 1st ed. New Delhi: Jaypee Brothers. 2005;1: 420-29.
- Ali MI. Evaluation of the results of operative treatment of prolapsed lumbar intervertebral disc. MS (ortho) thesis 1995, University of Dhaka.



# Surgical Outcome of Brachial Plexus Surgery: Our Experience

Asif Ahmed Kabir<sup>1</sup>, Md. Awlad Hussain<sup>2</sup>, Md. Subir Hossain<sup>3</sup>, Purnendu Biswas<sup>4</sup>

#### Abstract

Number of road traffic accidents including motorcycle accidents are increasing in developing country like Bangladesh. Most of these accidents lead to brachial plexus injury. In my study total 27 patients were included. Significant advances have been made in the microsurgical mangement of the injured brachial plexus. In this study most of the patients achieved good to excellent functional outcome after surgery. But for patients with global brachial plexus injury operative plan should be modified.

### INTRODUCTION

The brachial plexus is a beautiful, intricate, and complex structure that comprises connections of the spinal nerves to their terminal branches in the upper extremity.



Fig.-1: Anatomy of Brachial Plexus.

The surgical treatment of brachial plexus injuries is relatively straightforward, once an accurate diagnosis is made.

- 1. Junior Consultant, Orthopaedics, Kurmitola General Hospital
- 2. Junior Consultant, Orthopaedics, Kurmitola General Hospital
- 3. Junior Consultant, Orthopaedics, Kurmitola General Hospital
- 4. Assistant Professor, Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhakla

### **OBJECTIVE**

Our aim is to improve the upper limb function of brachial plexus injury patients.



Fig: Oberline II transfer.



**Fig:** Nerve to long head of triceps was transferred to anterior branch of Axillary nerve.

**Correspondence:** Dr. Asif Ahmed Kabir, Junior Consultant, Kurmitola General Hospital



Fig: Interpositional sural nerve graft was done Erb's palsy.

#### **MATERIALAND METHOD**

Study	:	Prospective study
Sample size	•	Total patient 20 Post traumatic injury 19 Erb's palsy 1
Study time	:	May 2013 – October 2015
Study place	:	Kurmitola general hospital, Central international medical college hospital and other places.

#### **RESULTS:**

10 out of 13 upper brachial plexus injury patients developed good upper limb function. 2 patients were lost. One had no improvement.

3 patients had global injury. 1 patient had no improvement. One had good elbow flexion. One patient's result is yet to come.

3 patients had sharp penetrating injury. 2 of them developed good upper limb function. One patient's result is yet to come.

One baby had Erb's palsy, result is yet to come.

#### **CONCLUSION:**

Reconstruction of fully functional upper limb in patients who have sustained a brachial plexus injury is still suboptimal, especially for those patients with pen plexus injuries though significant advances have been made in microsurgical management of the injured brachial plexus.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Biggs MT. Posterior subscapular approach for specific brachial plexus lesions. J Clin Neurosci 2001;8:340-342.
- 2. Millar RA. Observations upon the arrangement of the axillary artery and brachial plexus. AM J Anat 1939;64:143-163.
- 3. Walsh JE-The anatomy of the brachial plexus.AMJ Medsi 1877;74:387-399.
- 4. Ballesteros LE; Remirey LM. Vriation of the origin of collateral blanches emerging from the posterior aspect of the brachial plexus. J Brachial plexus peripheral nerve inj. 2007;2:14.
- Tubiana R, Thomaine JM, Mckin E> Examination of the Hand and Uper limb. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. London: Martin Danitz;1998.P.286-327.
- Alnot JY, Indications and the therapeutic perspective.In:Alton JY, Narakas A editors. Traumatic brachial plexus injury, 1<sup>st</sup> ed. Peris: Expantion scientifique Francaise; 1996.pp.94-109.
- Chang DC. Nerve transfers in adult brachial plexus injuries: My Methods Hand Clinic2005;114:pp494-499.
- Davis EN, Chung KC. The Tinal sign: Ahislorical perspective plastic reconstruction surgery 2004;114:494-499.
- Leffert RD. Brachial plexus injuries. Churchil Livingstone; 1985.p.ix.
- 10. Herzberg G, Narakas A, Comtet JJ et al. Microsurgical relations of the roots of the brachial plexus. Practical applications. Ann Chir Main 1985;4:120-133.



# Degenerative Lumbar Canal Stenosis: Results of Operative Treatment

Md. Kamrul Ahsan<sup>1</sup>, Sohelur Rahman<sup>2</sup>, A.B.M.Morshed Goni<sup>3</sup>, Md. Badshah Mia<sup>4</sup>, Naznin Zaman<sup>5</sup>, Zabed Zahangiri<sup>6</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

Lumbar canal stenosis (LCS) is most commonly due to degenerative changes in middle age or older individuals. LCS is being more commonly diagnosed and may relate to better access to advanced imaging and to an aging population and the most usual indication for spinal surgery.

To see the outcome of operative management of degenerative lumbar canal stenosis.

Records of 42 men and 23 women aged 40 to 60 (mean, 49.5) years who underwent decompressive operation for degenerative lumbar canal stenosis between October 2003 and December 2015 at Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University (BSMMU) and in our private settings, Dhaka, were analyzed retrospectively. Post-operative follow-up at the time of discharge, 3 months and 6 months and 12 months were undertaken. Demographic data and surgical data including estimated blood loss (EBL), length of surgery, number of decompressive levels, complications and length of hospitalization were collected. Each of the patients was evaluated by the visual analogue scale (VAS) for pain, disability by using of Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), and Modified Macnab Criteria (MMC) for assessment of improvement.

The mean follow-up duration was 2.5 (range, 1–12) years. Most of the patients were over 41 years old. Mean age was 49.30 ( $\pm$ 7.93) within the range of 40–65 years. Males (64.61%) were predominant by females (35.38%). Maximum 40 (61.54%) patients were manual worker and rest 25 (38.46%) patients were sedentary worker. Maximum 45 (69.23%) patients had multilevel Stenosis and 20 (30.77%) patients had single level of stenosis. Mean estimated blood loss (EBL) was 125 ml (range: 50-200), mean surgery time was 153 min (range: 75-240), and average hospital stay was 6.12 days (range: 5 to 9). Only 3 (4.61%) patients had superficial wound infection, 3 (4.61%) patients had dural tear, and 2 (3.07%) patients had discitis. Most of the patients 56 (86.15%) Modified Macnab Criteria (MMC) was poor before operation but after operation at 3<sup>rd</sup> follow up (12m) 20 (30.77%), 33 (50.76%), 9 (13.85%) and 3 (4.61%) patients MMC was excellent, good, fair and poor respectively. Mean (SD) ODI was 70.20 ( $\pm$ 6.01) before operation and reduced to 17.36 ( $\pm$ 12.43) after operation at 3<sup>rd</sup> (12month) follow up. Mean (SD) VAS was 7.26 ( $\pm$ 0.94) before operation and reduced to 1.76 ( $\pm$ 1.61) (p < 0.003) after operation at 3<sup>rd</sup> follow up. Maximum 52 (80.0%) patients were satisfied with the treatment.

Decompressive operation is an effective method for the management of degenerative lumbar canal stenosis.

Keywords: Lumbar canal stenosis, degenerative, operative treatment.

3. Junior Consultant Orthopaedic Surgery, Kaliganj, Lalmonirhat, Bangladesh

<sup>1.</sup> Associate Professor of Spinal Surgery, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University (BSMMU), Bangladesh.

<sup>2.</sup> Orthopaedic Surgeon, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, CMH, Dhaka.

<sup>4.</sup> Junior Consultant Orthopaedic, Sadar Hospital, Sariathpur

<sup>5.</sup> Junior Consultant of Anesthesia, Department of Anesthesiology, Sarkari Kormogibi Hospital,

<sup>6.</sup> Resident Dept of Orthopaedic Surgery, BSMMU, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Correspondence: Dr. Md. Kamrul Ahsan, Associate Professor of Spinal Surgery, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, Shahbag, Dhaka, Bangladesh. E-mail: kahsansps@yahoo.com , Mob: +88-01711-809908

Degenerative Lumbar Canal Stenosis: Results of Operative Treatment

### INTRODUCTION

Spinal stenosis is one of the end processes in the pathogenesis of low back pain.<sup>1</sup> The initial concept of spinal stenosis was developed in 1911.<sup>2</sup> Approximately 1.2 million people in the United States have back and leg pain that is related to spinal stenosis.<sup>3</sup> Lumbar canal stenosis is defined as a syndrome in which narrowing of the spinal canal and intervertebral foramen related to degeneration of the lumbar intervertebral disks and/or joints, causes specific symptoms of the lumbar region and lower limbs.<sup>4–6</sup> The prevalence of "degenerative" lumbar canal stenosis has been suggested as ranging from 1.7 to 13.1%.7 Lumbar spinal canal stenosis is bilateral neurogenic claudication as well as intermittent pain radiating to the thigh or the leg, or both, that is worse with prolonged standing, activity, or lumbar extension and that is relieved by sitting, lying down, or lumbar flexion.<sup>8</sup> In addition, patients often describe intermittent burning, numbness, heaviness, or weakness radiating to the lower extremity.9 Degenerative lumbar canal stenosis is the most frequent indication for spinal surgery in patients past 65 vears.10

Degenerative LCS anatomically can involve the central canal, lateral recess, foramina or any combination of these locations. Central canal stenosis may result from a decrease in the anteroposterior, transverse or combined diameter secondary to loss of disc height with or without bulging of the intervertebral disc, and hypertrophy of the facet joints and the ligamentum flavum. Fibrosis is the main cause of ligamentum flavum hypertrophy which is caused by accumulated of mechanical stress, especially along the dorsal aspect of the ligamentum flavum. <sup>11</sup>

As lumbar spinal stenosis is not life-threatening and rapid catastrophic neurological deterioration is very rare, the decision to perform an operation should be made after non-operative management has failed to relieve pain and to improve function. The presence of non-progressive neurological deficits has been shown to relate poorly with physical function and therefore is not a reason to operate.<sup>12</sup>

Progression of a neurological deficit or the development of a cauda equina syndrome are two indications for urgent operative decompression. Non-operative management has been shown to be less successful in patients who have more severe pain and functional limitation.<sup>13</sup>

Many surgical techniques have been described, all based on the principles of decompression alone or decompression and fusion with or without instrumentation.<sup>14</sup> Classically decompressive procedures involved removal of disc and removal of the posterior elements including the lamina, spinous processes, interspinous ligaments, and sometimes under cutting the facet joints.<sup>15</sup>

Alternative techniques of decompression for the management of degenerative central and lateral-recess stenosis of the lumbar spine were designed in an attempt to preserve more of the posterior osseous and ligamentous structures, theoretically diminishing the problem of postoperative instability. These techniques include a beveled operative management with angular resection of only the anterior portion of the lateral aspect of the lamina, <sup>16</sup> selective single or multiple unilateral or bilateral laminotomy.<sup>17</sup> and lumbar laminoplasty.<sup>18, 19</sup>

Treatments of degenerative lumbar canal stenosis remain challenging because of their number, variety and complexity. The primary objective of this study was to find out surgical outcomes following decompressive procedures for LCS in a large retrospective cohort of patients. Secondary goals included examination of clinical data pertaining to Demographic data and surgical data including estimated blood loss (EBL), length of surgery, number of decompressive levels, complications and length of hospitalization were collected.

### METHOD

During the period of October 2003 and December2015, a total of 75 patients presented with the diagnosis of lumbar spinal canal stenosis and were operated on. Of these, 65 patients fulfilled our criteria of degenerative spinal stenosis (midsagittal antero- posterior diameter of the lumbar spinal canal at the most constricted level did not exceed 11-14 mm in MRI)( fig-1). and were thus selected for study. Patients with previous lumbar spine surgery (mostly disc surgery) and all patients with spondylolytic (isthmic) spondylolisthesis and instability by doing dynamic plain X-ray were excluded from the study .Eight patients lost from follow-up and two patient died during the follow-up period of causes unrelated to the spinal disease.

Post-operative follow-up at the time of discharge, 3 months and 6 months and 12 months were undertaken. Demographic data like age, gender, occupation, site of involvement and surgical data including estimated blood loss (EBL), length of surgery, number of decompressive levels, complications and length of hospitalization were collected. All patients were evaluated clinically and radiographically before and after surgery. Each of the patients was evaluated by the visual analogue scale (VAS) for pain, disability by using of Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), and Modified Macnab Criteria (MMC) for assessment of improvement. Informed verbal & written consent was taken from all patients. After proper evaluation of these patients, intervention was done by decompressive operative management. Statistical analysis was performed by using window based software devised with Statistical Packages for Social Sciences (SPSS-12) (SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL, USA). A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Surgical Technique: All the operations were performed by same surgeon. Patients were placed in a prone position under general anesthesia with modified kneeling with two sand bags under each side of trunk which allows the abdomen to hang free, minimizing epidural venous dilation and bleeding. Many surgical technique have been described, all based on the principles of decompression alone or decompression and fusion with or without instrumentation.<sup>14</sup> Classically decompressive procedures involved removal of the disc and removal of the posterior elements including the lamina, spinous process, interspinous ligaments and sometimes the facet joints.<sup>15</sup> A midline incision was made 5-10 cm long, in most instances from spinous process of the fourth lumbar vertebrae to the first sacral spinous process or regardless of the location. Then the subperiosteal dissection strips the muscles from the spines and laminae of these vertebrae on both sides of the lesion. Retract the muscles with a self retaining retractor and expose interspinous space of desire level and confirm level by C-arm or by verifying the position of sacrum by palpation. Secure haemastosis with electrocautery, bone wax and packs. denude the laminae and ligamentum flavum with curette. Ether hemi, Partial or total laminectomy was made with help of up cut to decompress the canal. Next retract the dura medially and identify nerve root and then retract the nerve root medially so that the underlying extruded fragment or pathology removed. Remove all cotton pledgets and control residual bleeding with Gelfoam. Closed the wound with absorbable sutures in the supraspinous ligament and subcutaneous tissue. Skin were close by non absorbable sutures or skin staples. After surgery neurological function was closely monitored. The patients were allowed to turn in bed at will and to select a position of comfort such as semi-Fowler position. Hydration was maintained and used adequate analgesic. Drain was removed on 2nd post operative period and discharge was permitted when the patient is was able to walk an void (usually 3-5 days). Isometric abdominal and lower extremity exercise were reinstituted. Lifting, bending and stooping were prohibited for first several weeks. The suture was removed in 10-14 days. Between the 4th and 6th postoperative week back school instruction was resumed or started provided pain is minimal. Lifting, bending and stooping were gradually restarted after the 6th week depending upon patient's improvement.

#### RESULT

The average follow-up period was 2.5 years (range 1-12 years). The follow-up included examination of the circulation in the lower extremities, neurological examination, plain X-ray lumbar spine antero-posterior and lateral view, dynamic roentgenogram of the lumbar spine and MRI. Most of the patients were over 41 years old. Mean age was  $49.30 (\pm 7.93)$  within the range of 40-65years. Males (64.61%) were predominant by females (35.38%). Maximum 40 (61.54%) patients were manual worker and rest 25 (38.46%) patients were sedentary worker. Maximum 45 (69.23%) patients had multilevel Stenosis and 20 (30.77%) patients had single level of stenosis. Mean estimated blood loss (EBL) was 125 ml (range: 50-200), mean surgery time was 115 min (range: (75-185), and average hospital stay was 6.12 days (range: 5 to 9). Only 3 (4.61%) patients had superficial wound infection, 3(4.61%)patients had dural tear, and 2 (3.07%) patients had discitis. Most of the patients 56 (86.15%) Modified Macnab Criteria (MMC) was poor before operation but after operation at 3<sup>rd</sup> follow up (12m) 20 (30.77%), 33 (50.76%), 9 (13.85%) and 3 (4.61%) patients MMC was excellent, good, fair and poor respectively. Mean (SD) ODI was 70.20 (±6.01) before operation and reduced to 17.36 (±12.43) after operation at 3<sup>rd</sup> (12month) follow up. Mean (SD) VAS was 7.26 (±0.94) before operation and reduced to 1.76 ( $\pm$ 1.61) (p < 0.003) after operation at 3<sup>rd</sup> follow up (at 12 month). Maximum 52 (80.0%) patients were satisfied with the treatment.

Table IDemographic and clinical profile of the patients(n=65)

Age	Frequency	Percentage
Age		
<40	11	16.92
41-50	30	46.15
>50	24	36.92
Total	65	100.00
$Mean \pm SD (Min - Max)$	$49.30(\pm 7.93)$ (40 - 65)	
Gender		
Male	42	64.61
Female	23	35.39
Occupational status		
Manual Worker	40	61.54
Sedentary Worker	25	38.46
Level of Stenosis		
Single	20	30.77
Multi level	45	69.23

The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society



Fig-1: a, plain X-ray, b, d, f and e, c, pre-operative sagittal and axial MRI. g, post operative sagittal MRI

Level of stenosis/types of decompressive operation	Frequency	Percentage
Single	20	30.77
L4/5	13	20.00
L5/S1	7	10.77
Multiple	45	69.23
L1/2+L2/3+L3/4	7	10.77
L2/3+L3/4+L4/5	7	10.77
L3/4+L4/5+L5/S1	4	6.15
L4/5+L5/S1	27	41.53
Decompressive operation		
Laminotomy and Discectomy	33	50.77
Laminectomy, Laminotomy and Discectomy	17	26.15
Laminotomy and Discectomy and foramiotomy	10	15.38
Laminotomy and foramiotomy	3	4.61
Laminectomy, Laminotomy, Discectomy; foramiotomy and stabilization	2	3.07
Complications		
Discitis	2	3.07
Superficial wound infection	3	4.61
Dural tear	3	4.61

Table IIClinical profile of the patients (n=65)

Degenerative Lumbar Canal Stenosis: Results of Operative Treatment

VOL. 30, NO. 1, JANUARY 2015

Md. Kamrul Ahsan, Sohelur Rahman, A.B.M.Morshed Goni, Md. Badshah Mia, Naznin Zaman, Zabed, Zahangiri

Surgical data		
Parameter	n (range)	
Estimated blood loss (ml)	125 (50–200)	
Surgical length (min)	115 (75–185)	
Length of hospitalization (d®)	6.12 (5-9)	

Table-III

Table IVDistribution of patients by Modified Macnab Criteria (n=65).

	Poor	Fair	Good	Excellent
Before operation	56 (86.15)	9(13.85)		
At the time of discharge	4(6.15)	56(86.15)	5(6.69)	
1 <sup>st</sup> follow up(3m)	9(13.85)	43(66.15)	13(20.00)	
2 <sup>nd</sup> follow up(6m)	7(10.77)	15(23.07)	39(60.00)	4(6.15)
3 <sup>rd</sup> follow up(12m)	3 (4.61)	9(13.85)	33(50.76)	20(30.77)

# Table VResult of patients by ODI and VAS

	Mean $\pm$ SD	Min-Max	
Oswestry Disability Index (ODI)			
Before operation	$70.20 \pm 6.01$	55.0 - 80.0	
At 12 month follow up	$17.36 \pm 12.43$	5.0-60.0	
Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)			
Before operation	$7.26 \pm 0.94$	6.0 - 9.0	
At 12 month follow up	$1.76 \pm 1.61$	0.0 - 5.0	
Final outcome			
Satisfactory	52 (80.00%)		
Unsatisfactory	13 (20.00%)		

# Table VIModified Mcnab criteria.34

	Description
Excellent	No pain; no restriction of activity.
Good	Occasional back or leg pain of sufficient severity to interfere with the Patients' ability to do their normal work or their capacity to enjoy themselves in their leisure hours.
Fair	Improved functional capacity, but handicapped by intermittent pain of sufficient severity to curtail or modify work or leisure activities.
Poor	No improvement or insufficient improvement to enable increase in activities; further operative intervention required.

#### Discussion

Despite a common perception that patients with LCS have invariably progressive symptoms, the natural history of patients treated non-surgically does not support this belief.<sup>20,21</sup>

According to a recent review from the North American Spine Society, the clinical course of mild or moderate symptomatic LCS patient can be favorable in 30 to 50%, but less is known about the natural history of patients presenting with severe symptoms.<sup>22</sup>

Most patients with symptomatic LCS are tried on a variety of conservative treatments in spite of little evidence to guide their care. Much of the evidence for these treatments is extrapolated from studies of patients with non-specific low back pain or patients with radiculopathy due to a disc herniation. The need for better evidence from studies involving patients with LCS is recognized.<sup>22, 23</sup>

The natural long-term outcome of conservative management is often unsatisfactory and surgery is required with increasing frequency in management of degenerative lumbar canal stenosis. In our study maximum 30 (46.15%) patients were in age group 41 - 50. Mean (SD) age was  $49.30 (\pm 7.93)$  with in the rage of 40 - 65 years and males (64.61%) were predominant by females (35.38%) (Table I). But in the study of Nath et al. (2012), Pao et al. (2009) and Jolles et al. (2001), the mean age was 45.1 years, 62.0 years and 61.0 years respectively and Male (73.3%) were also predominant than female (26.7%) in these study.<sup>24, 25, 26</sup> In this study maximum 40 (61.54%) patients were manual worker and rest 25 (38.46%) patients were sedentary worker. Maximum 45 (69.23%) patients had multilevel stenosis, 20 (30.77%) patients had single level of stenosis (Table I) and most common level of involvement was L4/5 level in 51 (78.46%) patients (Table II) which were almost similar to other studies.<sup>24,25</sup> According to MRI findings in our study 30 (46.15%) patients had central stenosis, 11 (16.92%) patients had lateral stenosis and 24 (36.93%) patients had foraminal stenosis which was consistent with Sirvanci et al. study.<sup>27</sup> In this study 63 (96.92%) patients had low back pain, 58 (89.23%) patients had low back pain and leg pain, 61 (93.85%) patients had neurogenic claudication, 33(50.77%) patients had weakness in lower limb and 2 (3.07%) patients had bowel and bladder involvement which were almost similar to the study of Cavusoglu et al.<sup>28</sup>

In connection to the type of decompressive operation, maximum 33 (50.77%) patients had Laminotomy and Discectomy followed by 17 (26.15%) patients had Laminectomy, Laminotomy and Discectomy, 10 (15.38%) patients had Laminotomy and Discectomy and foramiotomy, 3 (4.61%) patients had Laminotomy and foramiotomy and 2 (3.07%) patients had laminectomy, Laminotomy, Discectomy, foramiotomy and stabilization. But in study by Nath et al<sup>24</sup>, in their prospective study performed laminectomy (6.30%), Laminotomy and Discectomy (71.8%), Laminotomy and Discectomy with instrumented stabilization (15.6%) and Laminotomy and Discectomy with posterior interbody fusion (6.3%).In another study found no difference in the outcome between patients with or without fusion in a comprehensive literature review, with a satisfactory of rate about 70% in all procedure.<sup>29</sup>

With regard to operative complications, only 3 (4.61%) patients had superficial wound infection, 3(4.61%) patients had dural tear, and 2 (3.07%) patients had discitis. The dural tear resolved after bed rest for 2-3 days with broad spectrum antibiotic and analgesic. The superficial wound infections were settled after local dressing and antibiotic coverage after culture and sensitivity. Discitis improved after prolong antibiotic and analgesic coverage along with bed rest.

Most of the patients 56 (86.15%) according to Modified Macnab Criteria (MMC) (Table V1) was poor before operation but after operation at 12 month follow up 20 (30.77%), 33 (50.76%), 9 (13.85%) and 3 (4.61%) patients in MMC was excellent, good, fair and poor respectively but in study of Nath et al<sup>24</sup> showed that 64.0%, 28.0% and 8.0% patients excellent, good and fair outcome respectively after 1 year follow up. Another two studies <sup>25,30</sup> showed 80% good or excellent results and 86% good outcome.

Mean (SD) ODI was 70.20 ( $\pm$ 6.01) before operation which was significantly improved to a mean 17.36 ( $\pm$ 12.43, p < 0.002) after operation at 12month follow up which were almost similar to other studies.25, 28

The VAS score was reduced in all cases. Mean (SD) VAS was 7.26 ( $\pm 0.94$ ) before operation and reduced to 1.76 ( $\pm 1.61$ ) (p < 0.003) after operation at 12 month follow up which was similar to other study.31

Maximum 52 (80.0%) patients were satisfied with the treatment. Getty<sup>32</sup> reviewed 31 patients and found 84% of them were satisfied. Posteacchini <sup>33</sup> described that 76-80% of the patients of lumbar canal stenosis had satisfactory result from surgery. Another two studies showed 84.9% and 79% patients were satisfied with their treatment respectively.<sup>25, 26</sup>

The most important practical point of view in our study is that the clinical diagnosis of LCS is based upon a history of symptoms consistent with neurogenic claudication and a physical examination that is commonly normal but can rule out other etiologies. The use of MRI is required to rule out other serious etiologies or when invasive procedures are being considered. Conservative therapies, activity modification, medications and physical treatments, are appropriate for first line management of symptomatic patients. When symptoms are not controlled with conservative therapies, a steroid injection (caudal or intralaminar with fluoroscopic guidance) should be considered. For patients with persistent severe pain and disabling functional impairment, a shared decision making process should be used to address the possible role of surgical intervention.<sup>34</sup>

### CONCLUSION

LCS is a complex clinical syndrome resulting from degenerative changes in the lumbar spine. Patients presenting with lumbar canal stenosis, decompressive surgery has a favorable effect on low back pain and leg pain and on overall disability. So decompressive operation is effective modalities of treatment for degenerative lumbar canal stenosis.

#### REFERENCES

- Wedge, J.H. 'The natural history of spinal degeneration. In: Kirkaldy Willis WH (ed) Managing low back pain. Churchill Livingstone', New York, 1983; 3-8.
- 2. Meerkotter DV and Craig J. Spinal stenosis at Baragwanath Hospital, Johannesburg, S Afr J Surg, 1988;26:10-12
- 3. Hart LG, Deyo RA, Cherkin DC. Physician office visits for low back pain. Frequency, clinical evaluation, and treatment patterns from a U.S. national survey. Spine 1995;20(1):11-9.
- The Japanese Orthpaedic Association, The Japanese Society for Spine Surgery and Related Research. The clinical guideline of lumbar spinal stenosis. Tokyo: Nankodo, 2011; 18–9.
- Katz JN, Harris MB. Clinical practice. lumbar spinal stenosis. N Engl J Med. 2008; 358: 818–25.
- Katz JN, Dalgas M, Stucki G, Katz NP, Bayley J, Fossel AH, Chang LC, Lipson SJ. Degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis. Diagnostic value of the history and physical examination. Arthritis Rheum. 1995;38:1236–41.
- Roberson GH, Llewellyn HJ, Taveras JM. The narrow lumbar spinal canal syndrome. Radiology. 1973; 107:89– 97.
- Grubb SA, Lipscomb HJ and Coonrad RW. Degenerative adult onset scoliosis. Spine, 1988;13:241-245.

- Airaksinen O, Herno A, Turunen V, Saari T. and Suomlainen O. Surgical outcome of 438 patients treated surgically for lumbar spinal stenosis. Spine, 1997; 22: 2278-2282.
- Szpalski M, Gunzburg R. Lumbar spinal stenosis in the elderly: an overview. Eur Spine J 2003; 12(Suppl 2): S170-S75.
- Sairyo K, Biyani A, Goel V, Leaman D. A the mechanism of ligamentum flavum hypertrophy: a multidisciplinary investigation based on clinical, biomechanical, histologic, and biologic assessments. Spine, 2005; 30(23):2649–56.
- Stucki G, Liang MH, Lipson SJ, Fossel AH and Katz JN. Contribution of neuromuscular impairment to physical functional status in patients with lumbar spinal stenosis. J. Rheumatol, 1994; 21:1338-1343.
- 13. Herno A, Airaksinen O, Saari T, Luukkonen M. 'Lumbar spinal stenosis: a matched-pair study of operated and non-operated patients', British J Neurosurg1996;10: 461-465.
- Sengupta DK, Herkowitz HN. Lumbar canal stenosis .Management strategies and indication of surgery. Orthop Clin North Am.2003; 34:281-295.
- Wiltse LL, Kirkaldy-Willis WH, Malvor GW. Management of spinal stenosis. Clin Orthop Relat Res.1976; 115:83-91.
- Kanamori M, Matsui H, Hirano N, Kawaguchi Y, et al. 'Trumpet operative management for lumbar degenerative spinal stenosis', J. Spinal Disord. 1993; 6: 232-237.
- 17. Aryanpur J, Ducker T. 'Multilevel lumbar laminotomies: an alternative to operative management in the management of lumbar stenosis', Neurosurgery 1990; 26: 429-432.
- Matsui H, Tsuji H, Sekido H, Hirano N, Katoh Y. and Makiyama N. 'Results of expansive laminoplasty for lumbar spinal stenosis in active manual workers', Spine1992; 17: 537-540.
- Spivak JM. 'Current Concepts Review Degenerative Lumbar Spinal Stenosis', J Bone Joint. Surg Am. 1998; 80(7):1053-66.
- Amundsen T, Weber H, Nordal HJ, Magnaes B, Abdelnoor M, Lilleâs F. Lumbar spinal stenosis: conservative or surgical management?: A prospective 10-year study. Spine 2000; 25(11):1424–35. Discussion 35. [PubMed: 10828926]
- Atlas SJ, Keller RB, Wu YA, Deyo RA, Singer DE. Longterm outcomes of surgical and nonsurgical management of lumbar spinal stenosis: 8 to 10 year results from the maine lumbar spine study. Spine 2005;30(8):936–43. [PubMed: 15834339]
- 22. Watters WC 3rd, Bono CM, Gilbert TJ, Kreiner DS, Mazanec DJ, Shaffer WO, et al. An evidence based clinical

Degenerative Lumbar Canal Stenosis: Results of Operative Treatment

guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of degenerative lumbar spondylolisthesis. Spine J. 2009 Jul; 9(7):609-14

- Chou R, Qaseem A, Snow V, Casey D, Cross JT Jr, Shekelle P, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain: a joint clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society. Ann Intern Med 2007 Oct 2;147(7):478-91.[PubMed: 17909209]
- Nath R, Middha S, Gupta AK. and Nath R. 'Functional outcome of surgical management of degenerative lumbar canal stenosis', Indian J Orthop 2012; 46(3): 285–290.
- Pao JL, Chen WC. and Chen PQ. 'Clinical outcomes of micro endoscopic decompressive Laminotomy for degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis'. Eur Spine J 2009; 18: 672–678.
- 26. Jolles BM, Porchet F and Theumann N. 'Surgical management of lumbar spinal stenosis', Five-year followup. J Bone Joint Surg.Br 2001;83: 949–953. 27. Sirvanci M, Bhatia M, Ganiyusufoglu KA, Duran C, Tezer M, Ozturk C et al. Degenerative lumbar canal stenosis: correlation with Oswestry Disability Index and MR Imaging. Eur Spine J 2008;17:679-685.
- Cavusoglu H, Kaya RA, Turkmenoglu ON, Tuncer C, Colak I. and Aydin, Y. 'Midterm outcome after unilateral approach for bilateral decompression of lumbar spinal

stenosis: 5-year prospective study', Eur Spine J 2007;16 : 2133–2142.

- 29. Turner JA, Ersek M, Herron L, and Deyo R. 'Surgery for lumbar canal stenosis' attempted meta-analysis of the literature. Spine 1992;17:1-8.
- Ganz JC. 'Lumbar spinal stenosis: Postoperative results in terms of preoperative posture-related pain.' J Neurosurg 1990; 72:71-74.
- Malmivaara A, Slatis P, Heliovaara M, Sainio et al. Surgical or nonoperative management for lumbar spinal stenosis? A randomized controlled trial', Spine 2007; 32: 1–8.
- Getty CJ. 'Lumbar spinal stenosis: The clinical spectrum and the results of operation. J Bone Joint Surg Br.1980; 62:481-485.
- Postacchini, F, Cinotti G, Gumina S. and Perugia, D. Longterm results of surgery in lumbar stenosis, 8-year review of 64 patients. Acta Orthop. Scandinavica, Supplementum 1993; 251:78-80.
- Macnab I. Negative disc exploration: an analysis of the cause of nerve root involvement in sixty -eight patients. J Bone Joint Surg (Am) 1971; 53:891-903.
- Genevay S, Atlas SJ. Lumbar Spinal Stenosis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2010; 24(2): 253–265.



# Microenvironment That Underlies Healing of Bone Wounds: Why Do Bone Wounds Heal: A Short Review

Sultana Gulshana Banu<sup>1</sup>, G. M. Jahangir Hossain<sup>2</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

Healing of bone wounds is simply an increase and acceleration in the biological events that normally occur in bones for their physiological development, metabolism and remodelling. It involves signaling through hormones, growth factors and transcription factors induced by changes in the bone microenvironment caused by trauma. The initial leading role is played by the wound haematoma which is a reservoir of hypoxic necrotic tissue deprived of essential nutrients. The tissue hypoxia acts as major stimulus for inflammation, angiogenesis and osteogenesis, operating through induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs), and hypoxia-inducible factor 1(HIF1). A number of genes are upregulated in the haematoma cells for functioning of various factors through the stages of bone wound healing. The processes are complex, overlapping but well organized and regulated, and actually reflect an enhancement of the physiological events of bone regeneration and remodelling that target areas needing repair.

Key words: Healing, wound haematoma, pro-inflammatory cytokines, vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs), hypoxia-inducible factor 1(HIF1).

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Healing of bone wounds, either accidental or surgical, is a complex biological process that tries to restore the skeletal structure and its biomechanical function to the pre-injury level. It involves complex cell integration and cell-intercellular matrix interaction, with a rich participation from various growth factors<sup>1,2</sup>. Bone has an intrinsic capacity to regenerate, and it undergoes continuous remodelling for normal skeletal development throughout the life. Defects caused by trauma, infection or surgical resection need an enhanced capacity for regeneration to be reconstructed<sup>2</sup>. The events operate at tissue, cellular and molecular levels, and many of these recapitulate the processes involved in early embryonic skeletal development<sup>1,2,3</sup>.

#### Normal bone homeostasis: modelling and remodelling:

Bone maintains its structural homeostasis by modelling and remodelling. Modelling is the process by which bones adapt to, or change their overall shape in response to the physiological influences and mechanical forces they encounter<sup>4</sup>. Remodelling is the process of bone renewal. It involves removal of old bone from the skeleton and formation of new bone with subsequent mineralization<sup>4</sup>. While during modelling bones widen and change their axes upon biomechanical forces exerted on them from day-to-day activities, sequential phases of bone resorption and formation take place in remodelling process that try to maintain normal bone shape and mineralization. Remodelling starts in the early intrauterine life and continues till death. Modelling is mostly active in the growing age and is much less frequent than remodelling in the adulthood<sup>4,5</sup>. Though remodelling is a random process, it targets areas that need repair <sup>6</sup>.

#### What factors stimulate an wounded bone to heal:

Healing of bone wound progresses through three major sequential but overlapping stages: inflammatory, reparative and remodelling stages. These stages again are composed

<sup>1.</sup> Associate Professor, Department of Pathology, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, (BSMMU), Dhaka.

<sup>2.</sup> Consultant, Department of Orthopaedic and Sports Trauma, Border Guard Hospital, Dhaka.

**Correspondence:** Dr. Sultana Gulshana Banu, Associate Professor, Department of Pathology, Bangabandhu Sheikh Mujib Medical University, (BSMMU), Dhaka.

of various biochemicomechanical steps. For example, the inflammatory stage goes through important steps of haematoma formation, inflammation and angiogenesis or granulation tissue formation<sup>7</sup>. Throughout these stages a series of molecular, cellular and tissue transformations occur in a well-orchestrated concert. The events are very natural and considered physiological rather than pathological, where the term 'recovery' is often used synonymously with 'healing'<sup>8</sup>.

Injury to bone brings changes to its microenvironment. Bone is a highly vascular organ. Any wound disrupts the vasculature depriving the bone cells of oxygen, nutrients including calcium and phosphate, growth factors and many other materials that are essential for their development. At the very beginning of a wound, tissue hypoxia, lack of nutrients and necrosis at the bone ends result from cut off blood supply. The overlying periosteum, surrounding soft tissue, and the marrow content are damaged. The extravasated blood is clotted filling the gap and traps red blood cells within its fibrin meshwork forming a haematoma<sup>7,8</sup>. The dead osteocytes from the necrosed bone ends add to the necrotic material which elicits an intense inflammatory response. Large number of acute and later chronic inflammatory cells are recruited to the injury site, invade the haematoma, and start clearing the tissue debris<sup>7,9</sup>. Low oxygen tension in the haematoma leads to anaerobic glycolysis with increased concentration of lactate and low pH<sup>10</sup>. The changes generate molecular signals which are conducted via hormones, growth factors and mechanical regulation, and act on lineage-specific stem cells in the periosteum and bone-marrow. The progenitor cells differentiate into various cellular phenotypes, for example chondroblasts, osteoblasts, osteocytes and osteoclasts which actively participate in the cartilage and bone production and remodelling<sup>7,10,11</sup>.

#### WHAT HAPPENSAT SUBMOLECULAR LEVEL

It has been observed that changes in micronvironment of bone caused by a wound involve a number of genes that are upregulated. The crucial role played to induce an enhanced regeneration and remodelling in the wounded bone is by haematoma. Animal models showed a delay in fracture healing upon removal of the fracture haematoma (FH), and an induction of bone formation by subcutaneous implantation of the fracture haematoma<sup>12,13</sup>. The haematoma of a bone wound is not only a reservoir of hypoxic dead and dying tissue, it also contains numerous immune cells that come from the severed blood vessels and the damaged bone-marrow<sup>10</sup>. The innate immune cells and the CD4+ T lymphocytes well adapt to the oxygendeprived microenvironment<sup>14</sup>. A unique transcription factor called 'hypoxia-inducible factor 1'(HIF1) acts as a regulator to adapt to this oxygen depleted state<sup>15</sup>. It regulates cellular adaptation to oxygen deprivation by switching cell energy metabolism from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolytic pathways. Several genes are upregulated by HIF1 to activate enzymes of anaerobic glycolysis like lactate dehydrogenase (LDHA) and phosphoglycerate kinase 1 (PGK1) genes<sup>16</sup>.

Again, proper healing of bone wound needs adequate blood supply with nutrients. Compromised blood supply in accidental or surgically wounded bone should essentially be restored. This is done by angiogenesis. Hypoxia is an important stimulant of angiogenesis<sup>17</sup>. It causes expression of vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) which induce proliferation of vascular endothelium and formation of granulation tissue. VEGFs also stabilize HIF protein which in turn maintains a hypoxic condition as a persistent stimulus<sup>18</sup>.

The reparative stage of bone healing gradually ensues with formation of soft and hard callus. Chondroblasts and osteoblasts come into play from committed undifferentiated mesenchymal cells in the bone-marrow, periosteal and endosteal reserves. The vascular (granulation) tissue is also a reservoir of pluripotent stem cells, chondroblasts and osteoblasts<sup>8</sup>. The committed osteoprogenitor cells proliferate and differentiate into osteoblasts that synthesize and subsequently mineralize bone matrix. This osteogenesis thus largely depends on angiogenesis and both are regulated by an interplay of HIF1 and VEGFs. The committment of undifferentiated mesenchymal cells to bone-forming osteoblasts is also closely regulated by at least two transcription factors: Runx2 and Osterix. Increased expression of these two factors has been found experimentally in the early fracture haematoma<sup>10,19</sup>.

Studies also showed increased local expression in the haematoma cells of HIF1, LDHA, VEGF, genes of proinflammatory factors like interleukins 8 and 6 (IL-8, IL-6), chemokine receptor gene e.g. CXCR4, and osteoblast marker SPP1. LDHA gene upregulation was seen 6-72 hours post-fracture, reflecting adaptation to hypoxia<sup>10</sup>. IL-8, IL-6, CXCR4 and VEGF expression indicate hypoxia-mediated inflammation and angiogenesis. Runx2 and SPP1 upregulation reflects osteogenic differentiation<sup>10</sup>.

#### CONCLUSION

The microenvironment in the bone wound haematoma plays the driving force in healing and restoration of the

48

wound. Hypoxia, low tissue pH and lack of nutrients induce inflammation, angiogenesis and osteogenesis. The hypoxia-inducible factor, in addition, regulate angiogenesis and differentiation of mesenchymal cell lineage. Only a few of so many events operating in bone wound healing are discussed here. These events are very basic and so natural that healing is inevitable unless interrupted by complications.

#### REFERENCES

- Al-Aql ZS, Alaql AS, Graves DT, Gerstenfeld LC, Einhorn TA. Molecular mechanisms controlling bone formation during fracture healing and distraction osteogenesis. J Dent Res. 2008 Feb; 87(2): 107-118.
- Dimitriou R, Jones E, McGonagle D, Giannoudis PV. Bone regeneration: current concepts and future directions. BMC Medicine 2011; 9:66.
- 3. Einhorn TA, Gerstenfeld LC. Fracture healing: Mechanisms and interventions. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. Online [Internet]. Sept 30 2014.
- Clarke B. Normal bone anatomy and physiology. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008 Nov; 3(Suppl 3): S131-S139.
- 5. Kobayashi S, Takahashi HE, Ito A, Saito N, Nawata M, Horiuchi H, et al. Trabecular minimodelling in human iliac bone. Bone 2003; 32: 163-169.
- 6. Burr DB. Targeted and non-targeted remodelling. Bone 2002; 30:5-7.
- Marzona L, Pavolini B. Play and players in bone fracture healing match. Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab. 2009 May-Aug; 6(2): 159-162.
- 8. Ardolino A. Healing and recovery: Is there a difference. The Internet Journal of Surgery. 2006. Vol 13; Number 1.
- 9. Kolar P, Schmidt-Bleek K, Schell H, Gaber T, Toben D, Schmidmaier G, et al. The early fracture haematoma and its potential role in fracture healing. Tissue Eng Part B Rev. 2010 Aug; 16(4): 427-34.

Sultana Gulshana Banu, G. M. Jahangir Hossain

- Kolar P, Gaber T, Perka C, Duda GN, Buttgereit F. Human early fracture haematoma is characterized by inflammation and hypoxia. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2011 Nov; 469(11): 3118-3126.
- Bab IA, Sela JJ. Cellular and molecular aspects of bone repair. Principles of Bone Regeneration. In: Sela JJ, Bab IA (Eds.), Springer Science+Business Media, LLC 2012. p11-41.
- Grundnes O, Reikeras O. The importance of the haematoma for fracture healing in rats. Acta Orthop Scand. 1993 Jun; 64(3): 340-2.
- Park SH, Silva M, Bahk WJ, McKellop H, Lieberman JR. Effect of repeated irrigation and debridement on fracture healing in an animal model. J Orthop Res. 2002 Nov; 20(6): 1197-204.
- Tripmacher R, Gaber T, Dziurla R, Häupl T, Erekul K, Grützkau A, et al. Human CD4+ T cells maintain specific functions even under conditions of extremely restricted ATP production. Eur J Immunol. 2008 Jun; 38(6): 1631-42.
- 15. Gaber T, Dziurla R, Tripmacher R, Burmester GR, Buttgereit F. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) in rheumatology: low O2! See what HIF can do! Ann Rheum Dis. 2005; 64: 971-980.
- Semenza GL, Roth PH, Fang HM, Wang GL. Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem. 1994; 269: 23757-23763.
- 17. Beamer B, Hettrich C, Lane J. Vascular endothelial growth factor: An essential component of angiogenesis and fracture healing. HSS J. 2010 Feb; 6(1): 85-94.
- Semenza GL. Regulation of cancer cell metabolism by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Semin Cancer Biol. 2009; 19: 12-16.
- Schipani E, Maes C, Carmeliet G, Semenza GL. Regulation of osteogenesis-angiogenesis coupling by HIFs and VEGF. J Bone Miner Res. 2009 Aug; 24(8): 1347-1353.



# Open Reduction and Internal Fixation by Locking Compression Plate – An Excellent Option for the Treatment of Fracture of the Distal Femur

Mohammad Mahfuzur Rahman<sup>1</sup>, Kamruzzaman<sup>2</sup>, Md. Jahangir Alam<sup>3</sup>, A.F.M. Ruhal Haque<sup>4</sup>, Asit Baran Dam<sup>5</sup>

#### Abstract

Our aim was to evaluate the results of open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plate in upper tibial fractures/ tibial plateau fractures. Fracture of the upper tibia is now very common in orthopaedic practice due to present speedy life. It is most common in MVA. Although treatment option varies from surgeon to surgeon and types of fracture but open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plate is the excellent option for the treatment of fracture of the upper tibia. It has a great role in rapid healing by ensuring absolute stability. Now a days this method becoming familiar to the orthopaedic surgeons worldwide. This was a randomized prospective study carried out at Trauma Center, Shyamoli, Dhaka from December 2013 to May 2015. 28 patients were selected for the study irrespective of sex and age ranges from 21 yrs to 59 yrs. Among them 16 patients were right sided, 11 patients were left sided and 1 was bilateral. All the patients were treated by open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plates under C-arm control. All the fractures were united well within 12 weeks without any complications except two cases who had delayed union. They united within 18 weeks. open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plate is an excellent treatment option for the fracture of the distal femur. It can ensure excellent absolute fixation which encourage rapid healing with maintaining good articular congruity. So we should perform open reduction and internal fixation by locking plate in fracture of the distal femur.

#### INTRODUCTION

Fractures around the knee joint are one of the most common fractures encountered and fractures of the distal femur are more common and are associated with high morbidity and mortality. The majority of the fractures are secondary to high velocity trauma, usually from motor vehicle accidents, fall from height etc. The fractures of the distal femur are difficult to treat which are associated with many complications.

Previously, there was a great reluctance towards operative management of the fractures of the distal femur due to high incidence of infection, non-union, mal-union, inadequate fixation and lack of proper instruments, implants and as well as antibiotics . Then fractures were managed by conservative methods. But, some problems were associated with conservative management. These are difficulties in reduction or maintaining the reduction. Also there were prolong immobilization which limited the utility of conservative management. The then traditional measurements (following the principles of Watson Jones & John Charnley) like manipulation of fracture and immobilization, however met with problems like deformity, prolonged bed rest, knee stiffness, joint incongruity, malunion, quadriceps wasting, knee instability and posttraumatic osteoarthritis.

4. Professor of Ortho-Surgery & Ex-Director, NITOR, Dhaka.

Correspondence to : Dr. Mohammad Mahfuzur Rahman, Orthopaedic Surgeon, Trauma Center, Shyamoli, Dhaka., anapaneyo@gmail.com

<sup>1.</sup> Orthopaedic surgeon, Trauma Center, Shyamoli, Dhaka.

<sup>2.</sup> Associate Professor (Ortho- Surgery), Bangladesh Medical College, Dhaka.

<sup>3.</sup> Assistant Professor (Ortho- Surgery), NITOR, Dhaka.

<sup>5.</sup> Assistant Professor (Ortho- Surgery), NITOR, Dhaka.

Now a days with the evolvement of orthopaedics, trends of management of the fractures of the distal femur – both intra-articular and supracondylar - have changed with more inclination to surgery with many internal fixation devices namely the dynamic condylar screw and plate, buttress plate, 95° angled blade plate, retrograde interlocking nail, locking compression plate etc. The aim of surgical management was to restore congruent articular surfaces of the femoral condyles maintaining the mechanical axis which eventually can achieve functional painless and good range of motion in the knee joint. The various clinical studies established that, bone beneath a rigid conventional plate are thin and atropic which are prone for secondary displacement due to insufficient buttressing and secondary fractures after removal of plate, fracture site take longer period to osteosynthesis due to interruption of vascular supply to bone due to soft tissue and periosteal stripping. So there was the invention of a new concept of biological fixation of the plates. But this needs the conventional plates to be accurately contoured to achieve good fixation, osteoporosis also posed the same problem for poor fixation with conventional plates. As more and more concepts about biological fixation become clearer the innovation of plates progressed lead to development of the Less Invasive Stabilizing System(LISS). Research to combine these methods has lead to the development of the locking compression plate(LCP). This plate has been regarded as technically mature which offers both locking and compression screw fixation of the distal femur and has proven to worth in complex fracture situations and in osteoporosis.

#### MATERIALSAND METHOD

It was a randomized, prospective clinical study, done at Trauma Center, Shyamoli, Dhaka during December 2013 to May 2015. 28 patients were selected for the study. Mean age of the patients about 40yrs(range 21yrs to 59yrs). 45% of the patients were motor cycle accidents. Other causes are MVA, fall from height, valgus or varus stress, twisting etc.

16 patients were right sided, 11 were left sided and 1 was bilateral. All the patients were operated within 10 days of trauma. All the patients were operated by open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plate.

#### SURGICAL TECHNIQUE

- Anaesthesia : Sub arachnoid block (Spinal anaesthesia)
- Position of the patient : Supine with a pillow below the knee.

- Incision: Lateral incision was made parallel to the shaft of the femur in all cases.
- Periosteum was elevated as minimum as possible.
- Anatomical reduction and interfragmentary compression of the articular components done manually as far as possible under direct vision. If possible, indirect closed reduction done without exposing the fracture.
- The plate length, axial and rotational alignments were checked by C-Arm image intensifier, if available.
- Temporary fixation was achieved by using multiple 1.5 mm K-wires. In case of intercondylar fractures, the fractured condyles were to convert into a single condylar block before fixation with LCP. In some cases, medial and lateral condyle were fixed with 6.5mm cancellous screws, directed lateral to medial before the LCP. Care was taken not to interfare with the other screws of the LCP.
- Plate was fixed and held in position by k-wires. Then the metaphyseal portion of the plate is fixed by 5.5mm cannulated locking screws. The shaft is fixed with the plate by 5mm self-tapping locking screws.
- · Wound closure done after securing haemostasis and

#### **Post Operative Care**

- Operated limbs were kept elevated for at least 48 hours.
- Drain removed after 48 hours.
- Isometric quadriceps exercise was advised when pain allow or from the next day.
- Stitches removed after 12-14 days.
- Knee bending exercise was advised. Partial weight bearing was delayed until 6 weeks. If visible radiological callus seen, partial weight bearing is allowed.
- Full weight bearing walking is started after satisfactory visible callus is seen, usually after 12-16 weeks.

#### RESULTS

All the patients were operated within 10 days of the fracture and followed up at least for 1 year.

#### Ortho-Make (January 2015 Vol 30 No. 1) 60



Fig.-1





## Assessment of outcome of treatment: Grading of outcome:

A. Clinically:

- i. Symptoms:
  - Pain
  - Swelling
  - Stiffness
  - Disfigurement
  - Walking capacity



Fig.-2

- Signs: Tenderness Deformity Range of motion Stability Shortening
- B. Radiological signs: Presence or absence of callus Alignment of angulation of fracture.

#### Criteria for evaluation of results of points:

- i. Pain:
  - a. No pain -6
  - b. Occasional pain 5
  - c. Stabbing pain in certain position, moderate pain -4
  - d. Severe pain, constant pain around knee after activity 2
  - e. Night pain, at rest -0.
- ii. Walking capacity:
  - a. Normal walking capacity in relation to age 6
  - b. Walking capacity out doors for at least one hour -4

Mohammad Mahfuzur Rahman, Kamruzzaman, Md. Jahangir Alam, A.F.M. Ruhal Haque, Asit Baran Dam

- c. Walking capacity out door > 15 minutes -2
- d. Walking capacity walking indoor only -1
- e. Wheel chair bound/ bed ridden -0

#### iii. Extension of leg:

- a. Normal extension 6
- b. Lack of extension  $(0^{\circ}-10^{\circ})-4$
- c. Lack of extension(>10°) -2
- iv. Range of motion:
  - a. At least  $135^{\circ}$  6
  - b. At least 120°- 5
  - c. At least  $90^{\circ}$  4
  - d. At least  $60^{\circ}$  2
  - e. At least 30°-1
  - f. 0° 0
- v. Stability:
  - a. Normal in extension and  $20^{\circ}$  flexion -6
  - b. Abnormal in  $20^{\circ}$  flexion 5
  - c. Unstable in extension( $<10^\circ$ ) 4
  - d. Unstable in extension(>10°) -2

Excellent result – total minimum of 27 points Good result – total minimum of 20 points Fair result – total minimum of 10 points Poor result – total minimum of 6 points

#### **Clinical results**

Clinical result	No. of cases	Percentage
Excellent	17	60.71
Good	06	21.43
Fair	03	10.72
Poor	02	7.14
Total	28	100

### DISCUSSION

The incidence of distal femoral fractures, one of the most common fractures, is increasing day by day due to MVA. The surgical treatment options for this fracture are also being modified day by day. With the aim of early restoration of alignment and strength of bone and function of the knee joint as well with minimal injury to the soft tissue, locking compression plate has been developed and now is being popularized.

It is the method where absolute stability is ensured. As a result, fracture heals early and patient can return back to his normal daily job rapidly. In our study, we presented 28 patients who underwent for open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plate for fractures of distal

femur, major cause of which was MVA. Among the 28 cases, 11 were intercondylar fractures . Others were fractures of the distal femur and supracondylar fractures for whom surgery was indicated. In this series, open reduction and internal fixation by locking compression plate done with less soft tissue injury and minimal periosteal injury as far as possible. We ensured good articular congruity. We also ensured rigid fixation and buttress effect. We did bridging type of fixation in case of metaphyseal comminuted fractures. Post operative hospital stay was 5 days to 15 days, mean post operative stay 10 days. The time for fracture healing was 12 to 18 weeks. Inspite of some complications like pain, infection, knee stiffness, we achieved 60.71% excellent result, 21.43% good, 10.72% fair and 7.14% poor result.

#### CONCLUSION

Treatment of distal femoral fractures with locking compression plate has an excellent outcome. It causes minimal soft tissue injury as well as periosteal injury and ensures excellent absolute fixation which encourage rapid healing. The anchorage of the locking head screw is excellent even in osteoporotic bone. Bone graft is not essential for the defect in the metaphyseal region even in osteoporotic bone. Locking compression plate provides a good biological fixation also. For satisfactory result to obtain, accurate positioning and fixation are required.

#### REFERENCES

- Lasinger O, Burgman B, Korner L. Tibial condylar fracture.
   20 years followup. J. Bone & Joint Surg 1986;68(AM): 13-19.
- Messmer P, Regazzoni P, Gross T. New Stabilization techniques of proximal tibial fractures (LISS/LCP). Ther Umsch 2007;60: 762-67
- Wagner M. General principles for the clinical use of the LCP. Injury 2003 Nov;34, Suppl 2: B31-42.
- 4. Sommer C, Gautier E, Muller M. For clinical application of the LCP. Injury 2003 Nov:34, Suppl 2:B31-54.
- Stoffel K, Dietaru, Biomechanical testing of the LCP how can stability in locked internal fixator be controlled. Injury 2003 Nov;34, Suppl 2: B 11-9.
- 6. Gonzailez HY, Mortan, Sainchez JF, Erasun RC. Early results with the new internal fixator system LCP and LISS: Prospective study. Acta Orthop Relat Res 2004 Aug;425:50-4.
- Bolhofner BR, Carmen B, Clifford P. The Results of Open Reduction and Internal Fixation of Distal Femur Fractures Using a Biologic (Indirect) Reduction Technique. *J Orthop Trauma* 1996; 10(6): 372-7
- Weight M, Collinge C. Early Results of the Less Invasive Stabilization System for Mechanically Unstable Fractures of the Distal Femur (AO/OTA Types A2, A3, C2, and C3). *J Orthop Trauma* 2004; 18(8): 503-8.



# The Role of Early Movement in Restoring Functional Status of Dislocated Elbow Joint Treated by Closed Reduction

ME Haque<sup>1</sup>, Maksuda Begum<sup>2</sup>, Md. Nazmul Huda<sup>3</sup>, Md. Golam Sarwar<sup>4</sup>, Md. Siraj-Ul-Islam<sup>5</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to find out a better method of management of dislocated elbow joint treated by closed reduction, to reduce the cost of treatment and to gain full range of elbow movement. 32 patients were selected and divided in 2 groups, having 17 patients in group A whom early movement of elbow joint after closed reduction was initiated within 10 days, 15 patients were in group B whom early movement was initiated within 21 days. The results were evaluated according to the suggestion of of Mehlhoffet al. (1988) and found excellent in 10 cases, good in 5 cases and fair in 2 cases in group A, and in group B, excellent in 7 cases, good in 3 cases and fair in 3 cases and poor in 2 cases. Initiation of early movement after reduction of elbow dislocation by closed maneuver is essential in restoring the functional status of elbow joint. This reduces elbow stiffness, pain, swelling and residual deformity and thus makes the individual able to resume normal work earlier. Therefore, early movement may be advised after reduction of elbow dislocation to improve the functional status of elbow joint.

### INTRODUCTION

The elbow isone of the highly constrained and stable joint ;yet dislocation is not uncommon. Because of its intrinsic stability redislocation is rare in elbow joint in contrast to shoulder joint. The opposing tension of triceps and flexors coupled with the hinge-like articulation confers stability that permits capsular healing even during active motion. The important medial and lateral stabilizing ligaments are also capable of healing with enoughmechanical integritythat repair for acute instability is seldom necessary (Hotchkiss, 1996).

In the adult, dislocation of the elbow is the second most common dislocation of major joint after that of the shoulder, accounting for 11 to 28 percent of all the injuries of elbow. The prevailing opinion is that the injury is relatively benign and has a generally favorable prognosis (Mehlhoff*et al.*, 1988). Most commonly this occurs in those less than 30 yrs of age, and outnumbers females by about 2:1 ratio (Morrey, 1993). Surprisingly, despite the prevalence, until recently, there have been relatively few analysis of this injury (Josepfsson*et al.*, 1984).

Acute elbow dislocation is an orthopaedicemergency. It should be reduced as early as possible to preventcomplications. It is sometimes confused with supracondylar fracture of humerus clinically so an x-ray should be done for correct diagnosis and proper management. Closed reduction of dislocated elbow is easier and patientgets comfort immediately after reduction. In case of unreduced old dislocation or failedclosed reduction, open reduction may be encountered. Early initiation of elbow movement, after reduction decreases pain and increasesfunctional status and reducesresidual disability of the patient and makes the patient fit for early resumption of work.

Correspondence: Dr. ME Haque, Assistant Professor (Ortho), Shaheed Suhrawardy Medical College

<sup>1.</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Shaheed Suhrawardy Medical College

<sup>2.</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Radiology & Imaging, NITOR

<sup>3.</sup> Associate Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Kustia, Medical college

<sup>4.</sup> Associate Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, DMC

<sup>5.</sup> Ex. Director & Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR.

Long term immobilization encouragesadhesion, fibrosis and contractures, all of which decreases the range of motion. The pericapsular structures of the elbow are particularly involved when a contracture developes during immobilization. The limitation of movement that has been observed at follow -up parallels the duration of immobilization during treatment. There is clinical evidence tosuggest that early mobilization is safe and does not increase the risk of redislocation. Prolonged immobilization of the elbow at 90 0 of flexion leads to shortening and fibrosis of the anterior part of the capsule, which then becomes adherent to the periarticular structures (Mehlhoffet al., 1988). Closed reduction of dislocated elbow provides excellent bony stabilization, joint congruity, early mobilization of the patient, economical and reduced prolonged hospital stay. Therefore, itwaslogicalto treat our patients with simpledislocation by closed reduction with initiation of early movement in one group and late movement of the elbow joint in the other to evaluate the results in the context of our socioeconomic condition.

#### **OBJECTIVES**

Objectives of this study was -

- To achieve increased range of motion of elbow joint in treated case of dislocation.
- To reduce flexion contracture and deformity of elbow joint
- To reduce residual pain, periarticular oedema and other complications of prolonged immobilization.

#### **MATERIALSAND METHOD**

This prospective study was was carried out at the National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR ), Dhaka from January 2001 to December 2002.

The patients were recruited from NITOR. Out of 38 cases with dislocation of elbow joint, 6 patient did not report for subsequent follow –up visit. Therefore, finaly this study comprised of 32 cases.

The patient were divided into two groups :

- a) Group A :Consist of 17 patients who were for early mobilization (10 days) after closed reduction.
- b) Group B:Consist of 15 patients who were advised for late mobilization (21 days) after closed reduction.

#### **Selection Criteria :**

- a) Cases were randomly selected irrespective of sex and occupation, but only adult patients (fused epiphysis) were included.
- b) Only simple and recent dislocations were included.

#### **Exclusion Criteria:**

- a) Age less than 16 years.
- b) Old unreduced /open dislocation.
- c) Fracture/habitual /recurrent dislocation.

#### **Clinical Assessment :**

- Complete history regarding cause, mechanism and duration of injury was taken.
- 2) The appearance was relatively typical with extremity held in slight flexion or in extention having few degrees of motion with pain and swelling.
- 3) The forearm was apparently shorter and the olecranon was prominent posteriorly.
- Normal bony landmarks of the elbow (isometric triangle) revealed distortion(two humeral condyles and tip of olecranon ).
- 5) The antecubital fossa appeared full because of the distal humerus.
- Concavity of the radial head was palpable posteriorly because of posterolateral type of displacement.
- 7) Range of motion of elbow was limited in all direction including pronation and supination.
- 8) A thorough clinical and neurovascular examination was carried out and the vital signs were recorded.

#### **Radiological Findings:**

- 1) Marked backward and sideways displacement of proximal end of ulna along with radius.
- Superior radioulnar joint remains undisplaced. a. Soft tissue swelling.

**Procedure for Closed Reduction** :The principles of treatment were to restore the articular alignment of the elbow with due promptness without causing further damage or overlookingneurovascular complications or associated musculoskeletal injuries. All closed reductions are done in emergency operation theatre at National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR ), Dhaka within 48 hours of dislocation under general anesthesia, adequate muscle relaxation and analgesic.

The patient was fully relaxed under general anesthesia in supine position. Assistant held the arm of dislocated elbow, the forearm was pulled and slightly flexed. With one hand sideways, displacement was corrected. The elbow was further flexed while olecranon process was pushed forward and lower end of humerus pushed The Role of Early Movement in Restoring Functional Status of Dislocated Elbow Joint Treated by Closed Reduction

backwards. When the elbow was relocated, olecranon remained in the trochlear grove.

After reduction, elbow was checked for full range of motion and stability. Immobilization of the reduced elbow joint done at 90 0 flexion and neutral rotation with long arm posterior slab. The distal nerve and circulation were checked again.

Check X-ray was taken to confirm the elbow joint reduction. A simple collar and caff sling was applied (Wilson, 1992;Morrey, 1993;SOLOMON *et al*, 2001).

#### **Post Reduction Care:**

In all patients reductions are done after admission and observed for next 24 to 48 hours. The arm immobilized by back slab and arm held in a collar and caff or on a pillow and observed for :Radial pulse, capillary filling time and colour, active finger and shoulder exercise, distal motor and sensory function, adequateanalgesic, radiographs must be taken to confirm the accuracy of reduction.

All patients are discharged with the following advice :

- In group A, gentle active movement started at 10 days and in group B, keeping the arm fixed on the table or within the elbow bag when active movement discarded.
- All passive or forcible movements were forbidden becauseit increases stiffness and may produce myocitisossificans.
- 3) No external massage.
- 4) Analgesic in intolerable pain.
- 5) Report at 10 days for next 21 days, fortnightly for 3 months and monthly for 6 to 12 months.
- At follow –up, range of motion of affected elbow was compared with contralateral normal elbow. Any loss of extension recorded and measured by Gonimeter.

- Follow-up radiographs were examined for any further dislocation, subluxation or heterotrophic calcification.
- Each patient was carefully questioned with regard to pain, discomfort and aching in the affected elbow. These symptoms are graded as none, mild moderate or severe.

#### **Rehabilitation :**

Rehabilitation starts from the very beginning of elbow joint and early ambulation to prevent muscle wasting and joint stiffness.

**Follow-up :** The patients were followed up regularly as per follow-up schedule for at least 6 months and maximum 16 months (average 10 months). During each visit they were examined clinically with emphasis on pain and range of motion inelbow joint and assessed radiologically.

#### Data analysis :

All necessary and relevant information regarding patients were recorded meticulouly and methodically as far as possible in apredesigned data sheet and they were compiled and tabulatedaccodding to the key variables. Statistical analysis of different variables were analysed according to standard statistical method and calculated by scientific calculator.

Assessment of outcome :Evaluation of the results of the cases in this study were done on the basis of clinical and radiological findings. In analyzing the results following criteria were considered :

Range of elbow movement, postreduction complications, total hospital stay, residual deformities, functional ability. The end result of treatment was categorized by the following criteria : Excellent, good, fair and poor.

Rating	Range of motion flexion Contracture (extension	Pain (aching)	Instability vulgusimposed	Neurovascular deficit(palsy/ ischaemi a /contracture )
Excellent	<pre>     loss in degrees)     </pre>	None	None	None
Good	<15	Mild	Mild	None
Fair	<30	Moderate	Moderate	None
Poor	>30	Severe	Severerecurrent dislocation	Any

 Table-I

 Rating of symptoms and grading of results.

#### ME Haque, Maksuda Begum, Md. Nazmul Huda, Md. Golam Sarwar, Md. Siraj-Ul-Islam

#### **OBSERVATION AND RESULTS**

Total 32 patients were studies. Group A (n=17) patients were advised immobilization at 10 days and Group-B (n=15) patients at 21 days after close reduction of dislocated elbow joint.

The age in group A ranges from 18 to 65 years. Mean age was 35. 9 years. The age in group B ranges from 21 to 60 years. Mean age was 34. 6 years. Highest no of pts of group A (35. 2%), group B(40%) belonged to third and fourth decade of life.

In group A hightest no of pts (64. 7%)are male and group B (66. 6%)are male. Regarding occupation like farmer, housewife, service holder, student, businessman, highest no of pts in group A (35. 2%) and in group B(40%) were farmers. Cause of injury like –RTA, fall from height, RTA was most common, in group A -70. 5% and in group B -66. 6%. Highest no of involvement was on left side, in group A 64. 7% and in group B 66. 6%. 40% of group A and 25% of group B patients had associated Colle's fracture, 60% of group A and 75% of group B patients had ankle sprain. In group A 76, 4% and in group B 66. 6% pts stayed in the hospital for 1 day.

During each follow –up patients were examined to exclude complication and treat accordingly whenever these were diagnosed. Some of them had more than one complication.

### CASE ILLUSTRATIONS Case No -1 (Group A)

 Table II

 Incidence of complications

		No of patients	Percentage
Group A	Extension loss	11	64.7
	Pain	7	41.1
	Joint instability	7 7	41.1
Group B	Extension loss	10	66.6
	Pain	6	40.0
	Joint instability	6	40.0

Final results were evaluated according to grading system.

#### **Table III** Final results

Results	No of patients	Percentage	
Group A	Excellent	10	58.8
	Good	5	29.4
	Fair	2	11.7
	Poor	0	0.0
Group B	Excellent	7	46.3
	Good	3	20.0
	Fair	3	20.0
	Poor	2	13.3

## Table-IV

Overall final outcome

Group	Satisfactory (%)Unsatisfactory (%)	
А	83.20	16.80
В	66.67	33.33



The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society

Miss Rehana Akhter, 18 yrs old admitted in the hospital on 14. 01. 02 with the history of fall on slippery ground and sustained trauma overright elbow. Then she developed pain and swelling and unable to move the elbow joint. Her general examination was normal and local examination reveals –swelling over right elbow, tenderness, elbow was in slight flexion, forearm short, all movements of right elbow joint was restricted. No distal neurological deficit was present. X-ray right elbow A/P & lateral view shows –posterior dislocation of elbow joint. Diagnosis was closed posterior dislocation of elbow joint. Close

reduction under general anaesthesia was done and immobilized by long arm back –slab in 900 flexion. Follow –up after 10 days cast was removed. Mild pain and swelling was present. Range of motion :45-120

Oflexion, 500supaination, 450pronation. Patient was advised to support the elbow with elbow bag, intermittent active movement of the elbow joint and follow- up after 3weeks. After 3 wks, elbow bag was removed. Pain, swelling absent. Range of motion: 15-1350flexion, 700 supaination, 650 pronation. After 6 wks Range of motion :0-1400 flexion, 800 supination, 750 pronation. After 6 months full range of movement of right elbow was present. After 10 months full range of movement, no neurovascular deficit, no joint instability was present. Result was excellent.

#### Case No -2(Group B)

Mrs Salma Alam, 41yrs old admitted in the hospital on 15. 09. 01 with the history of fall on slippery ground and sustained trauma over right elbow and left ankle joint. Then she developed pain and swelling and unable to move the right elbow &left ankle joint. Her general examination was normal and local examination reveals – moderate swelling over right elbow, tenderness, elbow was in slight flexion, forearm short, all movements of right elbow joint was restricted. No distal neurological deficit was present. Tenderness and swelling over

left ankle joint was present. X-ray right elbow A/P & lateral view shows –posterior dislocation of elbow joint. X-rat left ankle showed nobony lesion. Diagnosis was closed posterior dislocation of right elbow joint with left ankle sprain. Close reduction under general anaesthesia was done and immobilized by long arm back –slab in 900flexion. Short –leg back –slab given on left ankle. Follow –up after 10 days cast was removed. Mild pain and swelling was present. Range of motion :50 -1100 flexion, 450supaination, 400 pronation. Patient was advised to support

the elbow with elbow bag, intermittent active movement of the elbowjoint and follow- up after 3weeks. After 3 wks, elbow bag was removed. Mild pain, swelling absent. Range of motion:20-1250flexion, 650supaination, 600pronation. After 6 wks Range of motion :10-1400flexion, full supination, full pronation. After 6 months -10-1400flexionfull supination, full pronation. After 11 months mild pain, 10-1400flexionfull supination, full pronation, no neurovascular deficit, no joint instability was present. Result was good.



VOL. 30, NO. 1, JANUARY 2015

#### DISCUSSION

Case No -3(Group B)

Mrs. Showkat Begum, 41yrs old admitted in the hospital on 10.05.02 with the history of RTA and sustained trauma over right elbow and RIGHT ankle joint. Then she developed pain and swelling and unable to move the right elbow &right ankle joint. Her general examination was normal and local examination reveals - moderate swelling over right elbow, tenderness, elbow was in slight flexion, forearm short, all movements of right elbow joint was restricted. No distal neurological deficit was present. Tenderness and swelling over right ankle joint was present. X-ray right elbow A/P & lateral view shows -posterior dislocation of right elbow joint. X-ray right ankle showed no bony lesion. Diagnosis was closed posterior dislocation of right elbow joint with right ankle sprain. Close reduction under general anaesthesia was done and immobilized by long arm back-slab in 900 flexion. Shortleg back -slab given on left ankle. Follow -up after 10 days cast was removed. Mild pain and swelling was present. Range of motion :50-1100 flexion, 400 supination, 350pronation. Patient was advised to support the elbow with elbow bag, intermittent active movement of the elbow joint and follow- up after 6weeks. After 6wks, elbow bag was removed. Moderate pain and mild swelling was present. Range of motion: 40-1200 flexion, 600supaination, 550pronation. After 12wks swelling was absent, ulnar paresis present and moderate pain was present. Range of motion:35-1300flexion, 700 supination, 650pronation. After 6 months - ulnar paresis and moderate pain was present. 35-1350flexion, 800 supination, 750 pronation.. Final follow-up after 8 monthsulnar paresis present and moderate pain was present, 32-1400flexion800supination, 750 pronation was present. Result was poor.

Dislocation of elbow joint is relatively common problem in daily orthopaedic practice. Three factors must be evaluated in deciding on the timing and reduction of dislocation, as it is an orthopaedic emergency :

- 1) The extent of injury in multiple organ system of the patient.
- Type of dislocation and evaluation of neurovascular deficit.
- 3) The technical consideration.

ME Haque, Maksuda Begum, Md. Nazmul Huda, Md. Golam Sarwar, Md. Siraj-Ul-Islam

Early reduction is urgent and early movement is absolutely necessary to improve the functional status of dislocated elbow regardless of the method of reduction. Close reduction is easier and patient gets comfort immediately and needshighly competent surgeons together with good radiological equipments, techniciansand nurses. It is observed in this series that average age of the pts were 35. 9 yrs in group A and 34. 6 yrs in group B. In a series of Mehlhoff *et al.* (1988), average age of the pts was 39. 2 years.

In group A high test no of pts (64. 7%) are male and group B (66. 6%) are male. In a series of Mehlhoff *et al.* (1988), 34(65. 3%) were male and 18 (34. 6%) were female. Highest no of involvement was on left side, in group A 64. 7% and in group B 66. 6%. In a series of Mehlhoff*etal.* (1988), right elbow affected in 25 (48%) pts and left elbow affected in 27 (51. 9%). Inthisseries cause of injury like –RTA, fall from height, RTA was most common, in group A -70. 5% and in group B -66. 6%In a series of Mehlhoff*et al.* (1988), causes of injury were RTA in 8(15%) pts and sports injury in 5 (10%) pts. In this series 40% of group A and 25% of



The Journal of Bangladesh Orthopaedic Society

59

group B patients had associated Colle's fracture, 60% of group A and 75% of group B patients had ankle sprain. In a series of Mehlhoffet al. (1988), associated injuries were present in 5(10%) patients. In this series in group A, extension loss aws seen in 11(64.7%) patients, pain in 7(41.1%) and joint stability in 7(41.1%) patients. In group B, extension loss was seen in 10(66. 6%) patients, pain in 6(40%) and joint stability in 6(40%) patients. In a study of series of Mehlhoffet al. (1988), the average loss of extension (flexion contracture) at the last follow -up examination was12. 30 (range 0 to 460), flexion contracture was more than 300 in 7(15%). 24(45%) reported pain, it was mild in 17 pts and moderate in 7 pts. There was no gross instability of the elbow or recurrent dislocation. Kairy and Rahim (1993) found in there series that in group 1, there were pain in 3(13, 6%) pts extension loos in 1(4, 6%)5%)pts and was 300flexion contracture and in others less than 150. There was no gross instability. In group II, pain was present in 7(35%) patients, extension loss in 12(60%)pts and there was no gross instability of elbow joint. Protzman (1978) found that in his series all pts had full flexion, pronation and supination. There was average 7. 10 loss of extension. In this series, in group A, excellent result was seen in 10 (58.8%) patients, good in 5(29.4%) and fair in2(11.7%) patients. There was no poor result. In group B, excellent result in 7(46.3%), good in 3(20%), fair in 3 (20%) and poor in 2(13, 3%) patients. In a study of series of Mehlhoffetal. (1988), excellent result was seen in 36(69. 2%), good in 16(30. 7%) patients. No fair or poor results were seen. Most commonly, after closed reduction, the elbow is immobilized with the extremity dependent. The joint is held at 900 flexion in a posterior splint and forearm is in neutral rotation. Long time immobilization encourages adhesion, fibrosis, contractures all of which decrease the range of motion. The pericapsular structures of elbow are particularly involved when a contracture develops during immobilization. The initiation of motions that have been observed at follow -up parallels the duration of immobilization during treatment. Early initiation of elbow movement resultedleast flexion contracture and other complications. There is clinical evidence to suggest that early mobilization is safe and does not increase the risk of redislocation.

#### SUMMARY

The present study was carried out at the National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka from January 2001 to December 2002 to evaluate the results of "the role of early movement in restoring functional status of dislocated elbow joint treated by closed reduction ". The aim of this study was to find out a better method of management and to reduce cost of treatment and to gain full range of movement. In this study, 38 cases were selected. Out of them 6 did not report the subsequent follow –up. Hence the study comprised of 32 cases, They were selected randomly, irrespective of

sex. but only adult patients (fused epiphysis) were included. Among 32 cases, early movement were initiated within 10 days in 17patients (Group A) and late movement was initiated within 21 days in 1 patients (Group B).

In group A, 11(64.7%) patients were male and mean age was 35.9 years. In group B, 10(66.6%) patients were male 5 (33. 3 %) were female and mean age was 34. 6 years. Most of the dislocations in both groups were due to RTA (70. 5%) in group A and 66. 6% in group B. Most of the close reduction were done immediately after admission. Duration of hospital stay in group A and group B were 1-3 days. Among complications extension loss was seen in 11(64.7%), pain in 7(41.1%) and joint instability in 7 (41.1 %) in group A and in group B extension loss was seen in 10(66.6%), pain in 6(40%) and joint instability in 6 (40%) patients. The results were evaluated according to the suggestion of of Mehlhoffet al. (1988) and found excellent in 10 cases, good in 5 cases and fair in 2 cases in group A, and in group B, excellent in 7 cases, good in 3 cases and fair in 3 cases and poor in 2 cases.

#### CONCLUSION

Initiation of early movement after reduction of elbow dislocation by closed maneuver is essential in restoring the functional status of elbow joint. This reduces elbow stiffness, pain, swelling and residual deformity and thus makes the individual able to resume normal work earlier. Therefore, early movement may be advised after reduction of elbow dislocation to improve the functional status of elbow joint.

#### REFERENCES

- Azar FM, Wright PE II. Arthroplastyofshoulder and elbow. In:CanaleST, editor. Campbell's operative orthopaedices. 9thed. NewYork:Mosby-Year Book, Inc., 1998:pp. 473-520.
- Christian CA. Acute dislocation. In:CanaleST, editor. Campbell's operative orthopaedices. 9thed. NewYork:Mosby-Year Book, Inc., 1998:pp. 2631-56.

60

ME Haque, Maksuda Begum, Md. Nazmul Huda, Md. Golam Sarwar, Md. Siraj-Ul-Islam

- Hotchkiss RN. Fractures and dislocations of the elbow. In: Rockwood CA Jr., Bucholz RW, Green DP, Heckman JD, editors. Rockwood and Green's fractures in adults. Vol. 1, 4thed. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers. 1996:pp. 929-1019.
- Josefsson PO, Johnell O, GentzCF. Long-term sequlae of simple dislocation of the elbow. J Bone Joint Surg 1984;66A:927-30.
- Kairy RR, RahimZ. Dislocation of elbow joint in the adult review of the results after closed treatment. J Bangladesh OrthopSoc 1993;8:22-4.
- Mehlhoff TL, Noble PC, Bennet JB, Tullos HS. Simple dislocation of the elbow in the adult : results after closed treatment. J Bone Joint Surg 1988;77A:244-9.
- Morrey BF. Fractures and dislocations of the elbow. In :Gustilo RB, Kyle RF, Templeman DC, editors. Fractures and dislocations. Vol. 1. New york : Mosby – Year Book, Inc., 1993:pp387-498.
- Protzman RR. Dislocation of the elbow joint. J Bone Joint Surg 1978; 60A : 539-41. 9. Spring WE. Report of a case of recurrent dislocation of the elbow. J Bone Joint Surg 1953;35B:55.



# Evaluation of the Results of Arthroscopic Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction By Semitendinosus And Gracilis Autograft and Partial Menisectomy

Muhammad Ariful Islam<sup>1</sup>, Monaim Hossen<sup>2</sup>, A.M. Farid Uddin Ahmad<sup>3</sup>, Monirul Haque<sup>4</sup>, A.M. Fasiul Alam<sup>5</sup>, Faisal Amin Ahmed<sup>6</sup>

#### Abstract

The choice of graft for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction is a matter of debate, with the BPTB graft and quadruple graft of semitendinosus and gracilis being the two most popular options. Objective of this study was to evaluate the results of arthroscopic ACL reconstruction by graft of semitendinosus and gracilis tendon and partial meniscectomy. This prospective interventional study was conducted from Jan 2012 to December 2013 at National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Dhaka. Fourteen (14) patients with ACL and meniscus injuries were treated at the form of arthroscopic reconstruction of ACL by quadruple autograft of semitendinosus and gracilis tendon and partial meniscectomy. Accelerated ACL reconstruction rehabilitation protocol was followed. Patients were visited routinely and final outcome evaluation done at 24 weeks. Subjective and objective evaluation done according to IKDC knee examination form. Lysholm knee scoring scale was used to compare preoperative and postoperative score and to evaluate final outcome. Preoperatively all patient had either grade II or grade III positive Lachman test. Post operatively significant improvement was found, 86% had grade I and only 14% had grade II positive Lachman test. Preoperative Lysholm knee score was 52.64 and postoperative score was 90 that shows significant improvement (p<0.05). According to Lysholm knee scoring scale, excellent results (95–100 points) were obtained in 5 (33%) patients, good results (85–94 points) in 8 (53%) patients, fair and poor (7% each). For arthroscopic ACL reconstruction by BPTB graft and quadruple graft of semitendinosus and gracilis being two important graft options. Choice of semitendinosus and gracilis tendon, better outcome can be achieved than BPTB graft.

#### INTRODUCTION

Anterior cruciate ligament is an intra-articular, extra synovial structure present in the central complex of knee joint. It functions in concert with all other anatomical structures in the knee joint to control and limit motion and to maintain both static and dynamic equilibrium. It is commonly injured in athletic activities specially contact sports and motor vehicle accidents Surgical treatment of and techniques for ligament injuries in the knee have improved significantly over the past two decades. Today, arthroscopic reconstruction of the ACL with autogenous graft material is widely used for patients with anterior knee instability. The two most commonly used grafts are the central one-third of the patellar ligament (bone-tendon-bone, BTB) and the hamstring tendon (semitendinosus-gracilis, STG) construct.

<sup>1.</sup> Junior Consultant. Bashail ,Tangail

<sup>2.</sup> Associate Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>3.</sup> Junior Consultant, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>4.</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>5.</sup> Registrar, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, NITOR, Dhaka

<sup>6.</sup> Resident, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, BSMMU, Dhaka

Correspondence: Dr. Muhammad Ariful Islam Junior Consultant. Bashail, Tangail

62 Muhammad Ariful Islam, Monaim Hossen, A.M.Farid Uddin Ahmad, Monirul Haque, A.M. Fasiul Alam, Faisal Amin Ahmed et al

The anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) is an intra-articular ligament of the knee (Engle, 1991) whose primary function is to limit anterior tibial translation relative to the femur (Moore, 1992). Rupture of the ACL is a debilitating condition which can result in episodes of instability, pain and swelling, particularly during activities involving sidestepping and pivoting. Therefore, ACL reconstruction is advised following ligament rupture so athletes can return to an active and competitive lifestyle without experiencing episodes of instability.

The choice of graft for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction is a matter of debate, with patellar and hamstring tendons being the two most popular autologous graft options. Clinical and radiographic outcomes of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with these grafts fixed with modern devices and with use of accurate and proven surgical and rehabilitation techniques, both the grafts are an equivalent option for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction.

ACL reconstruction with a ST (semitendinosus) graft and a BPTB graft provided similar stability, knee function, and health-related quality of life, outcomes and resulted in fewer problems with kneeling and sensory loss.

#### SURGICAL PROCEDURE

After giving adequate anesthesia (spinal/spinal and epidural/ general), the patient was placed in supine position. The affected knee was correctly identified and a high pneumatic tourniquet applied. Using a sterile esmarch bandage the limb was exsanguinated, and the tourniquet inflated.

### **GRAFT HARVEST**

An oblique skin incision of about 4 cm was given, centered approximately 4 cm medial and just distal to the tibial tubercle or about three finger width below the medial joint line. Semitendinosus and gracilis tendon was hooked under Pes Anserinus fascia. Deep fascial bands were dissected.



Fig.-1: Incision and graft harvesting.



Fig.-2: Harvested semitendinosus tendon.

Open -end stripper was passed over the tendon one by one and advanced carefully in line with it giving firm, steady but gentle pressure and simultaneously applying counter- traction using the previously placed suture. Thus graft was harvested.

### **Graft Preparation**

Grafts were placed on graft master board on the back table. Then stripped off their residual muscle fibers proximally using the blunt end of scalpel blade. The tendon folded in quadruple and were placed together using a number 5 ethibond suture and using Krakow's technique. Overall prepared graft length was 7-8 cm and diameter was 8-9 mm. The tendons were looped (using an umbilical tape around the stitched tendons) and passed through various holes in the graft sizer. Pretensioning of the graft was done by tying the suture over the post on the graft master board so that all three strands can be placed under equal tension.





Fig.-3: Graft preparation, a- Endobutton, b- Fixing with endobutton, c- Prepared graft, d- Pretensioning of the graft.

#### Arthroscopy

An anterolateral and an anteromedial port was made through lateral and medial aspect of knee. Arthroscope was introduced and knee was examined systematically in the 'W sequence, starting from the suprapatellar pouch, then the patellofemoral joint, medial gutter, medial meniscus, intercondylar notch, lateral meniscus and lateral gutter after making high anterolateral portal. Once all the pathologies were recorded a second anteromedial portal (working portal) was made at the inferior pole of patella, 1 cm medial to patellar tendon. All associated pathologies were dealt with appropriately like partial menisectomy for a meniscal tear that was unstable to probing, chondral defect shaving and removal of loose bodies.



**Fig.-4:** Athroscopic view of torn ACL (After UW Orthopaedics and Sports Medicine, Seattle.htm)

#### **Tunnel Placement**

#### Tibial Tunnel

The acufex tibial guide was introduced into the joint through the anteromedial portal after setting the inclination of the zig at 55 degrees. The aimer was placed on the center of the tibial foot print which lies about 7 mm anterior to the PCL in the midpoint and just medial to the posterior edge of the anterior horn of lateral meniscus.

The sleeve was inserted into the guide upto the tibial cortex (through the incision used for graft harvesting) at about 2cm medial to the tibial tubercle and 4 cm below the joint line. A guide pin was drilled into the joint through the sleeve.

The tunnel was then reamed with a cannulated headed reamer placed over the guide pin, starting from 7mm size up to the size determined by graft sizer. Length of the tibial tunnel usually 3-4cm.



Fig.-5: Tibial tunnel preparation

#### FEMORALTUNNEL

Femoral tunnel was made with a transtibial femoral guide system and a single-incision technique. Femoral offset guide was introduced into the joint through the tibial tunnel and engaged into "over the top" position with the knee in70 to 90° flexion. The guide was aimed at 1 to 2 o'clock position in the left knee and 10 to 11 o'clock in the right knee.

An appropriate sized offset guide was used so as to leave about 2mm of posterior cortical wall after drilling the femoral tunnel and depth at least 2cm and the diameter of the tunnel should correspond to the diameter of the graft. Because the bone of the distal femur is denser than the tibial metaphysis,



**Fig.-6:** *Tunnel coincide with anatomical center of normal ACL. (RILEY. 2013.* 

The guide pin was then drilled through the intercondylar region and lateral femoral cortex to emerge out of the anterolateral aspect of the thigh.
An appropriate sized cannulated calibrated acorn-type reamer was threaded over the pin and femoral tunnel reamed upto the 40mm mark on the calibrated reamer. The sharp edges of the femoral tunnel were smoothened by shaver and debris removed.

#### **GRAFT FIXATION**

Graft were fixed using endobutton on femoral side and either interference screw (metallic or biodegradable) or cancellous screw as tibial post was used at tibial side.



**Fig.-7:** *A/P* radiograph, femoral fixation with endobutton and tibial fixation with an AO screw and spiked washer post.

#### CLOSURE

The sartorial fascia and subcutaneous tissue was stitched with an interrupted 2.0 vicryl suture and skin was closed with interrupted prolene sutures. The portal sites were usually left open for drainage. A sterile dressing was applied. After applying a pressure bandage, tourniquet deflated and tourniquet time noted. Knee was subsequently placed in a brace locked in extension.

#### Complication of ACL reconstruction:

Complications of anterior cruciate ligament surgery can be caused by preoperative, intraoperative, and postoperative factors. The most common postoperative complications are motion (primarily extension) deficits and persistent anterior knee pain, more when reconstruction with patellar tendon autografts.

Preoperative effusion, limited range of motion, and concomitant knee ligament injuries make poor postoperative motion more likely. Intraoperative factors associated with motion deficits most often are incorrect tunnel position and inadequate notchplasty, which can result in over tightening or impingement of the graft, leading to loss of extension. Postoperative factors include prolonged immobilization and inadequate or inappropriate rehabilitation.

Complications from ACL surgery generally arise during surgery. Peroperative complications include the following:

- Extravasation of irrigation fluid during arthroscopy
- Paraesthesias along the lateral aspect of the knee
- Bruising and/or hematoma formation
- Improper alignment of the tunnels, causing graft impingement

Postoperative complications- The main complication of ACL surgery during the postoperative period is rupture of the graft.

#### **Postoperative Care and Rehabilitation**

Patient was encouraged to lie supine with foot end elevated for 24 hours, as spinal anaesthesia given during procedure. Round the clock analgesia (initially i.v., later oral) administered to assist in physiotherapy. Wound inspection done on 3rd postoperative day. Only if the wound was healthy and patient's compliance for physiotherapy was assured, the patient discharged on oral antibiotics. Sutures were removed on 14th postoperative day.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This was a Quasi experimental study (Prospective Study) from January 2012 to December 2013 in National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Sher-E-Bangla Nagar, Dhaka. Patients presented with unilateral knee complaints and clinically diagnosed as ACL injury with meniscus injury of both sexes in the Orthopedic outpatient department of National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Sher-E-Bangla Nagar, Dhaka. The modalities of treatment

Age distribution:

Evaluation of the Results of Arthroscopic Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction by Semitendinosus and Gracilis Autograft

was discussed with the patient with its merits and demerits. The follow up and rehabilitation protocol were also explained to the patient. Total 14 patients were undergone for operation during study period and fulfilled the enrolment criteria.

#### RESULTS

This prospective study was carried out from December 2011 to May 2013 at NITOR. A total of 14 cases were selected for the study. Follow up given for 6 months to 12 months and final outcome was recorded at 6 months.

The following results were obtained

#### Subjective functional outcome:

Number of Age group Percentage Mean±SD patients (%) 15-20 0 0 21-25 6 43 26-30 6 43 7 31-35 1 27.28±11.975 7 36-40 1 41-45 0 0 Total 14 100

Table-I

Age distribution of patients (n=14)

Mean age was 27.28 wears with SD±11.975 years, age range was 23-38 years.

Subjective outcome		Number	Number of patient		Percentage	
		Preoperative	Postoperative	Preoperative	Postoperative	
Knee function	Normal	0	5	0	36	
	Near normal	0	8	0	57	
	Abnormal	14	1	100	7	
Pain	Mild	0	7	0	50	
	Moderate	11	7	79	50	
	Severe	3	0	21	0	
Giving way	No	0	13	0	93	
	Occasional or more	14	1	100	7	
Swelling	No swelling	0	13	0	93	
	Mild swelling	14	1	100	7	

 Table-II

 Subjective functional outcome evaluation after at months (n=14).

Preoperative clinical evaluation showed that all patients had abnormal knee function, mild to moderate pain. All patients complained of swelling and giving way.

Postoperatively 93% patients regained normal to near normal knee function and knee stability. Significant improvement of pain and swelling also occurred.

#### **Objective functional outcome:**

Objective junctional outcome evaluation at six months $(n=14)$ .						
Objective outcome		No. of	No. of patient		Percentage	
		Preoperative	Postoperative	Preoperative	Postoperative	
Knee flexion	<130	3	2	21	14	
	135	11	12	79	86	
Lachman test	G-I	0	12	0	86	
	G-II	8	2	57	14	
	G-III	6	0	43	0	
Drawer test	Positive	13	2	93	14	
	Negative	1	12	7	86	
Pivot shift test	Positive	00	00	00	00	
	Negative	14	14	100	100	
McMurray test	Positive	10	2	71%	14%	
	Negative	4	12	29%	86%	

 Table-III

 Objective functional outcome evaluation at six months (n=14)

VOL. 30, NO. 1, JANUARY 2015

66 Muhammad Ariful Islam, Monaim Hossen, A.M.Farid Uddin Ahmad, Monirul Haque, A.M. Fasiul Alam, Faisal Amin Ahmed et al

Lachman test was positive in all patients among them grade II 57% and grade three was 43%. 93% patients had anterior drawer test positive, 7% had negative or equivocal anterior drawer test. Pivot shift test was negative in all cases. Mc Murray test was positive in 71% cases. 79% patients had 135° knee flexion and 21% had less than 130° flexion preoperatively.

Post operatively Lachman test improved significantly, grade I in 86% cases and grade II was in 14% cases. Anterior drawer was positive in 14% cases. Pivot shift test was negative in all cases McMurry test positive 14%. After operation 86% had 135° knee flexion and 14% had less than 130° flexion.

This table describes the distribution of post operative outcome. Excellent 36%, good 50%, fair 7% and poor was 7%.

Out of 14 patients, 12 (86%) had satisfactory (excellent + good), 2 (14%) had unsatisfactory (fair+ poor) outcome.

#### Confidence level of final outcome:

Confidence interval (CI)=  $p\pm 1.96$ "pq/n At 95% confidence level.

Here p = 86, q = 100-p=100-86=14, n = 14.So, (CI) =  $86 \pm 1.96 \times 9.27$ =  $86 \pm 18.17$ = 68 - 104

So, among the population we will found 68% - 104% satisfactory result by this procedure. It is quite acceptable outcome.

#### DISCUSSION

In our study we evaluate the results of arthroscopic ACL reconstruction by Quadruple autograft of semitendinosus and gracilis at National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation (NITOR), Sher-E-Bangla Nagar, Dhaka, from January 2012 to December 2013.

We had 14 patients, male 13 and female one. Mean age was 27.28 years with SD $\pm$ 11.975, age range was 23-38 years. Majority of the patients (86%) were from age 21 to 30 years. Eriksson, et al., (2001) had study over 164 patients, age ranges were between 15 and 45 years (Mean 25.7 $\pm$ 6.9 years) which is comparable with present study.

None of the patients were sportsman, 21% were student, service holder 28%, day labor 14%, businessman 21%, house wife and other service holder were (7% each). Right side involvement was 50% and left side involvement was 50%. The cause of injury was sporting activity in 50%, RTA 43% and accidental fall in 7% cases.

The ideal time for ACL reconstruction is at least after 6-8 weeks after subsidence of post traumatic inflammatory response. Again too much delay do not bring good results. So duration from injury to operation was studied. Mean duration was 27.42 month with SD ( $\pm 22.13$ ) months.

In our series, 50% patient stayed in hospital after operation less than 5 days. Mean hospital stay was 6.14days and SD±4.464 days. Buss et al (1993) investigated 67 ACL reconstructions and found mean hospital stay was 5 days (range 3 to 8 days).

Early post operative period was uneventful in 86% cases. One patient had infection at tibial screw site after discharge from the hospital which was subsequently managed by follow-up dressing and antibiotics.

Preoperative clinical evaluation showed that all patients had abnormal knee function, mild to moderate pain. All patients complained of swelling and giving way.

Postoperatively 93% patients regained normal to near normal knee function and knee stability. Significant improvement of pain and swelling also occurred.

Preoperatively, Lachman test was positive in all patients among them grade II 57% and grade three was 43%. 93% patients had anterior drawer test positive, 7% had negative or equivocal anterior drawer test. Pivot shift test was negative in all cases. McMurray test was positive in 71% cases. 79% patients had 135° knee flexion and 21% had less than 130° flexion.

Post operatively Lachman test improved significantly, grade-I in 86% cases and grade II was in 14% cases. In Williams et al (2004) study post operative Lachman test was negative in 89% patients after 28 months of reconstruction of ACL by four stranded hamstring tendon. Anterior drawer was positive in 14% cases. Pivot shift test was negative in all cases. McMurry test positive 14% cases. After operation 86% had 135° knee flexion and 14% had less than 130° flexion. Buss et al (1993) also reported negative pivot shift test in 89% cases in his study. So present study is closely comparable with that of Buss study.

Regarding final outcome, out of 14 patients, 12 (86%) had satisfactory (excellent + good), 2 (14%) had unsatisfactory (fair+ poor) outcome. Confidence interval (CI) At 95% confidence level is 70% - 103%. So among the population we found 68% - 104% satisfactory result by the procedure. It was quite acceptable outcome.

Evaluation of the Results of Arthroscopic Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction by Semitendinosus and Gracilis Autograft

#### CONCLUSION

Anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injury frequently occurs in young adult population, which reduces activity level and become economic burden. So, early reconstruction of the ACL and partial meniscectomy is necessary to make them fit and return to their original activity level.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Aglietti P, Buzzi R, Zaccherotti G, De Biase P. 1994; Patellar tendon versus doubled semitendinosus and gracilis tendons for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*. 22:211-217.
- Anglia Ruskin University., 2011. Guide to the Harvard Style of Referencing, Revised Third Edition. Ann Surg 1903 1903;37-716-8.
- Arangio G, Cohen E. Incidence of associated knee lesions with torn anterior cruciate ligament: retrospective cohort assessment. *Journal of Sports Rehabilitation*; 1998; 7:1-8.
- Arnoczky SP. 1983, Anatomy of the anterior cruciate ligament. *Clinical Orthopadics Relatated Research* -172:19-25.
- Avery FL, 2007, ACL Graft Options, Orthopaedic Association of Portland, info@orthoassociates.com, (15 May 2008).
- Bartlett R, Clatworthy M, Nguyen T.2001; Graft selection in reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* British. 83:B625-34.

- Brown CH Jr, Steiner ME, Carson EW. 1993; The use of hamstring tendons for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: technique and results. *Clinical Sports Medicine*.12(4):723-56.
- Christopher Emond. E, Erik B. Woelber, BA, Shanu. Kurd. K, Michael G. Cicotti, and Steven B. Cohen; 2011, A Comparison of the Results of Anterior Cruciate Ligament Reconstruction Using Bioabsorbable Versus Metal Interference Screws, A Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* American.;93:572-80
- 9. Church S., J. F. Keating., 2005. Reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament: Timing of Surgery and the incidence of meniscal tears and degenerative change. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery British*. vol. 87-B no. 12 1639-1642.
- Colombet P, Allard M, Bousquet V, Lavigne CD, Flurin PH, 1999, THE HISTORY OF ACL SURGERY. Bordeaux-Merignac Centre of Orthopaedic and Sports Surgery ,Merignac, France.
- 11. Ejerhed L, Kartus J, Sernert N, Kohler K, Karlsson J. 2003; Patellar tendon or semitendinosus tendon autografts for anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction? A prospective randomized study with a two year follow up. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 31:19-25.
- Feller JA, Webster KE, Gavin B. 2001; Early postoperative morbidity following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: patellar tendon versus and hamstring graft. *Knee Surgery Sports Traumatology Arthroscopy.* 9(5): 260-6.

## **Original** Article



# Outcome of Operative Treatment of Neglected Dislocation of the Elbow

Md. Anisur Rahman<sup>1</sup>, Farzana Khondoker<sup>2</sup>, Md. Shariful Haque<sup>3</sup>, Md. Zahidul Islam Bhuiyan<sup>4</sup>

#### Abstract

Neglected dislocation of the elbow is a common problem in the developing countries especially in Bangladesh, because of the recourse of patients to the traditional medicine. The management of the old unreduced dislocation of the elbow is a challenging problem to orthopaedic surgeon. The objective of the study is to evaluate the functional outcome of open reduction in neglected dislocation of the elbow. A total of 12 patients with old elbow dislocation, open reduction and early postoperative range of motion was began and the functional results were noted according to Mayo Elbow Performance Score. The mean elbow range of motion at final follow up was 94 degrees. According to Mayo Elbow Performance Score 2 patients achieved excellent results, 4 patients achieved good and another 4 patients achieved fair results and 2 patients achieved poor results. We recommend open reduction and early postoperative physiotherapy gives a useful functional range of movement.

Key words: Neglected, dislocation, elbow.

#### INTRODUCTION

Neglected dislocations of the elbow became exceptional in developed countries. However, they remain rather frequent in developing countries, because of the recourse of patients to the traditional medicine<sup>1,2</sup>, the misunderstanding of the gravity of the lesions and the difficulties of access to the specialized centers. They are defined as an untreated dislocation of the elbow dating 3 weeks or more 1,3,4,5. The management of late cases of unreduced dislocation is a challenging problem for the orthopaedic surgeon<sup>6</sup>. There are many views have been expressed about the role of open reduction. Wilson emphasized the poor result of open reduction and advocated arthodesis particularly for labourers and arthoplasty for normal individuals<sup>7</sup>. But more recent papers supports open reduction as a worth while procedure irrespective of age, and duration of dislocation<sup>7,8,9</sup>. Speed in 1925 introduced Triceps lengthening by V-Y musculo-plasty for late open reduction where contracted Triceps hinders reduction. This technique has been adopted by many authors <sup>4,7,10,11</sup>. Our objective

of the study is to evaluate the outcome of open reduction and early physical therapy of neglected dislocation of the elbow using V-Y musculoplasty and by adopting the Mayo Elbow Performance Score.

#### MATERIALSAND METHODS

Twelve patients, aged between 18 to 50 years (average 31 years) were treated for the dislocation between July 2013 to June 2015 in private hospital of Rangpur. Dislocations associated with fracture were excluded from the study. The study review of the result of 12 cases, duration of follow up was 12 to 24 weeks. All the dislocation were unilateral. 8 cases with right and 4 cases with left elbow. Male and female ratio was 3:1. Deformity and restriction of movement were presenting complaints. Radiologic features were those of posterior or posterolateral dislocation of elbow. Duration of dislocation was from 3-13 weeks and there was no preoperative neurovascualar complication.

Through a posterolateral incision Triceps apponeurosis was raised as a distally based flap, then Triceps muscle

<sup>1.</sup> Junior Consultant, Upazilla Health Complex Parbotipur, Dinajpur.

<sup>2.</sup> Assistant Professor and Head of the Dept. of Physiology, Rangpur Army Medical College, Rangpur.

<sup>3.</sup> Assistant Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedics, Prime Medical College, Rangpur.

<sup>4.</sup> Assistant Registrar, National Institute of Traumatology and Orthopaedic Rehabilitation, Dhaka.

Correspondence: Dr. Md. Anisur Rahman, Junior Consultant, Upazilla Health Complex Parbotipur, Dinajpur.

Outcome of Operative Treatment of Neglected Dislocation of the Elbow

freed subperiosteally and the dislocated elbow was exposed. In all cases Olecranon and coronoid fosa were filled up with soft tissue, After excision of all soft tissue, the medial and lateral ligaments of the joint were divided before reduction. Reduction was easily done but the joint was unstable. K-wire fixation was done between olecranon and humerus keeping the elbow at 60-80 degree flexion. Periosteums with Triceps were sutured over posterior aspect of humerus with V-Y strip of the triceps apponeurosis to overcome the shortening. Tourniquet was released before closure & haemostasis was done. Closed drain was given in all cases. After 3 weeks both K were and cast removed, Collar and cuff sling applied for another 3 weeks. Active mobilization of the elbow was encouraged after 4-5 days of removal of K-wire with toleration of pain. We used broad spectrum antibiotics one dose preoperatively and two weeks post operatively to prevent infection.

At follow up post operative range of motion was measured and the clinical result were graded according to Mayo Elbow Performance Score (Chart-1).

#### **Results:**

The mean age of patients was 33 years (18 - 50). The majority of our patients were male (75%). Etiologies were dominated by the falls in 66.66% of cases, the road accidents in 16.66% of cases and also sports injuries in 16.66% of cases. Right upper limb was affected in 8 cases and left upper limb was affected in 4 cases. The mean deadline of consultation was 49 days after the trauma. 93.5% of patients were initially handled by traditional ways (Jbira, traditional massages).

The clinical examination has noted, in our patients, a stiff elbow with flexion between 15Ú and 35Ú. After removing the K-wire and immobilization, the physiotherapy was maintained immediately. After follow-up of 24 weeks, the functional results were estimated by Mayo Elbow Performance Score based on 4 criteria: the pain, the mobility and the stability of the elbow as well as the resumption of the function of the upper limb. We objectified two excellent scores, four good scores, four fair scores and two poor scores (Chart-2).

Chart 1	Mana	alhow	narformanco	ROOKO
Chart	• <i>mayo</i>	elbow	perjormance	score

Pain (max., 45 points)	
None (45 points)	
Mild (30 points)	
Moderate (15 points)	
Severe (0 points)	
Range of motion (max., 20 points)	
Arc > 100 degrees (20 points)	
Arc 50 to 100 degrees (15 points)	
Arc < 50 degrees (5 points)	
Stability (max., 10 points)	
Stable (10 points)	
Moderately unstable (5 points)	
Grossly unstable (0 points)	
Function (max., 25 points)	
Able to comb hair (5 points)	
Able to feed oneself (5 points)	
Able to perform personal hygiene tasks (5 points)	
Able to on shirt (5 points)	
Able to put on shoes (5 points)	

Case	Age(yrs)	Deadline(Days)	Preoperative ROM	Postoperative ROM	Mayo Score
1	23	65	Fixed at 10°	10°- 80°Arc-70°	F
2	31	35	ROM 10°-20°Arc-10°	10°-100°Arc-90°	G
3	40	30	ROM 10°-30°Arc-20°	10°-90°Arc-80°	G
4	18	21	ROM 20°-30°Arc-10°	10°-110°Arc-100°	Е
5	47	88	Fixed at 10°	10°- 50°Arc-40°	Р
6	30	28	ROM 20°-40°Arc-20°	10°-90°Arc-80°	G
7	26	42	ROM 30°-40°Arc-10°	20°-90°Arc-70°	F
8	24	60	Fixed at 20°	10°-80°Arc-70°	F
9	48	34	ROM 40°-50°Arc-10°	10°-100°Arc-90°	G
10	50	22	ROM 10°-30°Arc-20°	10°-110°Arc-100°	Е
11	29	91	Fixed at 10°	10°- 50°Arc-40°	Р
12	36	70	Fixed at 20°	10°- 80°Arc-70°	F

#### Chart 2. Resume of our series results

(E) excellent, (G) good, (F) fair, (P) poor.

Md. Anisur Rahman, Farzana Khondoker, Md. Shariful Haque, Md. Zahidul Islam Bhuiyan

#### DISCUSSION

Neglected dislocation of elbow is the dislocation which has been left untreated for more than three weeks. In our series all the patients were initially treated by local bonesetters by massage and immobilization in elbow extension. Neglected elbow dislocation causes stiff elbow and weakness in hand, which not only delays the diagnosis and the treatment, but also led to complications<sup>12</sup>.

Chowdhury AM et al.<sup>13</sup> stated that in most cases duration of dislocation was less than 12 weeks. The range of motion achieved after open reduction is much better than pre operative range of motion.

Accurate reduction, maintenance of reduction in post operative period, and post operative therapeutic exercise are the key to success. Balchandani<sup>14</sup> in his series of open reduction commented that post operative therapeutic exercise is essential for good result.

Josefsson and coll.<sup>15</sup> indicated that there were no significant differences between the results of conservative and surgical treatment. One year later, in the same newspaper, Mehlhoff and coll.<sup>16</sup> reported a bad result profit after conservative treatment processing. Martini<sup>17</sup> prefers to abstain in front of a stiffness considered functional, what seems to us sensible especially with the high rate of bad results reported in the literature.

Azmi *et al.*<sup>18</sup> reported 62.5% of bad results further to surgical reductions. In the surgical treatment of these injuries, several technical processes can be used. The reduction with fixation in 90Ú of flexion by pinning after liberation of the joint. In cases where the elbow is fixed in extension with retraction of the tricipital tendon, a plastic surgery to lengthen the latter with V-Y technique can be realized by posterior approach.

Masataka<sup>19</sup> reported in a series of 3 cases of neglected dislocations treated by posterior approach with reintegration or reconstruction of the ligament by using a transplant of the palmaris longus tendon. An early physiotherapy was maintained dice second week on articulated orthosis. The results were excellent in all patients (Mayo score of 97).

A technique of stabilization by tendinous transplant taken in depends on the Palmaris longus or the extensor carpi radialis longus, described in 1987 by Arafiles<sup>20</sup>. This technique allows an early mobilization of the elbow.

Jupiter<sup>21</sup> in 2002 reported five cases of neglected dislocations treated surgically then stabilized by an

external fixation allowing an early passive mobilization. After a mean follow-up of 38 months, a stable and concentric reduction was obtained.

Ait Essi *et al.*<sup>22</sup> reported a neglected dislocation of elbow in a teenager which was reduced with an enlargement of the great sigmoid cavity. Very good results were observed after six months of follow-up.

In our study, most cases duration of dislocation was less than 10 weeks. The range of motion with stability of the joint achieved after open reduction and early physiotherapy is much more better than pre operative range of motion and functional statement.

#### CONCLUSION

Considering all above we can conclude that open reduction of a neglected dislocation of elbow is a worth while procedure. There may be limitation of range of movement but a useful functional range of movement can be achieved by open reduction and post operative physiotherapy.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Mehta, S., Sud, A., Tiwari, A. and Kapoor, S.K. (2007) Open Reduction for Late-Presenting Posterior Dislocation of the Elbow. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery (Hong Kong*), 15, 15-21.
- Elzohairy, M.M. (2009) Neglected Posterior Dislocation of the Elbow. *Injury*, 40, 197-200. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.injury.2008.05.034
- Freeman III, B.L. (1998) Old Unreduced Dislocations. In: Crenshaw, A.H., Ed., *Campbell's Operative Orthopaedics*, 9th Edition, Mosby, St. Louis, 2673-2674.
- Naidoo, K.S. (1982) Unreduced Posterior Dislocations of the Elbow. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*, 64, 603-606.
- Rockwood, C.A. (1996) Treatment of Old Unreduced Posterior Dislocation of Elbow. In: Rockwood, C.A., Ed., 4<sup>th</sup> Edition, *Rockwood and Green's Fracture in Adults*, 4th Edition, Lippincott-Raven, Philadelphia, 975-976.
- 6. Mahaisavariya B et al, Late reduction of Dislocated elbow. J Bone Joint Surgery [Br]1993;75B:426 –28
- Billet DM. Unreduced post dislocation of elbow: J Trauma1979;19:186-8
- Wilson JN ed Watson Jone, Fracture and Joint Injuries, 5th edition vol-2 Edinburgh etc: Churchill Living stone ;176:434.
- 9. Krishnamoorthy S, Bose K, et al. Treatment of old unreduced Dislocation of elbow, Injury 1976; 39–42
- Fowles JV, Kassab MT, Douik M. Untreated posterior dislocation of elbow in children, J. Bone Joint Surgery [Am]1984;66A:921 - 6

Outcome of Operative Treatment of Neglected Dislocation of the Elbow

- Laupattarakasem W et al. Old elbow dislocation: Joint mobility after open reduction. J Med. Assoc. Thai,1988;7:289-93
- Coulibalya, N.F., Tiemdjoa, H., Sanea, A.D., Sarr, Y.F., Ndiayea, A. and Seyea, S. (2012) Posterior Approach for Surgical Treatment of Neglected Elbow Dislocation. *Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research*, 98, 552-558. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.otsr.2012.03.006
- Chowdhury AM., Hossain MA., Rahman MM., and Ahsan K. Treatment of Old unreduced Posterior Dislocation of Elbow, Dinajpur Med Col J 2009 Jul; 2 (2):44-47
- Balchandani RH, Unreduced dislocation of elbow(abstract) JBJS 1969 51B 781
- Josefsson, P.O., Gentz, C.F., Johnell, O. and Wendeberg, B. (1987) Surgical versus Non-Surgical Treatment of Ligamentous Injuries Following Dislocation of the Elbow Joint. A Prospective Randomized Study. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, American Volume*, 69, 605-608.
- Mehlhoff, T.L., Noble, P.C., Bennett, J.B. and Tullos, H.S. (1988) Simple Dislocation of the Elbow in the Adult. Results after Closed Treatment. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, American Volume*, 70, 244-249.

- Martini, M., Benselama, R. and Daoud, A. (1984) Neglected Luxations of the Elbow. 25 Surgical Reduction. *Revue de Chirurgie Orthopédique et Réparatrice de l'Appareil Moteur*, 70, 305-312.
- Azmi, I., Razak, M. and Hyzan, Y. (1998) The Results of Treatment of Dislocation and Fracture-Dislocation of the Elbow: A Review of 41 Patients. *Medical Journal of Malaysia*, 53, 59-70.
- Majima, M., Horii, E. and Nakamura, R. (2007) Treatment of Chronically Dislocated Elbows: A Report of Three Cases. *Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Surgery*, 16, e1-e4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jse.2006.09.003
- Arafiles, R.P. (1987) Neglected Posterior of the Elbow. A Reconstruction Operation. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery*, 69, 199-202.
- 21. Jupiter, J.B. and Ring, D. (2002) Treatment of Unreduced Elbow Dislocations in the Hinged External Fixation. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery, American Volume*, 84-A, 1630-1635.
- 22. Ait Essi, F., Rafai, M., Largab, A. and Trafeh, M. (2005) Neglected Fracture-Dislocation of the Elbow: Surgical Reduction with Enlarging Osteoplasty of the Trochlear Notch. *Chirurgie de la Main*, 24, 177-180. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.main. 2005.04.006

## **Case Report**



# Treatment of GCT Distal Radius with en Block Excision with Reconstruction by Autogenous Non Vascularized Fibular Graft - 2 Case Report

Matin MQ<sup>1</sup>, Hossain M<sup>2</sup>, Mahmood ASS<sup>3</sup>, Biswas AK<sup>3</sup>, Das CK<sup>3</sup>, Chowdhury MR<sup>4</sup>, Choudhuri NI<sup>5</sup>, Sheuly SB<sup>5</sup>

#### SUMMARY

Giant cell tumours of the bone are aggressive and potentially malignant lesions. Juxtaarticular giant cell tumours of the lower end of radius are common and present a special problem of reconstruction after tumour excision. Several reconstructive procedures like vascularized and non-vascularized fibular graft, osteo-articular allograft, centralization of ulna, ceramic prosthesis and megaprosthesis are in use for substitution of the defect in the distal radius following resection. We here present our experience with wide resection and non-vascularised autogenous fibula grafting for 2 cases of GCT of distal radius.

Mean follow up period was 10 month. Case 2 shows consolidation at the fibuloradial junction and case 1 shows signs of union. Mean grip strength of involved side was 75%. The average range of movements were 72° forearm supination, 65° forearm pronation, 60° of wrist palmerflexion and 65° of wrist dorsiflexion with combined movements of 162°. Revised musculoskeletal tumor society (MSTS) score averaged 91.38% with excellent results in both the cases. There were no graft related complications, deep infections or wrist subluxation and still no tumor recurrence.

Although non union or recurrence is high, the procedure for reconstruction and limb salvage after wide resection of GCT of distal radius with the free non vascularised fibular graft( with fibular head) is an ideal substitute. This technique provided encouraging functional results, assuring patients' return to their usual activities.

#### **CASE REPORT**

#### Case-1:

This is a 20 years old housewife who presented with sudden onset of pain and swelling over right wrist. She relates her symptom to a trivial injury to the wrist while working. Her symptoms became increasingly worse over the past 3 weeks prior to admission. Examination revealed a tender swelling over right wrist. The overlying skin was normal. Range of movement for the right wrist was limited due to pain.

A plain radiograph of the wrist revealed an expanded, eccentric osteolytic lesion at the distal right radius. The lesion occupied both the epiphyseal and metaphyseal areas. The bone cortex was thinned and ballooned and there was an area of cortical breakthrough over the volar aspect of the distal radius (figure 1).

- 1. Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedic Surgery, Cox's Bazar Medical College, Cox's Bazar.
- 2. Associate Professor(C.C), Dept. of Orthopaedic Surgery, Chittagong Medical College, Chittagong.
- 3. Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedic Surgery, Chittagong Medical College, Chittagong.
- 4. Assistant Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedic Surgery, Chittagong Medical College, Chittagong.
- 5. Medical Officer, SOPD, CMCH, Chittagong.

Correspondence: Dr. Quasarul Matin, Associate Professor, Dept. of Orthopaedic Surgery, Chittagong Medical College, Chittagong. Mobile No:-01819381050, E-mail: drsaint007@ hotmail.com



**Fig.-1**: Anteroposterior and lateral view of right distal radius showing a balloned out cortex. the lesion extends from the metaphysis extends to epiphysis and skipping joint surface

A radiological diagnosis of giant cell tumor Campanacci grade 3 was made and a needle biopsy was performed. The biopsy confirmed the diagnosis of Giant cell tumour of the distal radius. She subsequently underwent a wide excision of distal right radius. Autologous fibular graft was taken from the ipsilateral side and was fixed at the recipient site with DCP & screw and K wire with reconstruction of radial collateral ligament. Follow up was done at 3 wks, 6 wks, 3, 6 and 8 months.



**Fig.-2:** At 3 wks follow up. Fixation of ipsilateral autologous fibular graft with DCP, screw & K wire with autogenous cancellous bone graft at graft-host junction after taking from iliac crest.



Fig.-3: At 3 months follow up after removal of K-wire.



Fig.-4: At 6 months of follow up.

The range of motion of the involved wrist was  $60^{\circ}$  dorsiflexion,  $60^{\circ}$  palmar flexion,  $15^{\circ}$  radial deviation,  $22^{\circ}$  ulnar deviation,  $70^{\circ}$  supination and  $60^{\circ}$  pronation. They retained 80% of contralateral range of wrist motion. Grip strength compared to the contralateral hand was found to be 70%.

#### CASE-2

This is a 28 year old gentleman who works at a departmental store presented with pain and swelling over left wrist. He had same problem one year back and was diagnosed as a case of Giant cell tumour involving distal radius. He was operated by an Orthopaedic surgeon. Curettage of tumour tissue with filling of cavity with autogenous cancellous bone graft and bone cement was done. Then from about two months prior to admission, he again felt pain at the same site with gradual appearance of swelling. His symptoms became increasingly worse over the past 2 weeks prior to admission. Examination revealed a tender swelling over left wrist. The overlying skin was normal. Range of movement for the left wrist was limited due to pain.

A plain radiograph of the wrist revealed an expanded cavity at the distal left radius filled with bone graft and bone cement. The lesion occupied both the epiphyseal and metaphyseal areas. The thinned and ballooned out cortex showed breakthrough over the volar aspect of the distal radius (figure 1).



**Fig.-1:** Anteroposterior and lateral view of right distal radius showing a ballooned out eccentric, expansile, thinning out) cortex. The lesion extends from the metaphysis upto epiphysis and joint surface not involved.

A radiological diagnosis of recurrent giant cell tumor was made and a needle biopsy was performed. The biopsy confirmed the diagnosis of Giant cell tumour of the distal radius. He subsequently underwent a wide excision of distal left radius and autologous fibular grafting.



**Fig-2**: Curettage and filling of cavity with bone graft and bone cement elsewhere.



**Fig-4**: Wide excision of radius with tumour mass and reconstruction with non vascularized ipsilateral fibular graft, holding the part with Dynamic compression plate & screw and K- wire with reconstruction of radial collateral ligament.



Fig-5: At 3months follow up showing good range of movement.



**Fig-6**: At 9 month showing consolidation at graft-host junction.

The range of motion of the involved wrist was  $65^{\circ}$  dorsiflexion,  $60^{\circ}$  palmar flexion,  $15^{\circ}$  radial deviation,  $25^{\circ}$  ulnar deviation,  $75^{\circ}$  supination and  $65^{\circ}$  pronation. They retained 85% of contralateral range of wrist motion. Grip strength compared to the contralateral hand was found to be 80%.

Follow up was done at 3 wks, 6 wks, 3, 6, 9 and 12 months.

#### DISCUSSION

Giant cell tumor is a challenge for the surgeons both for cure and rehabilitation. Most patients with GCT are young with normal life expectancy. The aim of treatment is to remove the tumor, reduce the chances of recurrence and preserve the joint functioná.

Giant cell tumor of bone may present with pain over the joint, effusion and swelling. About 10-15 % patient will present with pathological fracture. This tumour is locally aggressive and has a high incidence of recurrence. It can also metastasize to the lung (less than  $2 \%)å'^2$ .

Ten percent of the giant cell tumor of bone involved the distal radius.

In these patients, one is recurrent and the other is grade 3 tumour. A variety of treatment have been advocated for

Fig-7: At 12 months

giant-cell tumour of bone, including curettage, curettage and bone grafting, cryotherapy of the cavity after curettage, application of phenol after curettage, insertion of methylmethacrylate cement in the cavity after curettage and resection followed by allograft, autograft or prosthetic reconstructiont . Historically, simple curettage of giantcell tumor is associated with a 40 to 50% rate of local recurrence. Adjuvant treatment of bone bed with liquid nitrogen or phenol after removal of the tumor has been advocated to decrease the risk of local recurrenceu. Liquid nitrogen results in effective osteonecrosis to a depth of 1 to 2 centimeters. The extend of the osteonecrosis induced by liquid nitrogen is difficult to control, thus it may weaken the bone and lead to a fracture. Phenol has been advocated as a safer agent than liquid nitrogen for adjuvant therapy. Phenol causes protein coagulation, damages DNA, and causes necrosisu 'v 'w . Preventing leakage of Phenol in the extensive cortical disruption while at the same time allowing adequate saturation of the bone with the chemical is difficult and the leakage can potentially be harmful. Phenol is toxic to the nervous system, the heart, kidney, and the liver. It is readily absorbed through skin, mucosa and open wounds3'w.

75

The technique of intralesional curettage followed by packing of the defect with methylmethacrylate has become popular. The free radicals and the thermal effects of the polymerization reaction can cause necrosis as much as 2 or 3 mms in the cancellous bone. Additional advantages of the use of cement include low cost, easy to use, lack of donor-site morbidity, and elimination of the risk of transmission of disease associated with the use of allograft bone, immediate structural stability and potential for earlier detection of local recurrenceu 'x.

After the resection of a lesion that is not amenable to curettage, techniques of arthroplasty have been employed in an attempt to preserve motion at the wrist joint. A lower rate of recurrence has been noted after resection of the distal part of the radius compared with curettage, especially when the tumor has broken the cortex or when there has been rapid enlargement of the lesion or a local recurrence. After resection, the defect has been reconstructed as an arthroplasty or an arthrodesis involving use of either vascularised or non vascularised bone grafts from the tibia, the proximal part of the fibula, the iliac crest, or the distal part of ulna. Other procedures that have been used to fill the defect have included use of an osteoarticular allograft, custom made prosthesis and transposition of the carpus onto the distal part of the ulna to create a one bone forearmy 'áp.

Although there are advantages to the use of vascularised bone grafts, non vascularised bone graft were successfully employed in the few series. The advantages of vascularised graft may be less important in the distal radius, due to its relatively short length of resection and graft. Also operating time for vascularized fibular graft often reaches 12-14 hours and requires sacrifice of two major vessels. Dissection to obtain the fibula and its vascular pedicle and the isolation of its recipient vessels requires meticulous attention. Sophisticated infrastructure, skill and prolonged operating time have made its use limitedy.

Resection with wrist reconstruction using autogenous fibular grafting enables the patient to achieve some function at the wrist as compared to fusion. Most patients can return to useful employment despite their functional limitationsáp.

Wide resection with fibular grafting also caries the risk of complications related to the graft such as non union, graft fracture, residual subluxation of the carpus, degenerative oeteoarthrosis, limited wrist movement and pain. There can also be donor site complications such as chronic leg pain, lateral ligament laxity, leg dysesthesia and foot dropx 'áp.

#### CONCLUSION

Resection of distal radius and reconstruction with proximal fibular transplant is useful to preserve the functional movement and stability with normal appearance of the wrist. Further, this procedure eliminates the need for microvascular surgery. Our results showing satisfactory range of movements and sufficient grip strength with good functional results justify this procedure of reconstruction arthroplasty in case of Giant cell tumors of distal radius.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Cooper A S, Travers B. Surgical essays, London, England; Cox Longman And C0.1818; 178-179.
- Arnold R T, Von Holsbeeck M T, Mayer T G, Molt M P, Koch S R. Necrotic Giant Cell Tumour of Bone manifesting with pathologic fractures. Radiographics 2011;31(1):93-98
- Mendenhall W M., Ziotecki R A, Scarborough M T, Gibbs CP, Mendenhall NP. Giant Cell Tumour of Bone. Am j Clin Oncol 2006; 29(1): 96-99.
- Andan c, Giant Cell Tumour of bone with secondary Aneurysmal Bone Cyst. Int. J Shoulder Surg 2008; 2(3): 68.
- Biscaglia R, Baccchini P, Bertoni F Giant Cell Tumour of bones of hand and feet. Am J Clin Oncol 2005; 17(2): 134-137.
- Domincus M, Ruggien P, Bertoni F. et al Histologically verified Lung Metastasis in Benign Giant Cell Tummour: 14 cases. Int. Orthop 2006; 30(6):499-504.
- Sim Fu, Dahlin D C, Beakout JM. Multicentric Giant Cell Tumour of bone. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1977; 59(8): 1052-1060
- Zhen W, Yastian h, Songrian I, Ge L, Quington W, Giant Cell Tumour of bone-the long term results of treatment of curettage and bone graft. J Bone Joint Surg 2004, 86(2):212-216.
- 9. Thomar D, Hemshaw R, Skubtz K et al Giant Cell Tumour of distal radius with lung metastasis. J Bone Joint Surg, 2006,72(7): 106-111.
- Yu Xc, Xu M, Sone RK, Fu Zh, Lia XP. Long term outcome of Giant Cell Tumour of bone around the treated by en block resection of tumour and reconstruction with prosthesis. Orthop. Surg, 2010; 2(30: 211-217.